

Aspects of the biology of the East African root rat, Tachyoryctes

splendens (Family: Spalacidae) from Tanzania

by

Jestina Venance Katandukila

Submitted in Fulfillment of Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

(Zoology)

In the Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Sciences

Department of Zoology and Entomology

University of Pretoria

Pretoria

South Africa

April 2014

Aspects of the biology of the East African root rat, Tachyoryctes

splendens (Family: Spalacidae) from Tanzania

by

Jestina Venance Katandukila

SUPERVISORS:

Professor Nigel C. Bennett

Mammal Research Institute, Department of Zoology & Entomology, University of Pretoria, Private Bag X20, Hatfield, 0028 South Africa.

Professor Christian T. Chimimba

Mammal Research Institute, Department of Zoology & Entomology, University of Pretoria,

Private Bag X20, Hatfield, 0028 South Africa.

Dr. Christopher G. Faulkes

School of Biological and Chemical Sciences, Queen Mary University of London, Mile End Road, London E1 4NS, United Kingdom.

Department of Zoology and Entomology

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Zoology)

Declaration

I, **Jestina Venance Katandukila** declare that this thesis which I hereby submit for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Zoology at the University of Pretoria is my own work and has not previously been submitted by me for a degree at this or any other tertiary institution.

Signature:

Date: 8th April 2014

Disclaimer

This thesis consists of a series of chapters that have been prepared as stand-alone manuscripts, some of which have been published and others submitted for publication. It is therefore possible that some unavoidable repetition may occur between chapters.

Thesis Abstract

This thesis investigates a number of aspects of the biology of the East African root rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rüppell, 1835) and provides important information currently depauperate in the literature. These aspects include the general burrow architecture with respect to fractal dimension (i.e. exploration efficiency), locomotory activity patterns in relation to specific light cycles, the pattern of reproduction, age structure and population growth characteristics based on craniometrics and body mass data, and genetic population structure based on molecular data.

Assessment of burrow architecture revealed higher fractal dimension during the wet compared to the dry season as a consequence of increased soil moisture content promoting efficient excavation. Female burrow systems exhibited greater fractal dimensions than males as a result of increased energy costs for provisioning when female has pup(s).

Locomotory activity patterns of the captive East African root rat subjected to different lighting schedules maintained under a constant temperature demonstrated that captive *T*. *splendens* displays a higher percentage of activity during the dark than the light phase of all light-dark and dark-light cycles, suggesting that their activity is entrained by light. Under constant darkness, the species concentrated a higher percentage of its activity during subjective night intimating that *T. splendens* is able to run their activities at the absence of light stimulus (i.e. possesses an endogenous circadian rhythm).

An investigation of reproductive biology of the species as determined from post-mortem examination of the gonads and hormone concentrations of specimens collected on a monthly basis in the field revealed a bimodal pattern of reproduction that mirrored the pattern of rainfall.

The peaks of both male and female indicators of reproductive markers coincided with peaks of rainfall implying that precipitation is the major factor influencing reproductive activities since rainfall water facilitates the flush of vegetation and enhance food production in the form of forbes, grasses and underground storage organs of geophytes.

An assessment of ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism based on craniometric data from five relative age classes revealed overall increase in cranial dimensions with increasing age and that males were larger than females from age class 2, a trend that was also reflected in body mass.

The molecular results revealed the low genetic distances using cytochrome b (cyt-b) across the sampling range, implying that amongst distinct populations only a single species occurs across the sampled range. The greatest sequence differences at the mitochondrial DNA D-loop was observed both within and among geographically neighbouring populations, while the same haplotypes were sometimes shared across the sampling range that indicate a high molecular diversity within the species.

Key words: activity pattern, burrow architecture, fractal dimension, histology, hormone, maxillary molar, molecular genetics, ontogeny, radioimmunoassay, sexual dimorphism, *Tachyoryctes splendens*, Tanzania

Acknowledgements

I am very grateful to the University of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania for kindly offering a study leave and a scholarship through the World Bank CIBI Project Fund to cover the costs of my PhD studies. I also express my gratitude to the University of Pretoria for financial and logistical support.

I sincerely express my gratitude to my supervisors, Prof N.C. Bennett, Prof C.T. Chimimba and Dr C.G. Faulkes for their tireless support and endless advice during the study. Special thanks in particular to Prof Bennett for his honourable and financial support whenever required.

I am also thankful to staff and students of the Department of Zoology & Entomology at the University of Pretoria for their kind assistance and encouragement with special thanks to Prof A.D. Bastos, Dr H. Lutermann, Dr K. Medger, Dr M. Oosthuizen, B. Potgieter and I. Vis.

I am thankful to the Tanzania Wildlife Research Institute (TAWIRI: Ministry of Natural Resources and Tourism, Tanzania) for authorizing the release of export permits. I am also grateful to the Commission of Science and Technology, Trophy department (Ministry of Natural Resources and Tourism) and Zoosanitary Section (Ministry of Fisheries and Livestock) (all in Tanzania) for research and export permits for my study samples.

I am extremely thankful to the families of Prof R.H. Makundi and Dr A. Massawe for their kind support during fieldwork. I also thank the staff of the Pest Management Centre, Sokoine University of Agriculture (SUA: Tanzania) for their support during fieldwork with special thanks to Mr. C. Pangapanga. I would like to thank the staff of the Department of Zoology and Wildlife Conservation, University of Dar es Salaam for their encouragement with special thanks to Prof R.B.M. Senzota, Dr. C.L. Nahonyo, Dr. F. Urassa, Mr. F.D. Chibwana, Mr. A. Sehene, Ms. E. Cleophas and Ms. S. Mwiru. I am also grateful to my friends Nicephor Lesio, Grayson Mshana, Slim Zeni, Afrael Sarakikya, Perpetua Kilasi, Chrissioner Mauki and Mussa Budeba for their encouragement during the study.

Dedication

This work is the fruitful effort of my parents, **Venance Benard Katandukila** and **Fridah Fanuel Machungi** for their love and care. Although they are not with me at this moment, I believe that I am excelling because of their compassionate parenting. I dedicate this work to my lovely husband, **Mohamed Mwinyihaji Jumbe** for accepting loneliness and caring of our children alone while I was busy with my PhD studies; you really "love" me. I also dedicate this work to my lovely sons, **Innocent** and **Isiack** as well as to my angel daughter, **Mariam**.

Ahsante Mwenyezi Mungu kwa kunibariki!!

Table of Contents

Declaration	ii
Disclaimer	iii
Thesis Abstract	iv
Acknowledgements	vi
Dedication	viii
Table of Contents	ix
List of Figures	xii
List of Tables	xv
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
1.1 Study Animal	1
1.1.1 The geographic distribution	2
1.1.2 Taxonomy, systematics and evolution	2
1.1.3 Ecology	5
1.2 Research problem Statement	9
1.3 Objectives	9
1.4 Justification of the study	
1.5 Contribution of the study	
1.6 Study area	14
1.7 Animal sampling and processing	
	ix

1.8 Ethical note	
1.9 Thesis overview	
References	19
Chapter 2: Burrow architecture	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
References	
Chapter 3: Laboratory Activity	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
References	
Chapter 4: Reproductive status	
Abstract	
Introduction	

Materials and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
References	104
Chapter 5: Craniometrics	113
Abstract	114
Introduction	114
Materials and Methods	117
Results	122
Discussion	139
References	
Chapter 6: Population genetics	151
Abstract	151
Introduction	152
Materials and Methods	155
Results	156
Discussion	
References	
Chapter 7: Synthesis	
References	

List of Figures

Chapter 1	
Figure 1: Map of Tanzania showing study areas	16

Chapter 2

Figure 1: The burrow system of <i>T. splendens</i>	40
Figure 2: Box plot of burrow length versus sex of burrow occupant.	41
Figure 3: Box plot of foraging tunnels versus sex of burrow occupant	42
Figure 4: Box plot of foraging tunnel length versus sex of burrow occupant	43
Figure 5: Box plot of fractal dimension versus sex of burrow occupant	44
Figure 6: The relationship between fractal dimension and length of main tunnel	45

Chapter 3

Figure 1: An actogram of an animal displaying predominantly nocturnal activity and a small
amount of diurnal activity during a 12L:12D light cycle
Figure 2: An actogram demonstrating an endogenous circadian rhythm with a period slightly
shorter than 24h during DD cycle
Figure 3: An actogram illustrating the re-entrainment of activity when the light cycle was
inversed from a 12L:12D to a 12D:12L cycle
Figure 4: An actogram exemplifying an animal that shortened its active time (a) to express
activity only during darkness during 16L:8D cycle69
Figure 5: An actogram shows restricted activity hours during 8L:16D cycle70

Chapter 4

Figure 1: Mean monthly rainfall (mm) of Marangu ward , Kilimanjaro region Tanzania from
January to December 2011
Figure 2: Pregnancies observed from post mortem examination in female Tachyoryctes
splendens
Figure 3: Monthly testicular volume, mass and diameter of seminiferous tubules in male
Tachyoryctes splenden 94
Figure 4: Monthly fluctuations of ovarian volume, mass and number of Graafian follicles and
Corpora lutea in female Tachyoryctes splenden
Figure 5: The concentration of testosterone (ng/mL) in male <i>Tachyoryctes splendens</i>
Figure 6: Monthly concentrations of Oestradiol-17 β and progesterone in female <i>Tachyoryctes</i>
splendens

Chapter 5

Figure 1: Map of the study sites
Figure 2: Relative age classes based on maxillary molar eruption and wear in Tachyoryctes
splendens119
Figure 3: Linear cranial measurements used for craniometric analyses
Figure 4: The first two principal components from a principal components analysis (PCA) of
cranial measurements from male and female Tachyoryctes splendens of age classes 1-
5, Tanzania
Figure 5: The first two principal components from a principal components analysis (PCA) of
cranial measurements of sexes separate

Figure 7: Body mass (mean ± SD) of Tachyoryctes splendens of age classes 1-5...... 139

Chapter 6

Figure 1:	Phylogram showing haplotypes from mitochondrial D-Loop region in a populations of
	T. splendens from Tanzania 160
Figure 2:	Phylogram showing various haplotypes from the Mitochondrial D-Loop region across
	geographical distribution range of <i>T. splendens</i> in Tanzania

List of Tables

Chapter 5

Table 1: Standard descriptive statistics of cranial measurements (mm) of Tachyoryctes
splendens
Table 2: Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and percent sum of squares (%SSQ) of
relative age classes (1-5)
Table 3: Student-Newman-Keuls (SNK) post hoc tests for cranial measurements (mm) of age
classes 1-5 of Tachyoryctes splendens
Table 4: Relative loadings of cranial measurements of the first two principal components axes (I
and II) from a principal components analysis (PCA)

Chapter 6

Table 1: Number of haplotypes and individuals bearing such haplotype in various regions of
Tanzania157
Table 2: Genetic distances among 23 haplotypes (uncorrected P-distances) at the mitochondrial
D-Loop region within T. splendens populations from Tanzania

Chapter 1: General Introduction



1.1 Study Animal

The East African root rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rüppell, 1835) is a subterranean rodent of the family Spalacidae within the subfamily Rhizomyinae (Jansa *et al.* 1999; Michaux *et al.* 2001; Jansa & Weksler 2004). The genus comprises Old World fossorial muroid rodents (Kingdon 1974; Corbert 1984). *Tachyoryctes splendens* is a rodent with a stocky body and it resembles both a mole and a rat with a tail approximately twice the length of the hind feet. The body of *T. splendens* is covered by a soft thick pelage that varies in colour from black and pale grey through to chocolate brown and they possess tactile stiff bristles around the face.

The root rat superficially resembles members of the family Bathyergidae and thus they are often mistaken for bathyergid mole-rats. The characteristic feature that distinguishes this genus from bathyergid mole-rats is the distinct yellow-orange colour of their thick extra-buccal incisors. They also possess small claws and short powerful legs. These mammals use visual, tactile, olfactory, taste and auditory cues in their burrow environment and they rap on the roof of

the tunnel with their upper incisors as a form of territorial behaviour (Poor 2005). Although sexual dimorphism has been reported in East African root rats (Poor 2005), the nature and extent of its variation remains unknown. Because of the paucity of information, the current study adopted a multifaceted approach involving classical morphology and morphometrics to evaluate the nature and extent of sexual dimorphism in *T. splendens*.

1.1.1 The geographic distribution

The geographic distribution of spalacids ranges from the Ukraine in Europe through to the Balkans and north-eastern Africa and as far west as Libya (Topachevski 1969; Nowak 1999). In Asia, spalacids occur from western China, south to Sumatra and north to southern Siberia (Corbert 1984). Despite the wide distributional range of spalacids, *T. splendens* is known to be native to eastern and central Africa including Tanzania, Kenya, Rwanda, Burundi, Ethiopia, Somalia and the eastern part of the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) (Jarvis & Sale 1971; Kingdon 1974; Carleton & Musser 1984; Lacey *et al.* 2000; Musser & Carleton 2005; Kokiso & Bekele 2008; Schlitter *et al.* 2008).

1.1.2 Taxonomy, systematics and evolution

The first fossil record of representatives of the genus *Tachyoryctes*, *T. pliocaenicus* dating back to the Mio-Pliocene (5 MYA) and Miocene (5.8 MYA) was discovered in Ethiopia although its relationship with the extant members of the genus remains unknown (Sabatier 1978; Yalden 1985; Haile-Selassie *et al.* 2004). Fossil data suggest that the extant East African members of the genus *Tachyoryctes* have been around since the Lower Pleistocene (2.5 MYA) (Kingdon 1974;

Sabatier 1978; Flynn 1982; Haile-Selassie *et al.* 2004). Taxonomically, the genus was originally placed within the family Rhizomyidae and included other extant genera such as *Rhizomys* and *Cannomys* (Miller & Gidley 1918; Kowalski 1968). *Tachyoryctoides*, an ancestral rhizomyid has been recorded in Eurasian deposits dating back to the Oligocene (37-24 MYA) (Bohlin 1937; Kingdon 1974; Flynn 1982). Phylogenetic analyses based on molecular data revealed that members of the families Rhizomyidae and Spalacidae are monophyletic and suggested the reallocation of the former family into the latter family (Michaux *et al.* 2001; Jansa & Weksler 2004; Norris *et al.* 2004; Steppan *et al.* 2004) as was proposed earlier by Tullberg (1899) based on plesiomorphic characters.

As proposed by Major (1897), differences in dentition, masticatory apparatus, infraorbital canal and the zygomatic plate have all been used taxonomically to re-allocate members of the genus *Tachyoryctes* from the subfamily Rhizomyinae to the subfamily Tachyoryctinae comprising the genera *Tachyoryctes* and *Brachyuromys* (Ellerman 1940, 1941; Simpson 1945; Chaline *et al.* 1977; Lavocat 1978; Flynn 1990). Although members of the genera *Tachyoryctes* and *Brachyuromys* were considered monophyletic, phylogenetic analyses based on molecular data revealed that members of the two genera are paraphyletic and hence the re-allocation of the genus *Brachyuromys* to the subfamily Nesomyinae (Jansa *et al.* 1999; Michaux *et al.* 2001; Jansa & Weksler 2004).

The taxonomy of the genus *Tachyoryctes* is uncertain following placement of the genus to both subfamilies Tachyoryctinae and Rhizomyinae by different systematists (Jansa *et al.* 1999; Norris *et al.* 2004; Potapova & Vorontsov 2004; Steppan *et al.* 2004). However, phylogenetic analyses based on molecular data revealed that members of both subfamilies Tachyoryctinae and Rhizomyinae are sister taxa and suggested the re-allocation of the genus *Tachyoryctes* to the

latter subfamily (Michaux *et al.* 2001; Jansa & Weksler 2004) and this taxonomic treatment is followed in the present study. Conversely, palaeontological data suggests that the subfamilies Tachyoryctinae and Rhizomyinae diverged during the Miocene approximately 17 MYA, although they had functional convergence of subterranean lifestyle (Black 1972; Flynn & Sabatier 1984; Flynn 1990; Mein *et al.* 2000; Patnaik 2001). Furthermore, osteological fragments of the early fossil records of members of the two subfamilies indicate that the early forms were not subterranean (Flynn 1990; Endo *et al.* 2001) and that, specialized subterranean adaptations in members of the Rhizomyinae and Tachyoryctinae appear to have evolved around 8.5 and 7.8 MYA, respectively (Flynn, 1990; Musser & Carleton, 2005).

Based on classical morphology, Allen (1939) and Ellerman (1941) recognized 14 species within the genus *Tachyoryctes*. However, a taxonomic revision of the genus by Misonne (1974) and subsequently Corbert & Hill (1991) based on craniometric data recognized only two species namely, *T. macrocephalus* and *T. splendens*. *Tachyoryctes macrocephalus* was retained due to its relatively large skull while the remaining 13 species were synonymized with *T. splendens*. Bekele (1986) and Baskevich *et al.* (1993) however, argued that the classification of the genus should not only be based on craniometric data but, instead other criteria should also be used. Subsequently, Beolchini & Corti (2004) recognized 2 species based on geometric morphometrics data supporting the taxonomy suggested by Missone (1974) and Corbert & Hill (1991). Recently, Musser & Carleton (2005) recognized 13 species within the genus *Tachyoryctes* with *T. macrocephalus* being retained.

Musser & Carleton (2005) however, indicated that the description of some species such as *T. ankoliae*, *T. naivashae* and *T. ruandae* were based on their type localities with poorly supported taxonomic data. The taxonomic treatment of members of the genus *Tachyoryctes*

based on their type localities should be treated as tentative because the same species may occur allopatrically. However, T. *naivashae*, an IUCN-listed endangered species, *T. ruddi*, *T. daemon and T. ibeanus* have also been reported to occur in Tanzania (Schlitter *et al.* 2004; Musser & Carleton 2005). Therefore, the present multidisciplinary analysis encompassing molecular analyses was used to investigate the occurrence of *Tachyoryctes* species across a distributional range in Tanzania.

1.1.3 Ecology

As with other subterranean rodents, *T. splendens* prefers to excavate in deep and moist soils particularly in areas rich in food such as agricultural fields and small holdings (Jarvis & Sale 1971; Kokiso & Bekele 2008). They mostly prefer open grassland and upland savannah (Lacey *et al.* 2000). Generally, East African root rats are known to construct underground burrow systems (Jarvis & Sale 1971; Kingdon 1974). The burrow architecture has been used to interpret ecological characteristics such as food availability, atmospheric temperature, soil texture and moisture of the habitat (Jarvis & Sale 1971; Davies & Jarvis 1986; Lovegrove & Knight-Eloff 1988; Genelly 1995; Barnett *et al.* 2003). Furthermore, burrow architecture is useful in gaining insights into the behavioural ecology of burrow occupant(s) such as their reproductive potential, home range size, foraging efficiency, social structure and predator-avoidance (Spinks *et al.* 2000; Herbst & Bennett 2006; Sichilima *et al.* 2008; Thomas *et al.* 2009).

Ecological characteristics and behavioural ecology can be influenced by seasonal variation (Martin 2001; Püttker *et al.* 2008; Previtali *et al.* 2009) that triggers the animals to interact differently between and within a species (Davies & Jarvis 1986; Lovegrove 1989; Spinks *et al.* 2000; Šumbera *et al.* 2003; Herbst & Bennett 2006; Sichilima *et al.* 2008). Although

several studies have been conducted on burrow architecture with respect to seasonal variation and sexes effects in architecture in a number of African mole-rats (Jarvis & Sale 1971; Hickman 1977; Davies & Jarvis 1986; Spinks *et al.* 2000; Šumbera *et al.* 2003; Herbst & Bennett 2006; Sichilima *et al.* 2008; Thomas *et al.* 2009), little is known about *T. splendens*.

Burrows and the burrowing behaviour of *T. splendens* have been studied (see Jarvis & Sale 1971; Hickman 1983; Kokiso & Bekele 2008). Root rats dig with their incisors, pushing back soil with their forefeet, kicking it behind them with their hind feet, and using their head to push soil out of their tunnels. The burrow system of *T. splendens* has been reported to consist of foraging tunnels, a bolt hole and multi-functional nest possessing food store chamber, latrine and sleeping area which is lined with grasses. They occupy a burrow singly except when females have pups (Jarvis & Sale 1971) but the burrow architecture with respect to fractal dimension on seasonal variation and sexes remains largely unknown, and consequently, attempts were made in the present study to investigate these aspects of the biology of *T. splendens*.

East African root rats are known to be diurnal (Jarvis 1973a) and are active throughout the year, but less active during the dry season when they are believed to burrow deeper below the surface (Flynn 1990). *Tachyoryctes splendens* however, can survive cold temperatures at high elevations since fermenting faeces and nesting material in their burrows raises the temperature in their underground chambers (Jarvis & Sale 1971; Flynn 1990; Nevo 1999; Nowak 1999). Although a subterranean rodent, the East African root rat also forages above-ground on some occasions without venturing too far from the burrow entrance, especially during the day and early evening in their natural habitat (Jarvis 1973a). This intimated that they may perceive light which could be used as a *zeitgeber* for their locomotory rhythm. However, there was a lack of general information on their activity pattern under controlled laboratory conditions where food

was supplied *ad libitum*. It was also unknown whether theyare able to free run their activities in absence of external stimuli (i.e. light and temperature), the circadian rhythm of activity (i.e. endogenous circadian rhythm). Consequently, the present study also attempted to investigate the locomotory activity pattern of *T. splendens* under controlled laboratory conditions as has been carried out in other subterranean rodents (Hickman 1984; Benedix 1994: Tobler *et al.* 1998; Oosthuizen *et al.* 2003; Tomotani *et al.* 2012).

Members of the genus *Tachyoryctes* are solitary, with adult males and females coming together briefly to mate (Flynn 1990; Nowak 1999). Polygynous mating has been documented for all members of the genus *Tachyoryctes* with males initiating mating by visiting the burrows of females (Flynn 1990). They are reported to have a litter size of 2 annually with a gestation period of 38.5 days (Jarvis 1973b) but it was unknown whether post-partum oestrous occurs, or if they breed parallel to preferable climatic cues. Consequently, the present study investigated the reproductive pattern of *T. splendens* encompassing a wide range of post-mortem characteristics such as the histology of gonads and steroid hormones. Field observations were also incorporated in the present study in order to assess reproductive characteristics that include presence of foetuses from post-mortem dissection of females, visible teats, perforated vagina, and the presence of infants, juveniles as well as sub-adults.

A number of studies have grouped populations of *T. splendens* into juveniles, sub-adults and adults (Jarvis 1973b; Kokiso & Bekele 2008) although the criteria used on categorization were unclear. The present study aged populations of *T. splendens* based on maxillary eruption and wear patterns on the molariform teeth since this method has been used successfully in the age determination for small mammals (Taylor *et al.* 1985; Bennett *et al.* 1990; Van Rensburg *et al.* 2004; Abdel-Rahman 2005; Hart *et al.* 2007; Chimimba *et al.* 2010). The age grouping is

basis towards investigation and assessment of various biology aspects such as reproductive status, ontogenetic variation and population recruitment as has previously been used in other African subterranean rodents (Van Rensburg *et al.* 2004; Hart *et al.* 2007; Chimimba *et al.* 2010).

Tachyoryctes is herbivorous feeding on roots, rhizomes, bulbs, tubers, and grass (Jarvis & Sale 1971; Kokiso & Bekele 2008). Small invertebrates including larvae and adult flies, mites, beetles and other dipterans are known to shelter in the burrows of East African root rats, but it is not known if these animals form part of prey items for the species. However, an on-going analysis of various tissues based on stable isotopes may allow insights into the diet of these root rats. East African root rats are important bio-engineers with their extensive digging activities that influence the distribution of nutrients, the composition of gases and the humidity of the soil which is important for soil turn-over and therefore, impacting greatly on plant diversity (Zhang et al. 2003). Tachyoryctes splendens has been reported to destroy crops by cutting roots, the hollowing-out of tubers and the consumption of bulbs during feeding as well as burrow construction resulting in a decreased yield on agricultural small-holdings (Kokiso & Bekele 2008; ASDP 2009). The conspicuous destruction of vegetation including crops, steppe and pastures by T. splendens occurs when their population is relatively high (more than two burrows per acre: Farmers pers. comm.). Eradication methods are currently not successful due to paucity of information on reproductive patterns with farmers knowing little on when to capture to keep the population of T. splendens under control. Therefore, reproduction and burrow architecture information from the present study may allow insights into the timing for reducing reproduction potential of individuals.

East African root rats are important in ecosystem functioning, consuming a variety of plant species, but they are also the prey of numerous avian and mammalian predators (Flynn 1990). Natural predators of East African root rats include snakes, jackals, hawks and owls but they can avoid predation to some degree by living underground (Flynn 1990; Nowak 1999). East African root rats are also hunted for food by indigenous people (Kingdon 1974; Nowak 1999) or given to domestic carnivores such as cats and dogs.

1.2 Research problem Statement

There is a paucity of information on the systematics and other biological aspects of *T. splendens* (Carleton & Musser 1984, Musser & Carleton 1993, 2005; Jansa *et al.* 1999; Lacey *et al.* 2000; Michaux *et al.* 2001; Huchon *et al.* 2002; Beolchini & Corti 2004). *Tachyoryctes splendens* is known to feed on both the aerial portion and underground storage organs of vegetation and/or geophytes (Jarvis & Sale 1971; Kokiso & Bekele 2008). The East African root rat is reported to be responsible for the loss of tons of crops from agricultural small-holdings and farms annually (Kokiso & Bekele 2008; ASDP 2009), but there is little information on their general ecology and physiology that may have implications on their biological control in order to enhance food security. Of particular relevance with systematics studies of the genus *Tachyoryctes* is that they may allow insights into the taxonomic status of the genus in Tanzania.

1.3 Objectives

General objective

The present study is intended to broaden the knowledge base on the systematics as well as the ecological and physiological aspects of the *T. splendens* from Tanzania.

Specific objectives and Research Questions (RQ)

Ecology

- 1. To assess the burrow architecture of *T. splendens* from Tanzania in relation to season and sex.
 - RQ. Does the burrow architecture of T. splendens differ between seasons and sexes?

Physiology

2. To investigate the locomotory activity patterns of *T. splendens* under laboratory conditions and examine whether they able to free run their activities in absence of light stimuli (i.e. constant darkness) conditions.

RQ. 1: Does the locomotory activity pattern of *T. splendens* change under laboratory conditions and if so, what are the factors that may influence those changes?

RQ.2: Does T. splendens show a locomotory activity under constant conditions?

3. To assess whether *T. splendens* from Tanzania is a seasonal or an aseasonal breeder. RQ. Is *T. splendens* a seasonal or an aseasonal breeder and what are the environmental variables that may influence its reproduction?

Systematics

4. To assess craniometric ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism in *T. splendens* from Tanzania.

RQ. What is the nature and extent of craniometric sexual dimorphism and ontogenetic variation in *T. splendens* from Tanzania?

- 5. To investigate phylogenetic relationships of *T. splendens* from Tanzania.
 - RQ. What are the phylogenetic relationships of *T. splendens* from Tanzania based on molecular data?

1.4 Justification of the study

The rationale for undertaking the present study was to increase knowledge on the general paucity of information on various aspects of the biology of *T. splendens*. A very quick glance of all major textbooks covering African mammals or mammals of the world reveals that the literature pertaining to information on the African Rhizomyinae is data deficient (Lacey *et al.* 2000). In this thesis, I attempted to address this deficiency of information by exploring a number of aspects on the biology of the subterranean East African root rat.

East African root rats are subterranean and as a consequence occur in a burrow which has moulded the behaviour and biology of this rodent mole. In this thesis, I explore the overall architecture of the burrow system with more emphasis on the extent of habitat exploration and examine if the foraging effectiveness changes with the sex of an occupant and season over an entire calendar year.

Currently, there is no formal study which investigated the role of light on the locomotor activity of *T. spendens* under controlled laboratory conditions. Moreover, the present study allowed the assessment of whether the East African root rat exhibits an endogenous circadian rhythm of locomotor activity which is independent of light stimulation.

The reproductive biology of *T. splendens* has been reported from a population from Kenya but was predominantly involved in assessing the various reproductive parameters of

females (Jarvis 1973b). Furthermore, the involvement of external environmental factors that may potentially trigger reproduction in the East African root rat was unknown until the inception of this study. The current study investigated the reproductive status of *T. splendens* in both sexes from a single population in order to gain insights into the underlying patterns of reproduction and to assess the environmental factors that may be associated with onset of reproductive activities. This study is probably the most thorough post-mortem examination of reproduction in a population from the family Spalacidae that has ever been attempted.

There is currently no information on the ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism in populations of East African root rats. The current study assessed the nature and extent of ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism in three populations (i.e., Marangu, Keni-Aleni and Uru-Shimbwe) of the species. In this assessment I established relative age classes occurring within these three populations of *T. splendens* to determine the age structure and investigate age specific sexual dimorphism.

Finally, the taxonomic confusion of how many species occurs within the genus *Tachyoryctes* is in critical need of investigation. Taxonomy based on classical morphology and both traditional and geometric morphometrics (Allen 1939; Ellerman 1941; Misonne 1974; Corbert & Hill 1991; Beolchini & Corti 2004) and type locality data (Musser & Carleton 1993, 2005) have been inconclusive in the taxonomic treatment of species within the genus *Tachyoryctes*. There was therefore a critical need for molecular studies to gain additional insights into the taxonomy and the phylogeography of the East African root rat across its distributional range in Tanzania.

1.5 Contribution of the study

The aspects of biology detailed in this thesis provides more information on natural history and population biology of less studied rodents mole that were recently missing on literature, and consequently affluent biodiversity of the subregion. The information generated from investigations, examinations and assessments of various biological characteristics of *T. splendens* revealed convergence and divergence pattern of biology to ecologically similar and taxonomically different species which accentuate its conservation. These biology aspects are as follows;

An assessment of the burrow architecture of the East African root rats over an entire calendar year revealed how the species changes its behaviour with the annual rainfall pattern. This allowed an investigation of how the burrow structure of *T. splendens* changes both with season and the sex of the occupant. The locomotory activity studies under laboratory condition revealed that *T. splendens* is able to perceive light and change its locomotor pattern of activity using this environmental cue. Consequently, root rats may prove to be a useful animal model for future research into light studies in microphthalmic organisms. The finding that reproduction is enhanced during the rainfall period has important implications for agriculture because the litter size of 2.2 animals per adult female per year suggests that *T. splendens* may not necessarily be an agricultural pest on small holding farms. The relative age classes of the population may provide insights into growth characteristics through life expectancy of these animals. In addition, the ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism exhibited by *T. splendens* may provide data that may be useful for ecological models for assessment of the population dynamics for the conservation of the species.

The molecular data revealed that the phylogeographic structure of *Tachyoryctes splendens* populations in Tanzania is relatively recent. Given that the greatest genetic differences occurred within rather than between neighbouring regions, conservation of the species across its entire distributional range in Tanzania is recommended. Although Tanzania has diverse agricultural pests, there was no niche overlaps between *T. splendens* and that of members of the family Bathyergidae. This absence of niche overlap suggests that *T. splendens* may competitively exclude other subterranean rodents from the niche and that the species may venture into habitats where bathyergids cannot because of its more catholic diet.

1.6 Study area

The study was conducted at various localities within Tanzania, East Africa (Figure 1) along the shores of the Indian Ocean, between latitude 1° and 12° South and longitude 29° and 40° East (Agrawala *et al.* 2003). Tanzania borders Kenya and Uganda to the north, Rwanda, Burundi and the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) to the west, Zambia, Malawi and Mozambique to the south, while the island of Zanzibar lies to the east (Kashaigili *et al.* 2003). The country has a land area of approximately 945,087 km² of which 3% represents arable land, 1% permanent crops, 40% permanent pastures and 38% forests together with other woodlands (Agrawala *et al.* 2003).

Tanzania lies to southern part of equator, it has mean annual temperature of 23° C (range = 17-27 ° C) however in the highlands such as areas near Mt. Kilimanjaro and Rungwe temperature may drop to 4° C (Agrawala *et al.* 2003). The country has two rainfall patterns, unimodal and bimodal (Mwandosya *et al.* 1998; Agrawala *et al.* 2003). The unimodal rainfall pattern occurs between late November to early April, and it prevails to the southern, southwestern, central, and western areas of the country and the highest humidity in these areas is

between December and March (Agrawala *et al.* 2003). The bimodal pattern has two rainfall seasons; heavy rainfall "*masika*" occurs between late February and May with the highest humidity between March and April (58%), while short rainfall "*vuli*" occurs between September and early November with the highest humidity from September to October (30%) (Mwandosya *et al.* 1998; Kashaigili *et al.* 2003). Tanzania has a diverse number of biomes that support a high diversity of flora and fauna with high species endemism (NRI 2001). These biomes include the Eastern Arc Montane Forests, East African Coastal Forests, Albertine Rift Highland Forests, East African Highland Forests, Zambezian Woodlands & Savannas, East African Acacia Savannas, East African Moorlands, Zambezian Montane Savannas & Woodlands, Rift Valley Lakes, East African Mangroves, and East African Marine Ecosystems (Oslon & Dinerstein 1998).

The drainage system of Tanzania is complex due to general declination from the western highlands towards the Indian Ocean (Bwathondi & Mwamsojo 1993). Most of the country's rivers and streams drain into the Indian Ocean while few drain into lakes (Bwathondi & Mwamsojo 1993). Major water courses are from north to south and include the Umba, Lukuledi, Pangani, Msangasi, Mligasi, Mandera, Ruvu, Matandu, Mavuji and Mambi rivers (Mbwana 1986). These rivers drain into the eastern margin and slopes of the interior plateaus to the Indian Ocean. Rufiji River has sources in the Kipengere Mountains at the northern tip of Lake Malawi and drains into a huge basin in central southern Tanzania while Ruvuma River drains into Lake Malawi, Rukwa basin and the Indian Ocean (Temple & Sundbrog 1972).



Figure 1: Map of Tanzania showing study areas (1-3 = Kilimanjaro region; 4 = Arusha region; 5 = Manyara region; 6 = Kagera region; 7 Kigoma region) and study sites for various biological aspects: 1 = Uru-Shimbwe; 2 = Keni-Aleni; 3 = Marangu; 4 = Tengeru; 5 = Endugulda; 6 = Katanga; 7 = Nyaruboza.

1.7 Animal sampling and processing

East Africa root rats were sampled from an agro-ecological zone. Animals were sampled using both Hickman live traps (Hickman 1979) and hand-capturing during burrow excavations. After sampling and during transportation to the laboratory, animals were kept in 20 litre plastic buckets. In the laboratory, animals were subsequently euthanased using chloroform (Merck, Johannesburg, South Africa) inhalation except live animals maintained in the laboratory for behavioural studies. Prior to anaesthesia, the animals were sexed and standard external measurements were recorded including body mass, head and body length, tail length, and length of the hind foot. Euthanased animals were dissected and blood drawn from the heart by heparinized syringe. The heart, liver, kidney, leg muscles, gastrointestinal tract, skull and reproductive organs were removed, fixed and stored for subsequent analyses. Storage and preservation of specimens followed the reagents manufacturers' protocols. Live animals were maintained under laboratory conditions in the University of Dar es Salaam (UDSM: Department of Zoology & Wildlife Conservation), Tanzania for two weeks before they were exported to the University of Pretoria, South Africa. Voucher specimens were prepared using standard procedures for the preparation of natural history specimens and are deposited in the mammal reference collection of the University of Dar Es salaam in the Department of Zoology and Wildlife Conservation, Tanzania and all nucleic acid sequences were placed in Genbank.

1.8 Ethical note

Animals were maintained under the guidelines of the American Society of Mammalogists (Animal Care and Use Committee 1998; http://www. mammalogy.org/committees/index/asp) and as approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of Pretoria (ethics clearance

number ECO47-10), Pretoria, South Africa. Research permit (2011-44-NA-2010-204) and export permits (permit No. 65054 and 63816) were granted by the Commission of Science and Technology (COSTECH), Ministry of Natural Resources & Tourism and Ministry of Livestock & Fisheries, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. The import permits (13/1/1/30/2/9/6-265 & CPC5 No. 01600 and 13/1/1/30/2/9/6-241 & CPB6 No. 003784) were granted by the Gauteng Department of Nature Conservation and the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Johannesburg, South Africa.

1.9 Thesis overview

Apart from the general introduction (Chapter 1) and the general discussion (Chapter 7), this thesis consists of five stand alone research chapters, some of which have been submitted as manuscripts. Chapter 2 assessed the burrow architecture of *T. splendens* between sexes and seasons with an emphasis on fractal dimensions as a measure of habitat exploration efficiency. Chapter 3 investigated circadian rhythm of locomotory activity in *T. splendens* under various light regimes. Chapter 4 assessed the reproductive status of specimens collected over a calendar year in order to determine whether *T. splendens* is a seasonal or an aseasonal breeder and what environmental variables may influence its reproduction. This included an analysis of the histology of gonads, steroids profiles and field assessment from post-mortem dissections of the reproductive tracks of females, infants, juveniles as well as sub-adults. Chapter 5 investigated the nature and extent of craniometric sexual dimorphism and ontogenetic variation in *T. splendens* from Tanzania

based on molecular data that included an assessment of the D-Loop (control region) and cyt-*b* (cytochrome b) of the mitochondrial genome.

References

- ABDEL-RAHMAN, E.H. 2005. Taxonomic status of *Arvicanthis* (Lesson, 1842) from Sudan. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Kwa-Zulu Natal, Durban, South Africa.
- AGRAWALA, S., MOEHNER, A., HEMP, A., VAN AALST, M., SAM, H., SMITH, J., MEENA, H., MWAKIFWAMBA, S.M., HYERA, T. & MWAIPOPO, O.U. 2003.
 Development and climate change in Tanzania: focus on Mount Kilimanjaro. *Environment Directorate and Development Cooperation Directorate, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, Paris.*
- Agricultural Sector Development Programme (ASDP). 2009. Integrated Pest Management Plan (IPMP). <u>http://www.agriculture.go.tz/publications/english%20docs/IPM</u>. Revised on 13rd June 2010.
- ALLEN, G. 1939. A checklist of African mammals. *Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology* **83:** 1–763.
- BARNETT, M., BENNETT, N.C., TELFORD, S.R. & JARVIS, J.U.M. 2003. Foraging in the subterranean social Damaraland mole-rat, *Cryptomys damarensis*: an investigation into sizedependent geophyte utilization and foraging patterns. *Canada Journal of Zoology* 81: 743–752.
- BASKEVICH, M.I., ORLOV, V.N., BEKELE, A. & MEBRATE, A. 1993. Notes on the karyotype of *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rüppell 1835) (Rodentia Rhizomyidae) from Ethiopia. *Tropical Zoology* 6: 81–88.

- BEKELE, A. 1986. The status of some mole-rats of the genus *Tachyoryctes* (Rodentia: Rhizomyidae) based upon craniometric studies. *Revue de Zoologie Africaine* **99:** 411–417.
- BENNETT, N.C., JARVIS, J.U.M. & WALLACE, D.B. 1990. The relative age structure and body masses of complete wild-captured colonies of two social mole-rats, the common mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus hottentotus* and the Damaraland mole-rat, *Cryptomys damarensis*. Journal of Zoology 220: 469–485.
- BEOLCHINI, F. & CORTI, M. 2004. The taxonomy of the genus *Tachyoryctes:* A geometric morphometric approach. *Italy Journal of Zoology* **71:** 35–43.
- BENEDIX, J. 1994. A predictable pattern of daily activity by the pocket gopher, *Geomys* bursarius. Animal Behaviour **48**: 501–509.
- BLACK, C.C. 1972. Review of fossil rodents from the Neogene Siwalik beds of India and Pakistan. *Palaeontology* 15: 238–266.
- BOHLIN, B. 1937. Oberoligozane Saugetiere au s dem Shargaltein-Tal (Western Kansu). *Palaeontologica Sinica* **3:** 1–66.
- BWATHONDI, P. & MWAMSOJO, G. 1993. The status of the fishery resources in the wetlands of Tanzania. In: *Wetlands of Tanzania*, (eds) G.L. Kamukala & S.A. Crafter, pp 49–60. *Proceedings of a Seminar on Wetlands of Tanzania*. Gland, Switzerland.
- CARLETON, M. & MUSSER, G. 1984. Muroid rodents. In: Orders and Families of Recent Mammals of the World, (eds) S. Anderson & J. K. Jones, pp. 289-379. John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- CHALINE, J., MEIN, P. & PETTER, F. 1977. Les grandes lignes d'une classification évolutive des Muroidea. *Mammalia* **41:** 245–252.
- CHIMIMBA, C.T., SICHILIMA, A.M., FAULKES, C.G. & BENNETT, N.C. 2010. Ontogenetic variation and craniometric sexual dimorphism in the social giant mole-rat, *Fukomys mechowii* (Rodentia: Bathyergidae), from Zambia. *African Zoology* **45**: 160–176.
- CORBERT, G. 1984. Other old world rats and mice. In: *Encyclopedia of Mammals*, (ed) D. Macdonald, pp. 666–671. Facts on File Publications, New York.
- CORBERT, G. & HILL, J. 1991. A world list of mammalian species. British Museum (Natural History), London.
- DAVIES, K.C. & JARVIS, J.U.M. 1986. The burrow systems and burrowing dynamics of the mole-rats *Bathyergus suillus* and *Cryptomys hottentotus* in the Fynbos of the Southwestern Cape, South-Africa. *Journal of Zoology* **209**: 125–147.
- ELLERMAN, J. 1940. The Families and Genera of Living Rodents, vol. I. British Museum (Natural History), London.
- ELLERMAN, J. 1941. The Families and Genera of Living Rodents, vol. II. British Museum (Natural History), London.
- ENDO, H., SATOH, K., CUISIN, J., STAFFORD, B. & KIMURA, J. 2001. Morphological adaptation of the masticatory muscles and related apparatus in Asian and African Rhizomyinae species. *Mammal study* **26**: 101–108.
- FLYNN, L.J. 1982. Systematic revision of Siwalik Rhizomyidae (Rodentia). *Géobios* 15: 327--389.
- FLYNN, L. 1990. The natural history of rhizomyid rodents. In: Evolution of Subterranean Mammals at the Organismal and Molecular Levels, (eds) E. Nevo & O. A. Reig, pp. 155–183. Wiley-Liss, New York.

- FLYNN, L.J. & SABATIER, M. 1984. A muroid rodent of Asian affinity from the Miocene of Kenya. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* 3:160–165.
- GENELLY, R.E. 1995. Ecology of the common mole-rat (*Cryptomys hotentotus*) in Rhodesia. *Journal of Mammalogy* **46:** 646–665.
- HAILE-SELASSIE, Y., WOLDEGABRIEL, G., WHITE, T.D., BERNOR, R.L., DEGUSTA,
 D., RENNE, P.R., HART, W.K., VRBA, E., STANLEY, A. & HOWELL, F.C. 2004. MioPliocene mammals from the Middle Awash, Ethiopia. *Geobios* 37: 536–552.
- HART, L., CHIMIMBA, C.T., JARVIS, J.U., O'RIAIN, J. & BENNETT, N.C. 2007.
 Craniometric sexual dimorphism and age variation in the South African Cape dune mole-rat (*Bathyergus suillus*). *Journal of Mammalogy* 88: 657–666.
- HERBST, M. & BENNETT, N.C. 2006. Burrow architecture and burrowing dynamics of the endangered Namaqua dune mole rat (*Bathyergus janetta*) (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). *Journal of Zoology* 270: 420–428.
- HICKMAN, G.C. 1977. Burrow system structure of *Pappogeomys castanops* (geomyidae) in Lubbock country. *Nature* 97: 50–58.
- HICKMAN, G.C. 1979. A live trap and trapping technique for fossorial mammals. *South African Journal of Zoology* **14:** 9–12.
- HICKMAN, G. C. 1983. Burrows, surface movement, and swimming of *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rodentia: Rhizomyidae) during flood conditions in Kenya. *Journal of Zoology London* 200: 71–82.
- HICKMAN, G. 1984. Effects of temperature and light on the locomotory activity of captive pocket gophers. *Acta Theriologica* **29:** 259–271.

- HUCHON, D., MADSEN, O., SIBBALD, M.J., AMENT, K., STANHOPE, M.J., CATZEFLIS,
 F., DE JONG, W.W. & DOUZERY, E. J. P. 2002. Rodent phylogeny and a timescale for the evolution of Glires: Evidence from an extensive taxon sampling using three nuclear genes. *Society for Molecular Biology and Evolution* 19: 1053–1065.
- JANSA, S.A., GOODMAN, S.M. & TUCKER, P.K. 1999. Molecular Phylogeny and Biogeography of the native rodents of Madagascar (Muridae: Nesomyinae): A test of the Single-Origin hypothesis. *Cladistics* 15: 253–270.
- JANSA, S. & WEKSLER, M. 2004. Phylogeny of muroid rodents: relationships within and among major lineages as determined by IRBP gene sequences. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 31: 256–276.
- JARVIS, J.U.M. & SALE, J.B. 1971. Burrowing and burrow structure of East African mole-rats *Tachyoryctes*, *Heliophobius* and *Heterocephalus*. *Journal of Zoology* **163**: 451–479.
- JARVIS, J.U. 1973a. Activity patterns in the mole-rats *Tachyoryctes splendens* and *Heliophobius argenteocinereus*. *Zoologica africana* **8:** 101–119.
- JARVIS, J.U.M. 1973b. The structure of a population of mole-rats, *Tachyoryctes splendens*, (Rodentia:Rhizomyidae). *Journal of Zoology London*. **171**: 1–14.
- KASHAIGILI, J. J., KADIGI, R. M., SOKILE, C. S. & MAHOO, H. F. 2003. Constraints and potential for efficient inter-sectoral water allocations in Tanzania. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C* **28**: 839–851
- KINGDON, J. 1974. East African Mammals. An Atlas of Evolution in Africa. IIB: Hares and Rodents. Academic Press, London.
- KOKISO, A. & BEKELE, A. 2008. Ecology of Common Mole-Rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* and its impacts on farmlands at Angecha, Central Ethiopia. *Acta Zoologica Sinica* **54(1):** 30–35.

- KOWALSKI, K. 1968. *Pararhizomys hipparionum* Teilhard & Young, 1931 (Rodentia) from the Pliocene of Altan tell, Western Mongolia. *Palaeontologia Polonica* **19:** 163–168.
- LACEY, E.A., PATTON, J.L. & CAMERON, G.N. 2000. *Life underground: Biology of subterranean rodents*. University of Chicago Press, USA.
- MEIN, P., PICKFORD, M. & SENUT, B. 2000. Late Miocene micromammals from the Harasib karst deposits, Namibia. Large muroids and non-muroid rodents. *Communications of the Geological Survey of Namibia* **12:** 375–390.
- LAVOCAT, R. 1978. Rodentia and Lagomorpha. In: *Evolution of African mammals*, (eds) V. J. Maglio & H. B. S. Cooke, pp. 69–89. Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- LOVEGROVE, B.G. 1989. The cost of burrowing by the social mole rats (Bathyergidae) Cryptomys damarensis and Heterocephalus glaber: the role of soil moisture. Physiological Zoology 62: 449–469.
- LOVEGROVE, B.G. & KNIGHT-ELLOF, A. 1988. Soil and burrow temperatures, and the resource characteristics of the social mole-rat *Cryptomys damarensis* (Bathyergidae) in Kalahari Desert. *Journal of Zoological Society of London* **216**: 403–416.
- MAJOR, C.I.F. 1897. On the Malagasy rodent genus *Brachyuromys*; and on the mutual relations of some groups of the Muridae (Hesperomyinae, Microtinae, Murinae, and "Spalacidae") with each other and with the Malagasy Nesomyinae. *Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London* **1897**: 695–720.
- MARTIN, T.E. 2001. Abiotic vs. Biotic influences on habitat selection of coexisting species: climate change impacts? *Ecology* **82:** 175–188.

- MBWANA, S.B. 1986. Mangrove conservation and Utilization in Tanzania. In: *status of utilization of mangroves*, (eds) J.E. Mainoya & P.R. Siegel, pp 46–69. *Proceeding of a workshop on 'Save the mangrove Ecosystems*. Dar es salaam, Tanzania.
- MEIN, P., PICKFORD, M. & SENUT, B. 2000. Late Miocene micromammals from the Harasib karst deposits, Namibia. Large muroids and non-muroid rodents. *Communications of the Geological Survey of Namibia* **12:** 375–390.
- MICHAUX, J., REYES, A. & CATZEFLIS, F. 2001. Evolutionary history of the most speciose mammals: Molecular phylogeny of muroid rodents. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 18: 2017–2031.
- MILLER, G. & GIDLEY, J. 1918. Synopsis of supergeneric groups of rodents. *Journal of the Washington Academy of Science* **8:** 431–448.
- MISONNE, X. 1974. Order Rodentia. In: *The mammals of Africa; An identification manual*, (eds) J. Meester & H. W. H. W. Setzer, pp. 1–39. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.
- MUSSER, G. & CARLETON, M. 1993. Family Muridae. In. Mammal Species of the World, (eds) D. E. Wilson & D. M. Reeder, pp. 501–753. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.
- MUSSER, G. & CARLETON, M. 2005. Superfamily Muroidea. Mammal Species of the World; a taxonomic and geographic reference, (eds) D. E. Wilson & D. M. Reeder, pp 894–1531 Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.
- MWANDOSYA, M.J., NYENZI, B.S. & LUBANGA, M.L. 1998. The Assessment of Vulnerability and Adaptation to Climate Change Impacts in Tanzania. Centre for Energy, Environment, Science and Technology. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

- National Report on the Implementation (NRI) of the Convention on Biological Diversity. 2001. United Republic of Tanzania.
- NEVO, E. 1999. Mosaic Evolution of Subterranean Mammals. Oxford University Press, UK.
- NORRIS, R., ZHOU, K., ZHOU, C., YANG, G., KILPATRICK, C. & HONEYCUTT, R. 2004. The phylogenetic position of the zokors (Myospalacinae) and comments on the families of muroids (Rodentia). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **31**: 972–978.
- NOWAK, R. 1999. *Walker's Mammals of the World, vol. 2.* The Hopkins University Press, Baltimore and London.
- OLSON, D.M. & DINERSTEIN, E. 1998. The Global 200: A representation approach to conserving the Earth's most biologically valuable ecoregions. *Conservation Biology* **12**: 502–515.
- OOSTHUIZEN, M.K., COOPER, H.M. & BENNETT, N.C. 2003. Circadian rhythms of locomotor activity in solitary and social species of African mole-rats (family: Bathyergidae). *Journal of biological rhythms* **18:** 481–490.
- PATNAIK, R. 2001. Late Pliocene micromammals from Tatrot Formation (Upper Siwaliks) exposed near village Saketi, Himachal Pradesh, India. *Palaeontographica, Abteilung A, Palaozoologie-Stratigraphie* **261:**55–81.
- POOR, A. 2005. "Spalacidae" (On-line), Animal Diversity Web. Accessed August 29, 2006 at http://animaldiversity.ummz.umich.edu/site/accounts/information/Spalacidae.html.
- POTAPOVA, E. & VORONTSOV, N. 2004. Taxonomic position of the genus *Tachyoryctes* and mutual relations between Rhizomyidae and Spalacidae families (Rodentia). *Zoologicheskii Zhurnal* 83: 1044–1058.

- PREVITALI, M.A., LIMA, M., MESERVE, P.L., KELT, D.A. & GUTIE RREZ, J.R. 2009. Population dynamics of two sympatric rodents in a variable environment: rainfall, resource availability, and predation. *Ecology* **90**: 1996–2006.
- PÜTTKER, T., PARDINI, R., MEYER-LUCHT, Y. & SOMMER, S. 2008. Responses of five small mammal species to micro-scale variations in vegetation structure in secondary Atlantic Forest remnants, Brazil. *BioMed Central Ecology* 8: 1–10.
- SABATIER, M. 1978. Un nouveau *Tachyoryctes* (Mammalia, Rodentia) du bassin Pliocène de Hadar (Ethiopie). *Géobios* 11: 95–99.
- SCHLITTER, D., AGWANDA, B. & CORTI, M. 2008. Tachyoryctes splendens. In: IUCN 2012. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2012.2. <u>www.iucnredlist.org</u> Accessed 26 February 2013.
- SCHLITTER, D., CORTI, M. & AGWANDA, B. 2004. Tachyoryctes daemon. http://biodiversity.mongabay.com/animals/t/Tachyoryctes_daemon.html. Accessed 13 July 2012.
- SICHILIMA, A. M., BENNETT, N. C. FAULKES, C. G. & LE COMBER, S.C. 2008. Evolution of African mole-rat sociality: burrow architecture, rainfall and foraging in colonies of the cooperatively breeding *Fukomys mechowii*. *Journal of Zoology* **275**: 276–282.
- SIMPSON, G. 1945. The principles of classification and a classification of mammals. *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History* **85:** 1–350.
- SPINKS, A.C., BENNETT, N.C. & JARVIS, J.U.M. 2000. A comparison of the ecology of two populations of the common mole rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus hottentotus*: the effect of aridity on food, foraging and body mass. *Oecologia* **125**: 341–349.

- STEPPAN, S., ADKINS, R. & ANDERSON, J. 2004. Phylogeny and Divergence-date estimates of rapid radiations in Muroid rodents based on Multiple nuclear genes. *Systematic Biology* 53: 533–553.
- ŠUMBERA, R., BURDA, H., CHITAUKALI, W.N. & KUBOVA, J. 2003. Silvery mole-rats (*Heliophobius argenteocinereus*, Bathyergidae) change their burrow architecture seasonally. *Naturwissenschaften* **90:** 370–373.
- TAYLOR, P.J., JARVIS, J.U.M., ROWE, T.M & DAVIES, K.C. 1985. Age determination in the Cape mole-rat *Georychus capensis*. *South African Journal of Zoology* **20**: 261–267.
- TEMPLE, P.H. & SUNDBORG, Å. 1972. The Rufiji River, Tanzania hydrology and sediment transport. *Geografiska Annaler. Series A. Physical Geography* **54:** 345–368.
- THOMAS, H.G., BATEMAN, P.W., LE COMBER, S.C., BENNETT, N.C., ELWOOD, R.W. & SCANTLEBURY, M. 2009. Burrow architecture and digging activity in the Cape dune mole rat. *Journal of Zoology* **279:** 277–284.
- TOBLER, I., HERRMANN, M., COOPER, H.M, NEGRONI, J., NEVO, E. & ACHERMANN,
 P. 1998. Rest-activity rhythm of the blind mole rat, *Spalax ehrenbergi* under different lighting conditions. *Behavioural Brain Research* 96: 173–183.
- TOMOTANI, B.M., FLORES, D.E., TACHINARDI, P., PALIZA, J.D., ODA, G.A. & VALENTINUZZI, V.S. 2012. Field and laboratory studies provide insights into the meaning of day-time activity in a subterranean rodent (*Ctenomys aff. Knighti*), the tuco-tuco. *PloS one* 7: e37918.
- TOPACHEVSKI, V.O. 1969. Fauna of the USSR: Mammals, molerats, Spalacidae. *Akademia Nauk USSR* **99:** 1–247.

- TULLBERG, T. 1899. Uber das system der nagethiere: eine phylogenetische studie. *Nova Acta Regiae Societatis Scientiarum Upsaliensis* **3:** 1–514.
- VAN RENSBURG, L. J., CHIMIMBA, C. T., VAN DER MERWE, M., SCHOEMAN, A.S. & BENNETT, N.C. 2004. Relative age and reproductive status in *Cryptomys hottentotus pretoriae* (Rodentia: Bathyergidae) from South Africa. Journal of Mammalogy 85: 1225–1232.
- YALDEN, D.W. 1985. Tachyoryctes macrocephalus. Mammalian Species 237: 1–3.
- ZHANG, Y., ZHANG, Z. & LIU, J. 2003. Burrowing rodents as ecosystem engineers: the ecology and management of plateau zokors *Myospalax fontanierii* in alpine meadow ecosystems on the Tibetan Plateau. *Mammal Review* **33**: 284–294.

Chapter 2: Burrow architecture



Submitted to: Journal of Zoology (London) (status: under review)

Title: Sweeping the house clean: burrow architecture and seasonal digging activity in the East African root rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* from Tanzania

Authors: Jestina V. Katandukila^{1,4}, Christian T. Chimimba¹, Nigel C. Bennett^{1, 5}, Rhodes H.

Makundi², Steve C. Le Comber³ & Chris G. Faulkes^{3*}

1 Mammal Research Institute, Department of Zoology and Entomology, University of Pretoria, Private Bag X20, Hatfield, 0028 South Africa

2 Pest Management Centre, Sokoine University of Agriculture, P.O. Box 3110, Morogoro, Tanzania

3 School of Biological & Chemical Sciences, Queen Mary, University of London, Mile End Road, London E1 4NS, UK

4 University of Dar es Salaam, College of Natural and Applied Sciences, Department of Zoology and Wildlife Conservation, P.O. Box 35064, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

5 South African Research Chair of Mammal Behavioural Ecology and Physiology, Department of Zoology and Entomology, University of Pretoria, Private Bag X20, 0028 South Africa

*Corresponding author

Citations and references list format followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

Abstract

We investigated changes in burrow architecture and fractal dimension across seasons and between the sexes in the solitary East African root rats, *Tachyoryctes splendens* over an entire calendar year. The basic burrow system comprised a main tunnel reticulating into foraging tunnels, a nest consisting of food store chamber, latrine and sleeping area, and a bolt hole. Main tunnel length was strongly affected by sex, and contrary to expectations was higher for females and for males (during both the dry and wet seasons). The number and length of foraging tunnels was affected by both sex and seasons, with females' burrows having more foraging tunnels than males in both the dry and wet seasons. Females also had burrows with higher fractal dimension than males, while fractal dimension increased with burrow length for both sexes. We suggest that unlike the solitary bathyergid mole-rats, males *T. splendens* do not construct larger burrows than females in the search for mates, but rather females have larger burrows with more foraging tunnels resulting from the increased need for provisioning to overcome energy costs for burrow maintenance and caring of pup(s).

Keywords: *Tachyoryctes splendens*, burrow architecture, subterranean rodent, mole-rat, fractal dimension, root rat

Introduction

The East Africa root rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Family: Spalacidae) is a solitary dwelling fossorial rodent, widely distributes across East Africa. The Spalacidae are classified within the suborder Myomorph of rodentia and are divergent from better-known African mole-rats of

Family Bathyergidae, suborder Hystricomorpha. While overlapping geographical ranges with several bathyergid mole-rat species, Tachyoryctes has convergently adopted subterranean life style and investigation of comparative distributions and habitat use are of broad interest. As with other rodent moles, T. splendens feeds on underground plant storage organs and roots (which influence burrow structure and dynamics), but is also known to occasionally forage aboveground (Jarvis & Sale, 1971). Where they are associated with farmland, T. splendens is a major pest species (kokiso & Bekele, 2008). Previous excavation of small numbers of adult burrows in Kenya have show that the typical architecture comprises of a main tunnel with a number of superficial foraging tunnels branching from this, a deeper bolt hole and a centrally-positioned multi-purpose nest chamber which comprises food store, latrine and sleeping area (Jarvis & Sale, 1971). Following a study of two adult and two juvenile burrows during flooding, Hickman (1983) also suggest the bolt hole may also act as a drainage sump during heavy rains. Although a common subterranean species in areas where present, no comprehensive study of T. splendens has been carried out to investigate the detailed structure and geometry of burrows with respect to the sex of the occupant, and seasonally-induced changes (e.g. over wet and dry seasons).

Most burrowing activity in subterranean species occurs following rainfall where there is increased soil moisture that makes the soil more friable and workable, and it is also easier to extrude the soil workings onto the surface as mounds (Miller, 1957). Other factors that may also be related to rainfall and which can seasonally influence burrowing patterns are mate acquisition and foraging (Miller & Bond, 1960; Hickman & Brown, 1973). Thus, in species occurring in regions of marked wet and dry seasons, as is the case in many African mole-rats (Family: Bathyergidae), some aspects of the architecture of the burrow system change seasonally and are

influenced by both biotic and abiotic factors. Burrows may be extended for: a) the primary purpose of food acquisition, especially in the case where food resources are geophytic and occur below ground; or b) tunneling may be triggered for the purpose of mate searching, or during dispersal, for example, when a juvenile leaves the maternal burrow system as is the case in solitary species or emigration occurs from a parent colony for social species (Bennett & Faulkes, 2000).

Among solitary bathyergid mole-rats, males seek out mates and as a consequence they construct longer tunnel systems, communicating with and attracting females in the subterranean niche via seismic signals (Bennett & Jarvis, 1988; Herbst & Bennett, 2006; Le Comber *et al.*, 2006; Thomas *et al.*, 2012). We therefore predicted that the burrow systems of male and female *Tachyoryctes* would show sex differences reflecting sex-specific mate seeking behaviour. We further predicted that the burrow systems of both sexes of *T. splendens* would be longer and more reticulated during the wet season as they actively search for food items.

The complexity of a burrow system and the exploration efficiency of the surrounding environment, or reticulation of the system, can be examined through fractal dimensions (Kenkel & Walker, 1996). Fractal dimension provides a measure of burrow shape since it provides a measure of the extent to which a one-dimensional structure fills a plane, with a low fractal dimension (i.e. close to 1.0) describing a burrow that explores relatively little of the surrounding area whereas a high fractal dimension (i.e. close to 2.0) designates a burrow which permeates the surrounding area more thoroughly (Romañach & Le Comber, 2004). Fractal dimension is thus a valuable measure of burrow shape when the burrow is used for foraging (Le Comber *et al.*, 2006). While there are no differences in the general burrow architecture between seasons in the

solitary, silvery mole-rat, *Heliophobius argenteocinereus*, the burrows had higher fractal dimension at the peak of the dry season which suggests the burrow occupant increases its search for food (Šumbera *et al.*, 2003). Similarly, in the social giant Zambian mole-rat, *Fukomys mechowii*, total burrow length did not vary with season, but the fractal dimension was greater during the rainy season than the dry season indicating greater exploratory tunneling without an overall increase in total tunnel length, which increases the chances of finding food resources (Sichilima *et al.*, 2008).

Thus in subterranean rodents, while the overall home range remains relatively constant, burrow systems are usually in a state of dynamic flux in response to environmental cues and mate acquisition. This is the first study to undertake an extensive survey of *T. splendens* in Tanzania, excavating burrow systems on a monthly basis over an entire calendar year. The objectives were (i) to test the prediction that burrow size and fractal dimension were larger in males, and (ii) to quantify seasonal differences with the prediction that increases in burrow length, the number of foraging burrows and fractal dimension occur in the wet season.

Materials and Methods

Study site

This study was conducted over 12 consecutive months from January to December 2011, in farmlands at Mamba Komakundi village, located on the slopes of Mount Kilimanjaro in the Moshi Rural District, north-east Tanzania (03°16.54' S, 037°32.49' E; 1495 m above sea level). The site is characterized as an agro-ecological zone with very fertile volcanic soils supporting a variety of food and cash crops (Kilimanjaro Regional Profile (KRP), 1998). The area has two

34

rainy seasons with a mean annual rainfall of 1250 mm. The long rainy season is between March and June, while the short rainy season is between October and December. The dry season spans from January to early March and from July to early October. Annual average temperature ranges from 15-30° C with high humidity during October, March, April and May (KRP, 1998).

Excavation of burrow systems

Burrow systems were excavated manually with hoes to expose the tunnels along their entire length. Occupants were captured, weighed and sexed. A total of 60 burrows were excavated (i.e. five burrow systems per month). During each month we captured *T. splendens*, the animals were weighed and sexed prior to excavating the burrow system. Equal numbers of each sex were collected (15 males and 15 females) from wet and dry seasons respectively. Animals caught and removed from burrows were used as samples for other on-going parallel studies.

The lengths of the tunnels and their dimensions and shape were recorded *sensu* Thomas *et al.*, (2009; 2012) and measured to the nearest 0.1 cm using a tape measure; the depth from the ground surface to the top of the tunnel (recorded approximately every 2 m), height and width of the tunnel, the length of the main tunnel and length of foraging tunnels. The number of foraging tunnels was also noted, and burrow fractal dimension calculated as detailed below. Tunnels were defined as either: deep, semi-permanent (> 20 cm) or shallow, foraging (< 20 cm) tunnels (determined by the depth of the bulbs and roots of the plants in the sites reached). The location and dimensions of any nests, food stores, bolt holes and latrines were recorded. Nests were defined as chambers with only a single entrance and filled with nesting material. Food stores were blind-ended tunnels filled with either bulbs or roots and the contents of these caches were

recorded as percentages of food type. Bolt holes were steep-angled tunnels (almost vertical) that were > 30 cm in length used as either anti-predatory function, thermoregulation or as drainage sumps (Hickman, 1983, 1990; Nevo, 1999). Latrines were blind-ended tunnels packed with soil and faeces. The study was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of Pretoria (Ethics clearance number ECO47-10), the Tanzania Commission for Science and Technology (COSTECH) (Ref. 2011-44-NA-2010-204) and the University of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

Data analyses

To quantify the geometric configuration of the burrow in a way that was independent of burrow size we calculated fractal dimension. This provides a measure of the extent to which the burrow explores the surrounding area, particularly in subterranean mammals where the burrow is primarily used for foraging (Le Comber *et al.*, 2002, Šumbera *et al.*, 2003; Romañach & Le Comber, 2004). All previous studies on mole-rat tunnel systems have assessed 2-D rather than 3-D structures, since the vertical variation is very slight (perhaps around 1 m). Since this study was primarily concerned with the burrow and its relation to foraging, we also only quantified how the burrows are distributed in 2-D. The geometry of the burrow systems was mapped to a scale of 1:100 on graph paper for estimation of fractal dimension (Le Comber *et al.*, 2002; Sichilima *et al.*, 2008; Thomas *et al.*, 2009, 2012). Each drawing was then digitized separately and subjected to image-processing software GIMP version 2.6.12 (http://sd-cf.en.softonic.com) and Inkscape version 0.48.3.1(http://www.flvplayerpro.net), for re-draw and to convert the burrow system

image into a readable format for 2-D fractal dimension calculation using Fractal Dimension Calculator version 1.2.0 (Thomas *et al.*, 2012).

Data from the short and long rainy periods and the two intervening dry seasons respectively were combined to produce "wet" and "dry" season comparisons, to simplify the analysis and increase sample size. Other environmental factors such as temperature do not differ between the short and long rainy/dry periods. All data were then analysed using R (R Core Team, 2012). The effects of sex and season on burrow length (i.e. length of the main tunnel), number of foraging tunnels and foraging tunnel length were analysed using a two-way analysis of variance, including a sex*season interaction. A similar approach was taken to study factors affecting burrow fractal dimension, but in this case burrow length, number of foraging tunnels and foraging tunnel as additional predictors in a general linear model. Data were summarized in boxplots generated in R, showing 'hinges' around the median (versions of the first and third quartiles), and notches showing 1.58 times the interquartile range/ \sqrt{n} which approximately correspond to 95% confidence limits (R Core Team, 2012).

Results

A single animal was sampled in each burrow system excavated, except for five adult lactating females that had pups with them in their burrows. The burrow systems comprised a bolt hole, multi-functional nests and side branches ending at mole hills diverging from a main tunnel (Figure 1). The food store chamber was located on the side of the nest and connected to the nest by one exit point. In the food store, the composition of the cache was rich in roots, tubers, bulbs

and rhizomes, as well as grasses and shoots of forbs that may either have been pulled into the burrow tunnel or harvested during foraging above-ground.

Several nest chambers were excavated within individual burrow systems of *T. splendens* but only one was active at any particular time, with other nest chambers back-filled with soil and no longer in use. An active nest was connected to the main tunnel by a single entry/exit point. Within the nest chamber, dry plant materials were found proximal to the entrance, while the latrine was found in the distal section. Nesting comprised of 90.4% non-cultivated vegetation such as grasses and forbs, 5.5% crop materials, 4% faecal pellets and 0.09% invertebrates. Invertebrates observed in the nest chamber included spiders (54.4%), termites (20%), earthworms (7.1%), flies (6.5%), ants (6.2%) and beetles (5.8%). In the same section of the tunnel, disused nests contained dry plant material and old faecal pellets mixed with soil.

Foraging tunnels originated from the main tunnel (Figure 1), and in some burrow systems they branched into several peripheral tunnels and terminated at mole mounds. These mole mounds were characterized by both old and freshly excavated piles of soil, the latter indicating recent burrowing activity. The diameter of the foraging tunnels was large enough to allow easy movement of the occupant without excessive digging. The burrow system of *T. splendens* also contained a single bolt hole which was located at the end of the main tunnel, and at a greater depth than the nest chamber. During intense rains and dry months, the bolt holes were used as nest chambers.



Citations and references list format followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology



The effects of sex and season on burrow structure

Burrow length (total length of the main tunnel) was strongly affected by sex but not season (ANOVA: sex: $F_{(1,56)} = 14.80$, p = 0.0003; season: $F_{(1,56)} = 0.65$, p = 0.424; sex*season: $F_{(1,56)} = 0.15$, p = 0.70, and was higher for females than for males. Tukey post-hoc tests showed that this difference was significant during both the dry and wet seasons (Figure 2). Mean \pm SD (range): male wet: 6.64 ± 1.12 m, (5.00-8.50 m), male dry: 6.16 ± 1.06 m, (4.51-8.50 m); Female wet: 8.17 ± 2.17 m, (5.85-13.51 m), female dry: 7.99 ± 2.16 m, (5.85-11.50 m).



Figure 2: Box plot of burrow length (length of main tunnel as illustrated in Figure 1) versus sex of burrow occupant for wet and dry seasons. Each boxplot shows "hinges" (boxes) which are version of the first and third quartiles around the median (bold horizontal lines), and "notches" (vertical lines) showing 1.58 times the interquartile range/ \sqrt{n} , which approximately correspond to 95% confidence limits. Outliers are represented by circular plot sysmbol (R Core Team, 2012).

Citations and references list format followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

The number of foraging tunnels was affected by both sex and season (ANOVA: sex: $F_{(1,56)} = 20.46$, p < 0.0001; season: $F_{(1,56)} = 6.50$, p = 0.014; sex*season: $F_{(1,56)} = 0.17$, p = 0.68). Tukey post-hoc tests showed that females' burrows had more foraging tunnels than males' burrows in both the dry and wet seasons, while overall burrows had more foraging tunnels in the wet season than the dry season; this latter difference was driven largely by differences between females/wet and male/dry (Figure 3). Mean \pm SD (range): male wet: 5.13 \pm 0.92, (4.00–6.00), male dry: 3.93 \pm 0.96, (3.00–5.00); Female wet: 6.80 \pm 2.08, (4.00–10.00), female dry: 5.93 \pm 1.94, (4.00–8.00).





42

Citations and references list format followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

Foraging tunnel length showed a slight different pattern, with significant differences due to sex and sex*season (ANOVA: sex: $F_{(1,56)} = 38.15$, p < 0.0001; season: $F_{(1,56)} = 0.79$, p = 0.378; sex*season: $F_{(1,56)} = 5.83$, p = 0.019). Tukey post-hoc tests showed that overall females had burrows with longer foraging tunnels than males, in both the wet and dry seasons (Figure 4). Mean \pm SD (range): male wet: 4.96 \pm 2.36 m, (2.52–7.63 m), male dry: 3.35 \pm 1.46 m, (2.52–6.19 m); Female wet: 6.79 \pm 1.45 m, (5.21–8.63 m), female dry: 7.53 \pm 2.10 m, (5.18–9.82 m).





Citations and references list format followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

43

Fractal dimension was strongly affected by both sex and burrow length. Females had burrows with higher fractal dimension than males (Figure 5), while fractal dimension increased with burrow length (Figure 6; results from GLM: sex: $F_{(1,53)} = 59.49$, p < 0.0001; season: $F_{(1,53)} =$ 0.35, p = 0.56; sex*season: $F_{(1,53)} = 2.43$, p = 0.13; burrow length: $F_{(1,53)} = 77.29$, p < 0.0001; number of foraging tunnels: $F_{(1,53)} = 0.03$, p < 0.87; foraging tunnel length: $F_{(1,53)} = 1.56$, p < 0.22). Mean \pm SD (range): male wet: 1.19 \pm 0.04, (1.15–1.25), male dry: 1.17 \pm 0.04, (1.14–1.24); Female wet: 1.23 \pm 0.04, (1.18–1.29), female dry: 1.24 \pm 0.04, (1.16–1.27).



Figure 5: Box plot of fractal dimension versus sex of burrow occupant for wet and dry seasons.

44

Citations and references list format followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology



Figure 6: The relationship between fractal dimension and burrow length (main tunnel length) for sexes and seasons (male wet: ■, dry □; female wet: ● dry: ○).

A comparison of overall burrow fractal dimensions (FD) between *T. splendens* (mean \pm SD = 1.21 \pm 0.08) and other previously studied solitary bathyergids including the silvery molerat (*Heliophobius argenteocinereus*) = 1.32 \pm 0.05, the Cape mole-rat (*Georychus capensis*) = 1.27 \pm 0.08, and the Cape dune mole-rat (*Bathyergus suillus*) = 1.35 \pm 0.12 (Le Comber *et al.*, 2002) showed fractal dimension to be similar.

Citations and references list format followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

Discussion

Our prediction that burrow length and associated burrow architecture would differ between the sexes was supported, but interestingly, and in marked contrast to the bathyergids, we found that females rather than males, had longer burrow systems (length of the main tunnel), together with more foraging tunnels of greater lengths and higher fractal dimension (Herbst & Bennett, 2006; Thomas *et al.*, 2009, 2012). We speculated that sexual dimorphism in burrow geometry of *T. splendens* is most likely attributed to maintenance of burrow for maternal care of pups and the associated increase food provisioning (and therefore digging) that is required when the female has juveniles young co-habiting the burrow. The greater fractal dimension of the burrows of female *T. splendens* is noteworthy since in other solitary mole rats such as *Thomomys bottae* (Reichman *et al.*, 1982), *Ctenomys minutus* (Gastal, 1994), *Bathyergus janetta* (Herbst *et al.*, 2006) and *Bathyergus suillus* (Thomas *et al.*, 2009), it is the male burrows that have greater complexity which may reflect mate searching strategies.

A recent study has shown that in *T. splendens*, seismic signaling using head raps against the tunnel roof may be used to communicate for purpose such as attraction (Hrouzkova *et al.*, 2013). Such a mechanism, coupled with close proximity of male and female burrows may mitigate against mate searching by burrowing alone. Seismic signaling has also been suggested as a mate attraction mechanism in the solitary bathyergid, *Georychus capensis* which uses drumming of the hind feet to create seismic vibrations (Bennett & Jarvis, 1988). While the overall burrow geometry of *T. splendens* is similar to the solitary bathyergids in terms of range of values recorded for fractal dimension, reflecting aspects of their similar life styles, interesting

differences (e.g. more complex nest and the aforementioned sex differences) undoubtedly reflect their convergent exploitation of the subterranean niche.

The effect of sex on burrow architecture that we observed tended to override the predicted seasonal differences but the general trend was as expected, in that digging activity was greater during the rainy seasons. Such differences between wet and dry periods were clearer for male burrows, possible because increased provisioning by females was also necessary during the dry seasons (Figure 2-5). Pregnancies were observed to peak during both rainy seasons and were occasionally in the dry period in June and July (Katandukila et al., 2013), thus female may be found either lactating or provisioning young over much of the year with the accompanying need for increased foraging. Burrow length was longer in the wet season especially for females, and both males and females dug more foraging tunnels in the wet periods, although this was only reflected in a greater mean foraging tunnel length for females in the wet versus the dry periods. Greater burrowing activity during the wet season resulting in increasing number and length of foraging tunnels has been noted previously for subterranean rodents (Andersen, 1987; Šumbera et al., 2003; Šklíba et al., 2009) as the soil is more workable ((Jarvis & Sale, 1971; Vleck, 1981; Reichman & Smith, 1990; Antinuchi & Luna, 2006; Šklíba et al., 2011) and the food quality and quantity increases from sprouting and regeneration following the rains (Bennie, 1991; Barber, 1995; Pregitzer & King, 2005). It has been found that during foraging, straight paths are more efficient for finding food resources (Zollner & Lima, 1999). However, once resources are found, increased reticulation may result as a function of the vegetative propagation of tubers, bulbs and corms (Bennett & Faulkes, 2000). Increased fractal dimension of the burrow system has been linked to the period of rainfall in the solitary mole-rats, B. suillus and B. janetta, (Herbst et al.,

2006; Thomas *et al.*, 2009, 2012) as well as in the social giant Zambian mole-rat, *Fukomys mechowii* (Sichilima *et al.*, 2008).

Extensive survey of T. splendens burrows undertaken for this study confirms earlier reports with respect to their general structure, which was consistent across all samples (multifunction nest, main tunnel, foraging tunnels and bolt hole: Jarvis & Sale, 1971; Hickman, 1983; Kokiso & Bekele, 2008). The burrow systems of T. splendens are inhabited by a single individual, with plural occupancy either during breeding or when females have young. In this study, the burrow systems of five females were found to include young individuals. Although adopting a similar lifestyle and found across similar ranges to bathyergid mole-rats, the burrow system of T. splendens shows some marked differences, particularly with respect to the multifunctional nest incorporating a sleeping area, food store chamber and latrine area. The food store chamber in the burrow system of T. splendens is located within the sides of the active nest chamber and is comprised mainly of grasses, forbs and underground plant organs including tubers, roots, rhizomes, and bulbs. Similar observations were recorded for T. splendens in Kenya and Ethiopia (see Jarvis & Sale, 1971; Hickman, 1983; Kokiso & Bekele, 2008). Interestingly, in the abandoned food stores some bulbs and tubers were found sprouting. The storage of geophytes and crop materials suggests that T. splendens have similar dietary needs to other herbivorous subterranean rodents such as bathyergids, geomyids, ctenomyids and Asian spalacids (Keith et al., 1959; Jarvis & Sale, 1971; Huntly & Reichman, 1994; Bennett & Faulkes, 2000; Rosi et al., 2000; Spinks et al., 2000; Sumbera et al., 2004; Romañach, 2005; Herbst & Bennett, 2006; Kokiso & Bekele, 2008; Šklíba et al., 2009; Šklíba et al., 2011).

Citations and references list format followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

A series of shallow disused nests were observed in the tunnel before the active nest chamber. In fossorial animals, the presence of multiple nests along a tunnel is common and has been reported in the burrow systems of silvery mole-rats, *Heliophobius argenteocinereus* and Cape dune mole rats, *B. suillus* (Hickman, 1977; Šumbera *et al.*, 2003; Šklíba *et al.*, 2009, 2011; Thomas *et al.*, 2009). Multiple nests are reported to be a mechanism for reducing ecto-parasite infestation within burrows. The active nest chamber is identified by the presence of dry grasses and husks of geophytes at the proximal part of the nest entrance. Within the nest chamber, all adjacent above-ground geophytes had been consumed. This indicates that feeding also occurs within the nest chambers of *T. splendens* as reported for *Geomys* sp. and bathyergids (Jarvis & Sale, 1971; Hickman, 1983; Andersen, 1987; Bennett *et al.*, 1988; Bennett & Faulkes, 2000).

Apart from the food store and sleeping site in the nest chamber, accumulations of faecal pellets were recorded at the distal part of this chamber, forming a latrine. The fermenting faeces and decomposition of nesting material in the burrows of *T. splendens* raises the temperature in their underground chambers (Jarvis & Sale, 1971; Flynn, 1990; Nevo, 1999; Nowak, 1999) and concurrently, these decomposed faecal pellets, food remains and nesting add to soil fertility. Thus the nest chamber in *T. splendens* functions as a sleeping site, a latrine and also as a feeding chamber, as has also been reported in the blind mole rat, *Spalax ehrenbergi* (Nevo, 1961; Jarvis & Sale, 1971; Hickman, 1983; Kokiso & Bekele, 2008). Other subterranean rodents such as bathyergids, geomyids and ctenomyids differ in that they have a distinct toilet chamber (Jarvis & Sale, 1971; Hickman, 1977; Šumbera *et al.*, 2003, 2004; Cutrera *et al.*, 2006; Škliba *et al.*, 2009, 2011; Thomas *et al.*, 2012).

In conclusion, our findings for *Tachyoryctes* show common features with other rodent moles in terms of increased burrowing following rains, but interesting differences in sexual dimorphism of burrow architecture. Species-specific differences in burrow structure were also evident, particularly with respect to their multi-function nest chamber. Across its range, *Tachyoryctes* overlaps with species of the solitary bathyergid mole-rats *Heliophobius* and the social *Fukomys*, especially in Tanzania (Beolchini & Corti, 2004; Faulkes *et al.*, 2010, 2011). Despite this, so far there are no confirmed published reports of any of these three genera co-habiting the same area, and neither did this study find such evidence. Whether this is a result of stochastic or historic process, or differences in habitat use remains to be determined.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge funding from the University of Dar es Salaam (UDSM: World Bank Fund (C1B1) of the University of Dar as Salaam), Tanzania. NCB acknowledges funding from the South African DST/NRF SARChI Chair for Mammal Behavioural Ecology and Physiology, University of Pretoria.

References

- Andersen, D.C. (1987). *Geomys bursarius* burrowing patterns: Influence of season and food patch structure. *Ecol.* **68**: 1306–1318.
- Antinuchi, C. D. & Luna, F. (2006). Cost of foraging in the subterranean rodent *Ctenomys talarum*: effect of soil hardness. *Canad. J. Zool.* **84:** 661–667.

- Barber, S. A. (1995). Soil nutrient bioavailability: A mechanistic approach. New York: Wiley-Liss.
- Bennett, N.C. & Faulkes, C.G. (2000). *African Mole-Rats: Ecology and Eusociality*. Cambridge:Cambridge University Press.
- Bennett, N.C. & Jarvis, J.U.M. (1988). The reproductive biology of the Cape mole-rat, *Georychus capensis* (Rodentia, Bathyergidae). J. Zool., Lond. **214**: 95–106.
- Bennett, N.C., Jarvis, J.U.M. & Davies, K.C. (1988). Daily and seasonal temperatures in the burrows of Africa rodent moles. S. Afr. J. Zool. 23: 189–195.
- Bennie, A. T. P. 1991. Growth and mechanical impedance. *Plant roots: the hidden half*: pp 393–414. New York: Marcel Dekker.
- Beolchini, F. & Corti, M. (2004). The taxonomy of the genus *Tachyoryctes*: a geometric morphometric approach. *Ital. J. Zool.* 71: 35-43.
- Cutrera, A. P., Antinuchi, C.D., Mora, M. S. & Vassallo, A.I. (2006). Home-range and activity patterns of the South American subterranean rodent *Ctenomys talarum*. *J. Mammal.* **87**: 1183–1191.
- Davies, K.C. & Jarvis, J.U.M. (1986). The burrow systems and burrowing dynamics of the molerats *Bathyergus suillus* and *Cryptomys hottentotus* in the fynbos of the south-western Cape, South Africa. J. Zool. (Lond.) **209:** 125–147.
- Faulkes, C. G., Bennett, N. C., Cotterill, F. P. D., Stanley, W., Mgode, G. F. & Verheyen, E. (2011). Phylogeography and cryptic diversity of the solitary-dwelling silvery mole-rat, genus *Heliophobius* (family: Bathyergidae). J. Zool.(Lond.) 285: 324-338.

- Faulkes, C. G., Mgode, G. F., Le Comber, S. C. & Bennett, N. C. (2010). Cladogenesis and endemism in Tanzanian mole-rats, genus *Fukomys*: (Rodentia Bathyergidae): a role for tectonics?. *Biol. J. Linn. Soc.* 100: 337-352.
- Flynn, L. (1990). The natural history of rhizomyid rodents. In: E. R. Nevo, O.A. (ed.) Evolution of Subterranean Mammals at the Organismal and Molecular Levels: pp 155–183. New York: Wiley-Liss.
- Gastal, M.L.A. (1994). Density, sexual rate and biometrics data from one population of *Ctenomys minutus. Iheringia* **77**: 25–34.
- Herbst, M. & Bennett, N.C. (2006). Burrow architecture and burrowing dynamics of the endangered Namaqua dune mole rat (*Bathyergus janetta*) (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). J. Zool. (Lond.) 270: 420–428.
- Hickman, G.C. (1977). Burrow system structure of *Pappogeomys castanops* (geomyidae) in Lubbock country. *Naturwissenschaften*. **97:** 50–58.
- Hickman, C.G. (1983). Burrows, surface movement, and swimming of *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rodentia: Rhizomyidae) during flood conditions in Kenya. *J. Zool. (Lond.)* **200:** 71–82.
- Hickman, C.G. (1990). Adaptiveness of tunnel system features in subterranean mammal burrows. In Evolution of subterranean mammals at the organismal and molecular levels: 185–210. Nevo, E. & Reig, O.A. (Eds). New York: Wiley Liss.
- Hickman, G.C. & Brown, L.N. (1973). Mound-building behavior of the South-eastern pocket gopher (*Geomys pinetis*). J. Mammal. **54:** 786–790.
- Hrouzkova, E., Dvorakova, V., Jedlicka, P. & Šumbera, R. (in press). Seismic communication in demon African mole rat *Tachyoryctes daemon* from Tanzania. *J. Ethol.* DOI 10.1007/s10164-013-0374-0.

52

Citations and references list format followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

- Huntly, N. & Reichman, O.J. (1994). Effects of subterranean mammalian herbivores on vegetation. J. Mammal. 75: 852–859.
- Jarvis, J.U.M. & Sale, J.B. (1971). Burrowing and burrow patterns of East African mole-rats *Tachyoryctes, Heliophobius and Heterocephalus. J. Zool. (Lond.)* **163:** 451–479.
- Katandukila, J. V., Faulkes, C. G., Chimimba, C. T. & Bennett, N. C. (2013). Reproduction in the East African root rat (*Tachyoryctes splendens*; Rodentia: Spalacidae) from Tanzania: the importance of rainfall. *J. Zool.* **291**: 258-268.
- Keith, J.O., Hansen, R. M. & Ward, A. L. (1959). Effect of 2,4-D on abundance and foods of Pocket gophers. J. Wildl. Manage. 23: 137–145.
- Kenkel, N. & Walker, D. 1996. Fractals in the biological sciences. *Coenoses* 11: 77-100.
- Kilimanjaro Region Profile (KRP). (1998) Region socio-economic profile. Joint publication with the Planning Commission Dar es Salaam & Region Commissioners' office, Kilimanjaro.
- Kokiso, A. & Bekele, A. (2008). Ecology of Common Mole-Rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* and its Impacts on farmlands at Angecha, Central Ethiopia. *Act. Zool. Sin.* 54: 30–35.
- Le Comber, S.C., Seabloom, E.W. & Romañach, S.S. (2006). Burrow fractal dimension and foraging success in subterranean rodent: a simulation *Behav. Ecol.* **17:** 188–195.
- Le Comber, S.C., Spinks, A.C., Bennett, N.C., Jarvis, J.U.M. & Faulkes C.G. (2002). Fractal dimension of African mole-rat burrows. *Canad. J. Zool.* **80:** 436–441.
- Miller, M.A. (1957). Burrows of the Sacramento Valley pocket gophers in the flood-irrigatedalfalfa fields. *Hilgard*. **26:** 431–452.
- Miller, R.S. & Bond, H.E. (1960). The summer burrowing activity of pocket gophers. *J. Mamm.*, **41:** 469–475.

53

Citations and references list format followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

- Nevo, E. (1961). Observations on Israeli population of the mole-rat *Spalax ehrenbergi* (Nehring 1898). *Mammalia*. **25:** 127–144.
- Nevo, E. (1999). Mosaic Evolution of Subterranean Mammals: regression, progression and global convergence. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Nowak, R. (1999). Walker's Mammals of the World. Baltimore and London: The Hopkins University Press.
- Pregitzer, K. S. & King, J.S. (2005). 10 Effects of Soil Temperature on Nutrient Uptake. *Ecolog. Stud.* **181:** 277–310.
- R Core Team (2012). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL http://www.Rproject.org/
- Reichman, O.J. & Smith, S.C. (1990). Burrows and burrowing behavior by mammals. In 'Current mammalogy, vol 2': pp 197–243. Genoways, H.H (ed). New York: Plenum Press.
- Reichman, O.J., Whitham, T.J. & Ruffner, G.A. (1982). Adaptive geometry of burrow spacing in two Pocket gopher populations. *Ecol.* 63: 687–695.
- Romañach, S.S. (2005). Influences of sociality and habitat on African mole-rat burrowing patterns. *Canad. J. Zool.* 83: 1051–1058.
- Romañach, S.S. & Le Comber, S.L. (2004). Measures of pocket gopher (*Thomomys bottae*) burrow geometry: correlates of fractal dimension. *J. Zool. (Lond.)* **262:** 399–403.
- Rosi, M.I., Cona, M. I., Videla, F., Puig, S. & Roig, V.G. (2000). Architecture of *Ctenomys mendocinus* (Rodentia) burrows from two habitats differing in abundance and complexity of vegetation. *Acta Theriol.* **45:** 491–505.

- Sichilima, A.M., Bennett, N.C. Faulkes, C.G. & Le Comber, S.C. (2008). Evolution of African mole-rat sociality: burrow architecture, rainfall and foraging in colonies of the cooperatively breeding *Fukomys mechowii*. J. Zool. (Lond.) 275: 276–282.
- Šklíba, J., Šumbera R., Chitaukali, W.N. & Burda, H. (2009). Home-range dynamics in a solitary subterranean rodent. *Ethol.* **115**: 217–226.
- Šklíba, J., Šumbera R. & Vitámvás, M. (2011). Resource characteristics and foraging adaptations in the Silvery mole-rat (*Heliophobius argenteocinereus*): a solitary Afrotropical bathyergid. *Ecol. Res.* 26: 1081–1088.
- Spinks, A.C., Bennett, N.C. & Jarvis, J. U. M. (2000). A comparison of the ecology of two populations of the common mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus hottentotus*: the effect of aridity on food, foraging and body mass. *Oecol.* **125**: 341–349.
- Šumbera, R., Burda, H., Chitaukali, W. N. & Kubová, J. (2003). Silvery mole-rat (*Heliophobius argenteocinereus*, Bathyergidae) changes their burrow architecture seasonally. *Nat.* 90: 370–373.
- Šumbera, R., Chitaukali, N.W., Elichová, M., Kubová, J. & Burda, H. (2004). Microclimatic stability in burrows of an Afrotropical solitary bathyergid rodent, the Silvery mole-rat (*Heliophobius argenteocinereus*) J. Zool. (Lond.) 263: 409–416.
- Thomas, H.G., Bateman, P.W., Le Comber, S.C., Bennett, N.C., Elwood, R.W. & Scantlebury,
 M. (2009). Burrow architecture and digging activity in the Cape dune mole rat. J. Zool.
 (Lond.) 279: 277–284.
- Thomas, H. G., Bateman, P. W., Scantlebury, M. & Bennett, N. C. (2012). Season but not sex influences burrow length and complexity in the non-sexually dimorphic solitary Cape mole-rat (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). J. Zool. (Lond.) 288: 214–221.

Citations and references list format followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

- Vleck, D. (1981). Burrow structure and foraging cost in the fossorial rodent *Thomomys bottae*. *Oecologia* **49:** 391-396.
- Zollner, P.A. & Lima, S.L. (1990). Search strategies for landscape level inter-patch movements. *Ecol.* **80:** 1019–1030.
Chapter 3: Laboratory Activity



Published on: Journal of Mammalogy (2013) 94, 1393–1400.

Title: Locomotor activity patterns of captive East African root rats, *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rodentia: Spalacidae) from Tanzania, East Africa

Authors: J.V. Katandukila^{1,2}, N.C. Bennett¹, C.T. Chimimba¹, C.G. Faulkes³ & M.K. Oosthuizen¹*

¹Mammal Research Institute, Department of Zoology & Entomology, University of Pretoria,

Private Bag X20, 0028 South Africa (KJV, NCB, CTC, MKO)

²Department of Zoology & Wildlife Conservation, College of Natural and Applied Sciences,

University of Dar es Salaam, P.O. Box 35064, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania (JKV)

³School of Biological and Chemical Sciences, Queen Mary University of London, Mile End

Road, London E1 4NS, United Kingdom (CGF)

*Corresponding author

Abstract

The East African root rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rüppell 1835) is a solitary fossorial rodent occurring in the eastern parts of central Africa. Unlike bathyergid mole-rats, *T. splendens* occasionally goes above-ground to feed and consequently it is periodically exposed to the natural light-dark cycle. The locomotor activity of *T. splendens* was assessed under various light regimes. *T. splendens* entrains its activity to light cycles and displays distinct nocturnal activity with the total percentage of activity during the dark phase at 87.78 \pm 11.01%. In constant darkness (DD), *T. splendens* shows free-running rhythms of slightly shorter than 24 h (23h40 \pm 0h13), while still exhibiting most of its activity during subjective night. Upon inversion of the light cycle, time of re-entrainment was exceptionally long. Nocturnal activity time (α) was shortened in response to a shorter night length from 11h29 to 7h46; however, when the dark phase was lengthened, α remained roughly similar to that of the 12L:12D at 11h24. A difference in circadian activity is apparent from the laboratory and field findings, thus in a natural situation, other environmental factors may influence activity patterns.

Key words: Circadian rhythm, entrainment, light, subterranean, *Tachyoryctes splendens*, Tanzania, East/central Africa.

Introduction

Many organisms exhibit daily rhythmicity of various biological functions. Circadian rhythms are biological rhythms that persist with a period of around 24 h in the absence of external cues (Aschoff 1960). Circadian rhythms are reset or entrained daily by external stimuli in order to remain synchronized with the environment. Undoubtedly, the most prominent entraining cues are light and temperature (Edery 2000). The mammalian circadian system is regulated by a central pacemaker contained in the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) in the basal hypothalamus (Reppert & Weaver 2002). The basic mechanism of the circadian clock relies on interacting positive and negative transcriptional feedback loops that drive recurrent rhythms in gene expression of the relevant clock genes (Reppert & Weaver 2002). The SCN controls multiple peripheral circadian oscillators throughout the body. These circadian oscillators regulate output rhythms in physiology and behaviour, one of which is locomotor activity (Chong et al. 2003; Ko & Takahashi 2006).

Subterranean mammals spend a large proportion of their time underground and as a result have evolved specialized morphological and physiological adaptations to their underground habitat that include microphthalmic eyes and enhancement of other senses such as olfaction and tactile stimuli (Nevo 1999). In their burrows, they are subjected to a unique micro-environment with buffered thermal regimes and limited exposure to light (Bennett et al. 1988; Bennett & Faulkes 2000). As a consequence of their subterranean lifestyle, they are not regularly exposed to the natural day-night cycle. However, previous studies indicate that the majority of subterranean mammals do perceive light (Rado et al. 1992; Wegner et al. 2006; Kott et al. 2010) and are able to entrain locomotor activity to light (Bennedix 1994; Tobler et al. 1998; Riccio & Goldman 2000; Begall et al. 2002; Oosthuizen et al. 2003; Hart et al. 2004; Vasicek et al. 2005; Schöttner et al. 2006; Valentinuzzi et al. 2009; Tomotani et al. 2012).

The genus *Tachyoryctes* comprises several cryptic species, and is widely distributed in East Africa and the eastern parts of Central Africa (Musser & Carleton 2005). The East African root rat, the *Tachyoryctes splendens* is a solitary, fossorial rodent that occurs in central Africa in

a wide variety of habitat types including agricultural areas where it is regarded as a pest (Kokiso & Bekele 2008). *Tachyoryctes splendens* does not possess as many morphological modifications for a subterranean lifestyle as do mole-rats (both African and Asian) having an appearance more like a rat or a vole (Jarvis & Sale 1971). Unlike mole-rats, they do feed above-ground, providing an opportunity for contact with the external environment (Jarvis & Sale 1971). Little is known about the circadian system of the Spalacidae of Africa including the East African root rat. A single study was conducted on activity patterns of *T. splendens* (Kenyan population) in their natural environment using radio-active tracing (Jarvis 1973). In this study, predominantly diurnal activity was reported. To date, locomotor activity rhythms of *T. splendens* have not been investigated under controlled laboratory conditions.

We therefore undertook experiments under controlled lighting conditions to assess whether *T. splendens* sampled from Tanzania in East Africa exhibits rhythmic locomotor activity over the 24 hour day, as well as the response to a drastic phase shift (inversion) of the light cycle. We anticipated that *T. splendens* would display nocturnal activity and hence change its activity in response to an inverted light cycle. We also investigated whether an endogenous circadian rhythm was present under constant conditions (DD) and determined the free run period. We expected free-running periods of slightly shorter than 24 hours as is the case with most other nocturnal mammals. Furthermore, we assessed the effect of increasing and decreasing day length on the daily locomotor activity rhythm. Occurring near the equator, this is not an environmental phenomenon that this species would ever encounter in their natural habitat and we predicted that these animals may have some difficulty in adjusting the lengths of active time.

Materials and Methods

Experimental animals – Experimental animals (6 males {mean body mass 250.11 ± 13.09 g}, 5 females {mean body mass 218.4 ± 12.8 g}) were sampled from the Kilimanjaro region, Tanzania (03°16.466' S, 037°32.887' E; 1495 m above sea level), East Africa and shipped (export permit No. 65054 granted by The Ministry of Natural Resources and Tourism Tanzania; and the veterinary permit No. 0000875 from the Ministry of Livestock Development and Fisheries, Tanzania) to the Department of Zoology and Entomology, University of Pretoria, Pretoria in South Africa (import permit No. 13/1/1/30/2/9/6-241from the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, and CPB6 No. 003784 granted by Gauteng Nature Concervation).

Before commencement of experiments, *T. splendens* was acclimatized to a lightcontrolled laboratory 12L:12D at room temperature $(25\pm1^{\circ} \text{ C})$ for 30 days. Animals were housed singly in plastic cages $(50 \times 40 \times 40 \text{ cm})$ lined with wood shavings and paper tissue provided as nesting material, and fed *ad libitum* on chopped sweet potatoes and carrots. During the experiments, ambient temperature was maintained at 25° C and cages were cleaned during cycle changes (Oosthuizen et al. 2003; Hart et al. 2004). Human disturbance in the laboratory was contorolled during experiment; one person was feeding animals at non-specified time to avoid conditional cease of activity during time of food supply throughtout the experiment. Red dim light was used by food supplier for visualization to avoid unnecceasry hiting of cages which may consequently affect activity of experimental animals. Research on live animals followed the guidelines of the American Society of Mammalogists (ASM; Sikes et al. 2011) and was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of Pretoria (Ethics clearance number ECO47-10). Activity Recording – 11 cages were fitted with infrared motion detectors (Quest PIR internal passive infrared detector; Elite Security Products (ESP), Electronic Lines, London, UK) (Oosthuizen et al. 2003; De Vries et al. 2008) in such a way that activity could be detected over the entire floor space of the cage. Infrared captors were connected to receivers that were connected to a Minimitter recording system (Vital View[™]; Minimitter Co. Inc., Sunriver, OR, USA; <u>http://www.minimitter.com</u>) installed on a computer outside the temperature and light controlled animal room. The activity was collectively recorded per minute (Oosthuizen et al. 2003; De Vries et al. 2008; Alagaili et al. 2012).

Animals were placed on a 12L:12D light cycle (LD1; L:07h00-19h00) for 22 days to ascertain whether they were able to entrain to light. Subsequently, the animals were subjected to a DD cycle (constant darkness) for 46 days. Afterwards, the animals were re-entrained to a 12L:12D (LD2; L:07h00-19h00) for 22 days, where after the light cycle was inverted (DL; 12D:12L; L:19h00-07h00) for 25 days. Animals were re-entrained to a 12L:12D light cycle prior to successive light cycles. In order to assess the effect of different day length on activity of the East African root rats, animals were maintained on a long day cycle (LLD; L:05h00-21h00) for 22 days, followed by a short cycle (SLD;L:09h00-17h00) for 31 days.

Data analyses

Activity patterns were visualized with double plotted actograms using Actiview Biological Rhythm Analyses 1.2 software (MinimitterTM Co., Inc., Sunriver, OR, USA; <u>www.minimitter.com</u>). The phase angle (difference in time between the beginning of the dark cycle and onset of activity) and percentage of nocturnal and diurnal activity was determined for the light cycles of each animal using Clock Lab (ClockLab TM, Actimetrics Evanston, II U.S.A.: 62

<u>www.actimertics.com</u>). The circadian period ($tau = \tau$) was determined during DD, also the percentage of activity during subjective night and day. Mean ± 1 Standard Deviation (SD) of percentage of nocturnal and diurnal activity was evaluated using descriptive statistical analysis (Begall et al. 2002; Hart et al. 2004; Alagaili et al. 2012). Multivariate comparison of percentage of nocturnal and diurnal activity between LD1, LLD and SLD was determined using ANOVA; whereas percentage of nocturnal and diurnal activity between light cycles was compared using *t*-test.

Results

LD1 (*12L:12D*) – All animals entrained their activity to the light-dark cycle, with the majority of their activity during the dark phase of the light cycle (n = 11, mean \pm SD = 87.78 \pm 11.01%). Activity commenced after the offset of the light at 19h18 \pm 0h 02 and ceased before the onset of light at 06h43 \pm 0h 03. The mean \pm SD active time (α) of the animals was 11h20 \pm 0h04 (Figure 1).



Figure 1: A double plotted *Tachyoryctes splendens* actogram of an animal displaying predominantly nocturnal activity and a small amount of diurnal activity during a 12L:12D light cycle: Black bars on the top illustrate hours of darkness and white bars for hours of lightness; Y-axis is days and x-axis is hours.

DD (constant darkness) – All animals showed free-running rhythms with a mean \pm SD period (τ) of 23h40 \pm 0h13 (range = 23h31–24h08). The majority of activity was concentrated during the subjective night (n = 11, mean \pm SD = 86.76 \pm 12.05%). 3 of 11 animals displayed activity during both the subjective day and subjective night however; animals were still more active during the subjective night. No difference was observed in the amount of nocturnal activity of LD1 and activity during the subjective night of DD ($t_{(10)} = 0.84$, P = 0.42; $n_1 = 11$, $n_2 = 11$)(Figure 2).

LD2 (12L:12D) and DL (12D:12L) – The activity of T. splendens was re-entrained to the LD cycle after constant darkness. Upon inversion of the light cycle, most animals ceased activity for a few days before starting to re-entrain activity to the new light cycle. Full re-entrainment from the time the light cycle was inversed, was exceptionally long, and ranged between 5 and 18 days. While re-entraining, activity was masked during the light phase, once entrained, T. splendens displayed a mean \pm SD of 92.17 \pm 7.82 % (n = 11) of their activity during the dark phase.

Activity commenced slightly before the offset of the lights at 6h36 ± 0h16 and ceased activity right after the onset of the light at 19h05 ± 0h16 whereas the mean active time (α) was 11h36 ± 0h05. Comparison of percentage of activity of the dark phase between LD1 and DL was not significantly different ($t_{(10)} = 0.15$, P = 0.883, $n_1 = 11$, $n_2 = 11$) (Figure 3).

	Ident Start	ity: <i>Tac</i> Date: 2	<i>chyoryctes</i> 1 9-Jun-2012	1 Cnts (Sat)					
	Start	Time: 1	11:34	1		Interval	1:00 min		
00	:00	06:00	12:00	18:00	00:00	06:00	12:00	18:00	00:00
30-Jun									
01-Jul	• 					um	ы		
02-Jul	• • • • • •		L			Man			
03-Jul		éana.s							
04-Jul				Max 464 - 1844					
05-Jul									
06-Jul							· · ·	··	
07-Jui				·					
00-Jul						4 10			- 1
10-Jul			8 m						
10-Jul								· · · · ·	
12-Jul									
13-Jul						T.] '			
14-Jul				-		_ .	A101 .		
15-Jul		-	к			a			
16-Jul		.							
17-Jul		.		معدهاد .		.			u .
18-Jul						k			a.
19-Jul		untu			au	6. s.		1 L.L	
20-Jul		un - 5			·····	- 2	ы —		
21-Jul		-				-			
22-Jul		-			. 1			14.00.000 / 100.00	
23-Jul	-	.				•••			-
24-Jul								ماسه . هاو دانه مانه مده .	-
25-Jul	┝╍╴┝╸	-		·			8		• •
20-Jul	an							handl Line	
27-Jul				defended blank					
20-Jul 29_Jul	* • •				a la canada da di ba canada da serie da di ba canada da di ba canada da di ba canada da di ba canada da di ba c	-	· ·		
29 Jul									
31-Jul									
01-Aug			Т. <u>.</u>						
02-Aug	-	.							
03-Aug		-							
04-Aug		-							
05-Aug		.							
06-Aug									
07-Aug						a .			
08-Aug	-								
09-Aug									
10-Aug	•								
11-Aug	.								
12-Aug			· ••• •						
13-Aug	• • • • • •			*** * *****	* ***	2			
14-Aug	المراد ومعو								

Figure 2: A double plotted *Tachyoryctes splendens* actogram demonstrating an endogenous circadian rhythm with a period slightly shorter than 24h during DD: Black bars on the top illustrate hours for subjective night and white bars for subjective day; Y-axis is days and x-axis is hours.



Figure 3: A *Tachyoryctes splendens* actogram illustrating the re-entrainment of activity when the light cycle was inversed from a 12L:12D cycle (A) to a 12D:12L cycle (B): Black bars on the top illustrate hours of darkness and white bars for hours of lightness; Y-axis is days and x-axis is hours.

LLD (*16L:8D*) and *SLD* (*8L:16D*) – When subjected to a long day (LLD), 3 of 11 animals exhibited activity during both the day and night activity although more activity peaks were observed during the dark phase. All animals shortened their activity time to be only during the dark phase of the light cycle. Animals were active for a mean \pm SD of 94.43 \pm 6.33 % (*n* = 11) during the dark phase with onset of activity before onset of darkness at 20h43 \pm 0h35 and ceased activity before onset of light at 04h46 \pm 0h35 The mean \pm SD active time (α) was 7h46 \pm 0h15 (Figure 4).

During the SLD cycle, 2 out of 11 animals were active during dark and light phases of the cycle with few peaks during the dark phase. Animals were active for a mean \pm SD 92.68 \pm 5.34 % (n = 11) during the dark phase of this cycle with the onset of activity almost two hours after the transition from light to dark at 18h58 \pm 0h43. Activity was terminated more than 2 hours before onset of the light at 06h27 \pm 0h52 and the active time was 11h24 \pm 0h16. Comparison of percentage of dark activity between LLD and SLD was not significantly different ($t_{(10)} = 0.78$, P = 0.45; $n_1 = 11$, $n_2 = 11$,). Similarly the comparison of the percentage of nocturnal activity between LD₁, LLD and SLD was also not significantly different (n = 11, K = 3, $F_{(2, 30)} = 2.07$, P = 0.14) (Figure 5).



Figure 4: A *Tachyoryctes splendens* actogram exemplifying an animal that shortened its active time (a) to express activity only during darkness: Black bars on the top illustrate hours of darkness and white bars for hours of lightness; Y-axis is days and x-axis is hours.



Figure 5: An example of a *Tachyoryctes splendens* actogram that shows that activity is not expanded to cover the whole period of darkness but rather remains relatively equal to that of 12L:12D: Black bars on the top illustrate hours of darkness and white bars for hours of lightness; Y-axis is days and x-axis is hours.

Discussion

A number of species worldwide exploit the subterranean niche, but these species differ in the degree of fossoriality (Nevo 1999). Some species, such as African mole-rats (Bathyergidae) are strictly subterranean, while others such as coruros (Octodontidae), tuco-tucos (Ctenomyidae) and root rats (Spalacidae) emerge from their burrows periodically to feed above-ground (Jarvis 1973; Bennett & Faulkes 2000; Begall et al. 2002; Tomotani et al. 2012). Along with the large degree of variation in fossoriality there is variation in circadian rhythmicity among these animals. Although circadian rhythmicity may be of little apparent use for strictly subterranean species, it may be of greater importance for species that do occasionally come above-ground.

Fossorial mammals differ in the degree to which they remain in their underground habitats. In controlled laboratory conditions, *T. splendens* showed a clear activity rhythm and displayed distinct preference for activity during the dark period. It is common for subterranean mammals to exhibit nocturnal activity under controlled conditions (Riccio & Goldman 2000; Begall et al. 2002; Schöttner et al. 2006; Tomotani et al. 2012), although some mole-rat species show less stable preferences for nocturnal or diurnal activity, such that some individuals of a species may display nocturnal activity while others display diurnal activity (Hart et al. 2004; Vasicek et al. 2005; De Vries et al. 2008). Other species such as the blind mole-rat (*Spalax ehrenbergi*) may even switch between nocturnality and diurnality (Tobler et al. 1998; Oster et al 2002). The silvery mole-rat, *Heliophobius argenteocinereus* is reported to be completely arrhythmic (Jarvis 1973).

The finding that *T. splendens* displays nocturnal activity is in contrast to a previous study conducted under natural conditions, where it was found to be foraging outside the burrow during the day (Jarvis 1973). However, several subterranean species have been reported to display 71

different activity patterns under controlled *versus* natural conditions. Both curoros (*Spalacopus cyanus*) and tuco-tucos (*Ctenomys knightii*) exhibit distinct nocturnal activity under controlled laboratory conditions (Begall et al. 2002; Valentinuzzi et al. 2009) whereas under natural conditions, animals are reported to be active during the day (Reig 1970; Tomotani et al. 2012). Furthermore, pocket gophers (*Geomys bursarius*) show a predictable activity pattern in the wild (Benedix 1994) whereas captive animals display no distinct activity patterns (Hickman 1984).

Since some of these species do feed above-ground, timing may be of more importance than for those that are more strictly subterranean. Predation risk may affect foraging behaviour in terms of timing and efficiency, as may food availability itself (Halle & Stenseth 2000). Predation is absent and food supply is non- limiting from the laboratory setting and may contribute significantly to differences in field and laboratory activity. Also, it has been suggested that soil temperature may act as a zeitgeber for behavioural activity rhythms in field studies (Šklíba et al. 2007; Lövy et al. 2013), however this is likely more pertinent to strictly subterranean mammals.

Under constant conditions, *T. splendens* displayed endogenous rhythms slightly shorter than 24 h, as is typical for nocturnal animals (Aschoff 1981). This is in congruence with the blind mole-rat and most of the African mole-rats, although a large amount of variability is present in the length of the circadian period (Tobler et al. 1998; Oosthuizen et al. 2003; Hart et al. 2004; Vasicek et al. 2005; Schöttner et al. 2006; De Vries et al. 2008). Tuco-tucos on the other hand display endogenous rhythmicity with a period much longer than 24 h (Valentinuzzi et al. 2009), while pocket gophers are arrhythmic with activity distributed throughout the 24 h period (Hickman 1984).

Upon inversion of the light cycle, the responding phase shift in *T. splendens* was exceptionally long. Similar results have been obtained for coruros and several species of African mole-rats, in response to a phase shift in the light cycle, activity was masked during the light hours and re-entrainment was rather slow (Begall et al. 2002; Oosthuizen et al. 2003; De Vries et al. 2008). The time of re-entrainment may be dependent on whether animals display nocturnal or diurnal activity, in diurnal chronotypes of the blind mole-rat *Spalax ehrenbergi* activity shifted immediately after a phase shift in the light cycle, whereas re-entrainment in nocturnal chronotypes spanned over almost two weeks (Tobler et al. 1998). Re-entrainment to an inversed light cycle confirms that *T. splendens* may have a preference for nocturnal activity under controlled laboratory conditions.

Another indication of their preference for nocturnal activity is apparent in the restricted active time when the length of the night is shortened. Onset of activity is after dark and offset again before the transition of dark to light, limiting activity completely to the dark hours of the light cycle. Activity was however, not expanded to spread throughout the time of darkness when the night length was expanded. In its natural habitat near the equator, the day length varies about one hour over the annual cycle, thus *T. splendens* would never encounter such drastic changes as has been tested. Normally, photoperiodic events related to day length would be of importance in seasonal breeding, and although *T. splendens* appears to be breeding seasonally, this is more related to rainfall than day length. Breeding coincides with peaks in the rain cycles, which has implications for food availability in terms of breeding success.

Tachyoryctes splendens shows a preference for nocturnal activity that is maintained through drastic phase shifts and shortening of the dark phase. Our study reiterates that circadian

investigations of subterranean species under controlled laboratory conditions may not reflect the true nature of circadian activity in the natural habitat since other environmental factors may influence active time in combination with the light dark cycle, which may have relevance for the survival of the animals.

Acknowledgements

Field work for sampling of the East African root rats in Tanzania was been sponsored by the University of Dar es Salaam (*UDSM:* World Bank Fund C1B1), Tanzania. We thank the Ministry of Natural Resources and Tourism (*TAWIRI and Wildlife Division*), Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries Development (*Zoosanitary section*) all in Tanzania for granting sampling and export permits of animals to the University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa. We gratefully acknowledge financial support from the South African Research Chair of Mammal Behavioural Ecology and Physiology from the DST-NRF to NCB. We are also grateful to the University of Pretoria for logistical support.

References

- ALAGAILI, A.N., O.B. MOHAMMED, N.C. BENNETT AND M.K. OOSTHUIZEN. 2012. Lights out, let's move about: Locomotory activity patterns of Wagner's gerbil from the desert of Saudi Arabia. African Zoology 47: 195–202.
- ASCHOFF, J. 1960. Exogenous and endogenous components in circadian rhythms. Cold Spring Harbour Symposium Quantitative Biology 25:11–28.

ASCHOFF, J. 1981. Biological rhythms. Handbook of Behavioral Neurobiology 4:1–563.

- BEGALL, S., DAAN, S., BURDA, H. AND G.J.F. OVERKAMP 2002. Activity patterns in a subterranean social rodent, *Spalacopus cyanus* (Octodontidae). Journal of Mammalogy 83: 153–158.
- BENEDIX, J.H. 1994. A predictable pattern of daily activity by the pocket gopher, *Geomys* bursarius. Animal Behaviour 48: 501–509.
- BENNETT, N.C., JARVIS, J.U.M. AND K.C. DAVIES. 1988. Daily and seasonal temperatures in the burrows of African rodent moles. South African Journal of Zoology 23:189–195.
- BENNETT, N.C. AND C.G. FAULKES. 2000. African Mole-rats: Ecology and Eusociality. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K.
- CHONG, N.W., CHAURASIA, S.S, HAQUE, R., KIEIN, D.C, AND P.M. IUVONE. 2003. Temporalspatial characterization of chicken clock genes: circadian expression in retina, pineal gland, and peripheral tissues. Journal of Neurochemistry 85: 851–860.
- DE VRIES, J.L., OOSTHUIZEN, M.K., SICHILIMA, A. M. AND N.C. BENNETT. 2008. Circadian rhythms of locomotor activity in Ansell's mole-rat: are mole-rat's clocks ticking? Journal of Zoology 276: 343–349.
- EDERY, I. 2000. Circadian rhythms in a nutshell. Physiological Genetics 3: 59–74
- HALLE, S. AND N.C. STENSETH. 2000. Activity patterns in small mammals: An ecological approach. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.
- HART, L., BENNETT, N.C., MALPAUX, B., CHIMIMBA, C.T. AND M.K. OOSTHUIZEN. 2004. The chronobiology of the Natal mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus natalensis*. Physiology and Behavior 82: 563–569.
- HICKMAN, G.C. 1984. Effects of temperature and light on the locomotory activity of captive pocket gophers. Acta Theriologica 29: 259–271.

- JARVIS, J.U.M. AND J.B. SALE. 1971. Burrowing and burrow patterns of East African mole-rats *Tachyoryctes*, *Heliophobius* and *Heterocephalus*. Journal of Zoology 163: 451–479.
- JARVIS, J.UM. 1973. Activity patterns in the mole-rats *Tachyoryctes splendens* and *Heliophobius argenteocinereus*. Zoologica Africana 8: 101–119.
- KO, C. H. AND J.S. TAKAHASHI. 2006. Molecular components of the mammalian circadian clock. Human Molecular Genetics 15: 271–277.
- KOKISO, A. AND A. BEKELE. 2008. Ecology of Common Mole-Rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* and its Impacts on farmlands at Angecha, Central Ethiopia. Acta Zoologica Sinica **54**: 30-35.
- KÖTT, O., ŠUMBERA, R. AND P. NĚMEC. 2010. Light perception in two strictly subterranean rodents: Life in the dark or blue? PLoS ONE 5(7), e11810 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011810.
- LÖVY, M., ŠKLÍBA, J. AND R. ŠUMBERA. 2013. Spatial and temporal activity patterns of the freeliving giant mole-rat (*Fukomys mechowii*), the largest social bathyergid. PLoS ONE 8(1): e55357. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055357.
- NEVO, E. 1999. Mosaic Evolution of subterranean mammals Regression progression and global convergence. Edited Nevo E. New York: Oxford University Press.
- OOSTHUIZEN, M.K., COOPER, H.M, AND N.C. BENNETT. 2003. Circadian rhythms of locomotor activity in solitary and social species of African mole-rats (family: Bathyergidae). Journal of Biological Rhythms 18: 481–490.
- OSTER, H., AVIVI, A., JOEL, A., ALBRECHT, U. AND E. NEVO. 2002. A Switch from Diurnal to Nocturnal Activity in *S. ehrenbergi*. Is Accompanied by an Uncoupling of Light Input and the Circadian Clock. Current Biology 12: 1919–1922.

- RADO, R., BRONCHTI, G., WOLLBERG, Z. AND J. TERKEL. 1992. Sensitivity to light of the blind mole rat – Behavioral and neuroanatomical study. Israel Journal of Zoology 38: 323–331.
- REPPERT, S.M. AND D.R. WEAVER. 2002. Coordination of circadian timing in mammals. Nature 418:935–941.
- RICCIO, A.P. AND B.D. GOLDMAN. 2000. Circadian rhythms of body temperature and metabolic rate in naked mole-rats. Physiology and Behavior 71: 15–22.
- SCHÖTTNER, K., OOSTHUIZEN, M.K, BROEKMAN, M. AND N.C. BENNETT. 2006. Circadian rhythms of locomotor activity in the Lesotho mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus* subspecies from Sani Pass, South Africa. Physiology and Behavior 89: 205–212.
- SIKES, R.S. AND W.L. GANNON. 2011. Guidelines of the American society of Mammalogists for the use of wild mammals in research. Journal of Mammalogy 92:235–254.
- ŠKLÍBA, J., ŠUMBERA, R., CHITAUKALI, W.N. AND H. BURDA. 2007. Determinants of daily activity patterns in a free-living Afrotropical solitary subterranean rodent. Journal of Mammalogy 88:1009–1016.
- TOBLER, I., HERRMANN, M., COOPER, H.M, NEGRONI, J., NEVO, E. AND P. ACHERMANN. 1998. Rest-activity rhythm of the blind mole rat, *Spalax ehrenbergi* under different lighting conditions. Behavioural Brain Research 96: 173–183.
- TOMOTANI, B. M., D.E. FLORES, P. TACHINARDI, J.D. PALIZA, G.A. ODA and V.S. VALENTINUZZI. 2012. Field and laboratory studies provide insights into the meaning of day-time activity in a subterranean rodent (*Ctenomys aff. Knighti*), the tuco-tuco. PloS one 7: e37918.

- VALENTINUZZI, V.S., G.A. ODA, J.F. ARAÚJO, AND M.R. RALPH. 2009. Circadian Pattern of Wheel-Running Activity of a South American Subterranean Rodent (*Ctenomys cf knightii*). Chronobiology International 26: 14–27.
- VASICEK, C.A., M.K. OOSTHUIZEN, H.M. COOPER, AND N.C. BENNETT. 2005. Circadian rhythms of locomotor activity in the subterranean Mashona mole rat, *Cryptomys darlingi*. Physiology and Behavior 84: 181–191.
- WEGENER, R.E., BEGALL, S. AND H. BURDA. 2006. Light perception in 'blind' subterranean Zambian mole-rats. Animal Behaviour 72:1021–1024.

Chapter 4: Reproductive status



Published on: *Journal of Zoology* (2013) *291*, 258–268.

Title: Reproduction in the East African root rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rodentia: Spalacidae) from Tanzania: the importance of rainfall

Authors: J.V. Katandukila^{1,2*}, C.G. Faulkes³, C.T. Chimimba¹ & N.C. Bennett^{1,4}

¹Mammal Research Institute, Department of Zoology & Entomology, University of Pretoria, Private Bag X20, Hatfield, 0028 South Africa

²Department of Zoology & Wildlife Conservation, College of Natural and Applied Sciences, University of Dar es Salaam, P.O. Box 35064, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

³School of Biological and Chemical Sciences, Queen Mary University of London, Mile End Road, London E1 4NS, United Kingdom

⁴South African Research Chair for Mammal Behavioural Ecology and Physiology, Department of Zoology & Entomology, University of Pretoria, Private Bag X20, Hatfield, 0028 South Africa

*Corresponding author

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

Abstract

The East African root rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rüppell, 1835) is a solitary subterranean rodent mole. The present study investigated breeding patterns in both sexes of T. splendens from data collected at monthly intervals over an entire calendar year. The study focused on the analyses from post mortem examination of males and females to assess the presence of foetuses, gonadal histology, reproductive tract morphometrics, measurement of gonadal steroids (plasma progesterone and oestradiol-17 β in females and testosterone in males) and field observations (i.e., the presence of infants, juveniles, sub-adults and lactating females). The objective of this study was to assess if the reproductive biology of the root rat reflected the bimodal pattern of rainfall that is characteristic of East Africa. Rainfall has been suggested to trigger breeding in many subterranean rodents and as a consequence, this study aimed to assess the relationship between rainfall and reproductive characteristics of T. splendens. Peaks in mean gonadal mass, increases in concentration of reproductive hormones and the presence of Graafian follicles and corpora lutea in the ovaries of females, and testes mass, seminiferous tubule diameter and testosterone titre mirrored the annual peaks of precipitation at the study area. Together with field observations of the temporal occurrence of pregnancies, infants, juveniles and sub-adults, the data show that T. spendens cues its breeding with the patterns of rainfall, such that offspring are born in the latter half of each rainy season, from April to July and November to December.

Keywords: *Tachyoryctes splendens*, solitary, hormones, histology, rainfall, radioimmunoassay, Tanzania, East Africa

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

Introduction

Reproduction in subterranean mammals is constrained by both the prevailing ecological conditions and the burrow environment (Bennett & Faulkes, 2000). The subterranean niche precludes the use of many common cues that are normally used to maximise reproductive success, for example, photoperiod is unlikely to be an important proximate cue, whereas rainfall in the form of changing soil moisture content is used to trigger breeding (Bennett & Faulkes, 2000; Herbst *et al.*, 2004; Hart *et al.*, 2006). Temperature is a potentially important environmental cue that mole-rats may utilise for their daily and seasonal activity patterns. The temperatures within mole-rat burrow systems are much less variable than those above ground; diurnal and seasonal fluctuations in temperature do occur but they are muted (Bennett *et al.*, 1988; Roper *et al.*, 2001).

Solitary subterranean rodents occurring at higher altitudes (particularly geomyids) exhibit marked breeding patterns and this may in part be due to the seasonal changes in temperature of their burrow environment (Kennerly, 1964). Rainfall is an important variable that can be detected underground since it softens the soil (if it reaches sufficient depths) and brings about subsequent plant growth and flushes of vegetation (Dennis & Marsh, 1997). Solitary subterranean bathyergid mole-rats time their breeding events with rainfall. These occur in winter rainfall regions and as a consequence mating occurs in the winter months, with young being born in the spring when food is abundant and the soil easily workable. This also facilitates dispersal and construction of independent burrow systems (Bennett & Jarvis, 1988; Herbst *et al.*, 2004; Hart *et al.*, 2006). Interestingly, the silvery mole-rat, *Heliophobius argenteocinereus* from the tropics differs in that it breeds seasonally, but not synchronously with rainfall patterns (Šumbera *et al.*, 2003).

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

Many subterranean rodents are strictly solitary, highly xenophobic and vigorously defend the burrow system in which they reside (Bennett & Jarvis, 1988; Gazit & Terkel, 1998; Šumbera *et al.*, 2003). In solitary African mole-rats (Family Bathyergidae), courtship and subsequent copulation is brief and requires that the highly aggressive and xenophobic behaviours that are characteristic of these species are relaxed during these periods (Bennett & Jarvis, 1988; Narins *et al.*, 1992). Seismic signalling occurs with the different sexes announcing their presence and sexual status displayed by a particular frequency of foot drumming (Bennett & Jarvis, 1988; Narins *et al.*, 1992; Bennett *et al.*, 1999). Thus plural occupancy of the female's burrow system only occurs when courtship and mating is taking place and also when the female has young (Bennett & Jarvis, 1988; Bennett *et al.*, 1991).

All solitary southern African species of bathyergid mole-rats are seasonal breeders with their reproduction acutely tied to rainfall (Bennett & Jarvis, 1988; Herbst *et al.*, 2004; Sandwyk & Bennett, 2005; Hart *et al.*, 2006). In marked contrast, the majority of social bathyergids reproduce throughout the year (Bennett *et al.*, 1988, Sichilima *et al.*, 2008; 2011). Two social species, one from a winter rainfall region, the common mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus hottentotus* (Spinks *et al.*, 1997; 1999) and one from a summer rainfall region, the highveld mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus pretoriae* (van Rensburg *et al.*, 2002) are unusual in exhibiting seasonal reproduction, with the former also occurring sympatrically with solitary species the Cape dune mole-rat, *Bathyergus suillus* (Bennett & Faulkes, 2000).

A number of studies of reproduction in solitary subterranean rodents have been conducted, but many of these have focussed on laboratory housed animals (Altuna *et al.*, 1991; Bennett *et al.*, 1991; Gazit *et al.*, 1996) given the difficulties of studying subterranean rodents in the field (Rado & Terkel, 1989; Rado *et al.*, 1998). The reproductive biology of a number of 82

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

families of rodent moles have been studied and include *Geomys* (Wood, 1949; Vaughan, 1962), *Cannomys* (Eisenberg & Maliniak, 1973), *Thomomys* (Andersen, 1978), *Georychus* and *Bathyergus* (Bennett *et al.*, 1991), *Spalax* (Shanas *et al.*, 1995; Gazit *et al.*, 1998), *Ctenomys* (Weir, 1974; Camin, 2010) and *Heliophobius* (Šumbera *et al.*, 2003). Despite these, very little has been published on the East African root rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Family Spalacidae). Jarvis (1973) investigated a Kenyan population of *Tachyoryctes* using field observations as well as the examination of gonadal histology from adult females. She reported that *T. splendens* has two breeding opportunities approximately 173 days apart; the gestation period was estimated to be 38.5 days with the time interval between birth and weaning of around 43 days, and the annual recruitment rate to be 2.73 young with an average of 2.1 litters produced annually from a single female.

To date, there has been no in-depth study on the reproductive biology of both male and female *Tachyoryctes* and this study addresses this deficiency on a population from Tanzania, East Africa where the species that is considered to be an agricultural pest. In this study we aimed to assess the reproductive biology of *T. splendens* using post-mortem data and investigation of plasma steroids from animals sampled on a monthly basis for an entire calendar year, as has been done for other subterranean mammals (e.g., Wood, 1949; Herbst *et al.*, 2004; Schoeman *et al.*, 2004; Hart *et al.*, 2006; de Bruin *et al.*, 2012). We predicted that peaks in reproductive activity and pregnancy would coincide with the bimodal rainfall patterns characteristic in East Africa, namely the long wet season from February to early June and the shorter wet season in September, October and November.

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

Materials and Methods

Tachyoryctes splendens were sampled from the Mamba Komakundi village which is located on the foot slopes of Mount Kilimanjaro in Moshi Rural District, north-east Tanzania, East Africa (03°16.54′ S, 037°32.49′ E; 1495 m above sea level). The study was conducted over 12 consecutive months, from January to December 2011. The study site is classified as agriecological zone with highly fertile volcanic soils supporting a variety of food and cash crops (Kilimanjaro Regional Profile [KRP], 1998). The study area has two rainy seasons (Figure 1) with a mean annual rainfall of 1250 mm; a longer period of rainfall (i.e., heavy rainfall) occurs in the latter half of February, March, April, and May while a shorter period of rainfall occurs in late September, October and November. The dry months are December, January, June, July, and August (KRP, 1998). June and July are the transition months between the heavy rains and dry season. Annual average temperature ranges from 15°- 40° C with high humidity during March, April, May and October (KRP, 1998).



Figure 1: Mean monthly rainfall (mm) of Marangu ward, Kilimanjaro region Tanzania from January to December 2011. Data were obtained from the Tanzania Meteorology Agency (TMA): a = onset of heavy rainfall (wet season 1), b = offset of heavy rainfall, c = onset of short rains (wet season 2), d = offset of short rains, 1 = heavy rains, 2 = short rains. July, August and January are driest months.

Animals were sampled from areas subject to widespread crop destruction by *T*. *splendens*, and were sampled from their burrows by either using Hickman live traps or by manual excavation of burrow systems (Hart *et al.*, 2006; Sichilima *et al.*, 2008). Ten adult female and ten adult male *T. splendens* were sampled each month for one calendar year resulting in a total of 240 animals (i.e., 120 adult males and 120 adult females). Burrows for sampling animals were selected randomly (Sichilima *et al.*, 2008; 2011). Animals were euthanized with an overdose of chloroform (Merck, Johannesburg, South Africa). Following expiration, standard

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

body measurements were recorded including body mass, head-body length, tail length and the length of hind foot (Hart *et al.*, 2006).

The external reproductive characteristics such as presence of teats and a perforate vagina were recorded in females. Blood was drawn from the heart of the sacrificed animal using heparinized syringes and centrifuged at 500 g for 10 minutes. Plasma was separated using a pipette and subsequently stored at -20° C. Gonads (testes/ovaries) were removed and fixed in Bouin's fixative for 18 hrs before storing in 70% ethanol. The reproductive status of females was further assessed by recording either the presence or absence of embryos/foetuses after postmortem dissection. Lactating females were identified by assessing the presence of prominent teats and occupancy of either juvenile(s) or infant(s) in their burrows.

Juveniles and sub-adults of both sexes were recorded on sampling to assess recruitment to the population of *T. splendens* from reproductive animals sampled, but their blood and gonads were not included in the hormonal and histological analyses of this study because their reproductive systems were not fully developed. Categorisation of individuals into either juveniles or sub-adults was based on tooth eruption, based on the right maxillary molar tooth-row using the method described by Taylor *et al.*, (1985), with modification appropriate to the specific dental formula of *T. splendens* (1/1, 0/0, 0/0, 3/3; Katandukila *et al.*, submitted). Infants were classed by having either two cheek teeth or less, with no eruption of the third tooth, and had less fur present on their body than juveniles. Juveniles were classed as having two fully-developed cheek teeth and an erupting third molar, and still inhabited the maternal burrow. Sub-adults had three fully-developed teeth and occupied an independent burrow adjacent to maternal burrow systems with immature reproductive organs (i.e., small testes and ovaries).

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

Histology: Mass (g) of fixed gonads was recorded using a Sartorius scale (Zeiss, Germany), while length (mm) and width (mm) were measured using a pair of digital calipers (Mitutoyo American Corporation Aurora, Illinois). Testicular and ovarian volumes were evaluated using the formula for the volume of an ellipsoid: $V = 4/3\pi ab^2$ where a = half the maximum length and b = half the maximum width as detailed by Woodall & Skinner (1989). All measured gonads were sequentially dehydrated in increasing concentrations of ethanol baths and embedded in a cube of paraffin wax before being sectioned at a thickness of 7 µm using a rotary microtome (820 Spencer, American Optical, Scientific Instrument Division, Buffalo, New York, U.S.A.). Gonad sections were mounted on microscopic slides after being dipped in warm water mixed with gelatine as an adhesive. Mounted sections were dried in an oven at 36° C for about 72 hrs and subsequently stained using Ehrlich's haematoxylin and counter-stained with eosin (Drury & Wallington, 1967). Stained sections were covered by a slide cover-slip and glued with resin solution (Microscopy Entellan glue, Germany) as adhesive and then dried in an oven at 36° C for about 48 hrs.

Testicular histology: 30 randomly selected sections from the mid region of the testes were chosen in order to measure the diameter of seminiferous tubules with a light microscope (Diaplan, Ernst Leitz Wetzlar GmbH, Germany). Seminiferous tubules were then photographed at $10 \times$ magnification with a digital camera (Moticam 1000 1.3 M Pixel USB 2.0, Motic China Group, LTD., Xiamen, China) attached to a microscope. The diameters (µm) of 3600 seminiferous tubules were measured using Motic Images Plus 2.0ML (Motic China Group, Ltd., Xiamen, China). It is assumed that greater diameter of the seminiferous tubule indicate active testes with higher production of spermatozoa.

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

Ovarian histology: Ovarian sections were examined under a light microscope at 100×, 200× and 400×magnification (van Rensburg *et al.*, 2002; Hart *et al.*, 2006). Each ovary was sectioned in its entirety and sections were examined in consecutive order using a light microscope and checked for the presence of primordial, primary, secondary, tertiary and Graafian follicles as well as corpora lutea following Bloom & Fawcett (1962), van Rensburg *et al.* (2002) and Hart *et al.* (2006). Follicles of each developmental stage per section were counted, avoiding double counts by matching follicles split between consecutive sections using the method of Borgeest *et al.* (2004). Sections were photographed using a digital camera (Moticam 1000 1.3 M Pixel USB 2.0, Motic China Group, LTD., Xiamen, China) attached to a light microscope.

Radioimmunoassay: In the laboratory, plasma from female animals was assayed for progesterone and oestradiol-17 β while plasma from males was assayed for testosterone using Coat-A-Count kits following the manufacturer's specifications. All hormone assays were validated for use in mole-rats as described in Bennett *et al.* (1994) and the total hormonal concentrations were determined using a gamma counter.

Progesterone: A volume of 100µL of plasma was dispensed in duplicate into polypropylene tubes following the Coat-A-Count progesterone kit (Progesterone Diagnostics Products Corporation, U.S.A.) procedures. The Coat-A-Count progesterone antiserum is highly specific for progesterone with a particularly low cross-reactivity (< 1%) to other naturally occurring steroids except in 5 α -Pregnan-3, 20-dione (9%), 17 α -Hydroxyprogesterone (3.4%), β -pregnan-3, 20-dione (3.2%) and 11-Deoxycorticosterone (2.2%). A blood plasma sample with a high concentration of progesterone was double-diluted using the assay buffer as a matrix 1:1 to 1:8 then assayed. The slopes of serial double dilution and standard curve were compared to check for

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

parallelism (Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA): F = 2.54; n = 4; P > 0.05) following a log-logit transformation of the data (Chard, 1987). The intra-assay coefficient of variation for the plasma pool was 2% whereas the inter-assay coefficient was 9.9% and sensitivity of the assay was 1.35 nmol/L.

Oestradiol -17 β : Oestradiol -17 β assays were performed as described by Herbst *et al.* (2004) using a Coat-a-Count oestradiol kit (Diagnostic Products Corporation). Cross-reactivity of the antibody to all naturally occurring steroids was 10% with oestrone, <5% with oestriol, oestrone- β -D-glucoronide, oestone-3-sulphate, d-equilenin, 17 β -oestradiol-3-monosulphate, testosterone and androsterone. The assay was validated for plasma of *T. splendens* by testing the slope of the curve produced using serial dilutions of un-extracted mole-rat plasma obtained from a female with high oestradiol concentrations (over the range 1:1 to 1:32) against the standard curve. After logit-log transformation of the data (Chard, 1987), slopes of the lines were compared and found not to differ significantly from the reference preparation (ANCOVA: *F* = 0.72; *n* = 6; *P* > 0.05). The intra-assay coefficient of variation (CV) for repeated determinations of a quality control was 8.3% and sensitivity of the assay was 10pg/ml.

Testosterone: A volume of 50 µl of plasma was dispensed in duplicate into polypropylene tubes following Coat-A-Count Total Testosterone kit (Testosterone Diagnostics Products Corporation, U.S.A.) procedures. The Coat-A-Count Total Testosterone antiserum is highly specific for testosterone with cross-reactivity for 19-Nortestosterone (22%), 4-Estren-17-ol-3-one (20%) and 11-Ketotestosterone (16%) whereas 5 α -Dihydrotestosterone, 19-Hydroxyandrostenedione and other steroids has low cross-reactivity of < 3.5%. A blood plasma sample with highest testosterone concentration was double diluted from 1:1 to 1:32 then assayed. The slopes of serial double-dilution and that of standard curve was compared to the double-dilutions to check for 89

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

parallelism (ANCOVA: F = 2.87; n = 6; P > 0.05) following a log-logit transformation of the data (Chard, 1987). The intra-assay coefficient of variation for the plasma pool was 3.2% whereas the inter-assay coefficient was 4.7% and sensitivity of the assay was 1.39 nmol/L.

Data analyses

The number of young produced from adult females per annum was determined using the following population equation from Jarvis (1973) with modification:

L=Y/T where
$$T = \frac{G+W}{1-(\frac{n}{N})}$$

Where L= litter(s) born to one adult female per annum

Y= days in the year (≈ 365 days)

T= duration of one breeding cycle

G= Gestation period (\approx 38.5 days)

W= time between birth and weaning (\approx 43 day)

 $\frac{n}{N}$ = Proportional of number of adult females in the sample neither pregnant nor lactating to the total number of females in the sample

Descriptive and statistical analyses were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (*SPSS*; Schneider, 1988) version 20 (*IBM*® *SPSS*® Statistics 20) statistical packages and Excel 2007. The relationship between variables such as gonadal mass, volumes and rainfall were evaluated using Pearson's correlation analysis. Normality of data within each month was initially tested using Kolmogorov-Smirnov (KS) test (Lilliefors, 1967) and parametric tests were used in subsequent analyses after the normality of the data were confirmed. Monthly variation in hormone concentrations and gonadal metrics was investigated using analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Student Newman Keuls (S-N-K: testosterone, progesterone and gonadal metrics) and Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD: oestradiol-17β) to evaluate

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

significant differences *post hoc*. All descriptive statistics in the illustrations are presented as mean \pm one standard deviation (SD) except for rainfall.

Results

The plasma and gonads of 120 adult males and 120 adult females were sampled, while 5 pups and 121 juveniles were sampled in maternal burrows. Among juveniles, 60 were females and 61 were males. Juvenile and infant samples increased from April to May, thereafter decreasing from June to July, none in February, August, and September, but increasing again from October to December. Samples of juveniles and infants were thus restricted to the mid and latter end of peaks of rains (Figure 1). 83 sub-adults were sampled of which 43 were females and 40 were males, they were sampled in their burrow systems which were adjacent to their maternal burrows. Of the 120 adult females, 32.97% (n = 40) were lactating whereas 16.20% (n = 19) were pregnant. Pregnancies increased from February to March and decreased from April, June and July then increased again from September to early November (Figure 2). Pregnancies in June and July were considered as late pregnancies as they occurred when many other females were lactating rather than pregnant. Post-mortem dissection of pregnant females revealed that three females were carrying 2 foetuses, while the remaining 16 were pregnant with a singleton (giving a mean litter size of 1.1 pups). With two conception periods separated by 166 days, fitting the parameters into the equation of Jarvis (1973), the mean reproductive output was calculated as 2.2 pups per female per year.

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology



Figure 2: The mean \pm SD number of pregnancies observed from post mortem examination in female *Tachyoryctes splendens* (n = 120) sampled from Tanzania from January to December 2011: * = Months having the highest number of pregnancies.

Histology

Testicular metrics: Testicular mass increased from February to March and decreased from April to August then increased again from September to October with the lightest testes mass observed in August (Figure 3). The mass of testes was significantly different between months ($F_{(11,108)} = 7.38$; n = 120; P = 0.0001) with months of wet seasons having heavier testes than dry months

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology
$(F_{(1,118)} = 47.08; n = 120; P = 0.0001 = 120)$. The volumes of testes (n = 120) were highest in January but decreased from February to April and increased again in August and then decreased from September to November; however, volumes increased again in December (Figure 3). Testicular volumes were significantly higher during non-breeding than breeding months $(F_{(1,118)} = 12.34; n = 120; P = 0.010)$ inversely to testicular mass. Testicular mass increased in parallel with rainfall (Pearson's correlation: r = 0.78; n = 12; P = 0.001) in contrast to testicular volume (Pearson's correlation: r = -0.69; n = 12; P = 0.004).

The mean diameter of seminiferous tubules (n = 3600) was greatest in September, October and November; whereas the lowest mean diameter was in January and August (Figure 3). Variation in the diameter of seminiferous tubules between months was significant ($F_{(11,3588)} =$ 118.72; n = 3600; P = 0.0001) with breeding months (i.e., wet seasons) showing widened diameter of seminiferous tubules than non-breeding months (i.e., dry season: $F_{(1,3598)} = 185.77$; n = 3600; P = 0.0001). The width of seminiferous tubules was positively correlated with peaks of rainfall (Pearson's correlation: r = 0.68; n = 12; P = 0.005).



Figure 3: Monthly measurements (mean \pm SD) of testicular volume (A), mass (B) and diameter of seminiferous tubules (C) in male *Tachyoryctes splendens* (n = 120) sampled in Tanzania from January to December 2011). * = Months of the greatest measurements

Ovarian metrics: The mass of the ovaries was greatest in February, March and April; and again in September, October and November with the lowest mean ovarian mass occurring in August (Figure 4). Ovarian mass varied between breeding and non-breeding months ($F_{(1,118)} = 9.88$; n =120; P = 0.002). Ovarian volumes were higher in January, March, August, November and December (Figure 4). Ovarian volumes varied significantly between months ($F_{(11,108)} = 3.76$; n =120; P = 0.0001) whereas non-breeding months (dry season) had highest volumes than breeding months. The mass of ovaries increased with increasing rainfall (Pearson's Correlation: r = 0.61; n =12; P = 0.021) and was inversely proportional to ovarian volume (Pearson's correlation: r = -0.68; n = 12; P = 0.005).

Follicle development varied over the year, and as expected, primordial follicles were recorded in all ovaries (n = 120), with no significant variation in number over the year ($F_{(11,108)} =$ 0.94; n = 120; P = 0.36). The number of primary follicles was highest for *T. splendens* sampled in August and lowest in December. Secondary follicles showed the highest numbers in the animals sampled in January, March and April and lowest in May and August (Table 1); however, the number of tertiary follicles was highest in January, February and June with none recorded in August and in December. February and September had the greatest numbers of Graafian follicles while January, May and August had fewer Graafian follicles with none in November and in December (Figure 4). The number of corpora lutea were highest in March than in February, April, June and July with none observed in January, May, August and December. The maturation of Graafian follicles to corpora lutea matched the peaks of rainfall (Figures 1 and 4).

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology



Figure 4: Monthly fluctuations (Mean \pm SD) in ovarian volume (A), mass (B) and number of Graafian follicles and Corpora lutea (C) in female *Tachyoryctes splendens* (n = 120) sampled in Tanzania from January to December 2011; (C), hatched bars = Graafian follicles and solid black bars = Corpora lutea: * = Months of the greatest measurements.

Radioimmunoassay

Testosterone: The mean concentration of testosterone was highest in November and lowest in January and August (Figure 5). Concentration of testosterone varied significantly between months ($F_{(11,108)} = 8.15$; n = 120; P = 0.001) whereas higher concentrations were observed in breeding than in non-breeding months. The concentration of testosterone in male *T. splendens* increased during the wet season and was lowest during the dry season with maxima coinciding with peaks of precipitation (see Figures 1 & 5). There was a positive correlation between rainfall and testosterone concentration (r= 0.58; n = 12; P = 0.03).



Figure 5: The concentration (mean \pm SD) of testosterone (ng/mL) in male *Tachyoryctes* splendens (n = 120) sampled in Tanzania from January to December 2011: * = Months having the highest concentrations of testosterone.

Progesterone: The concentration of progesterone increased from February, March and April while the lowest occurred during the dry season in January, May and August (Figure 6). Progesterone concentration differed significantly between months ($F_{(11,108)} = 23.15$; n = 120; P =

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

97

0.0001). There was a significant positive correlation between progesterone concentration and rainfall (r = 0.69; n = 12; P = 0.004) mirroring the periods with the highest number of pregnancies (Figure 2).

Oestradiol-176: Oestradiol-17 β concentration was significantly higher during the rains in February and March as well as in September and October with the lowest concentration observed in the dry month of May (Kruskal Wallis test: $H_{(11)} = 23.51$; n = 10; K = 12; P = 0.02). Although these elevations in oestradiol-17 β mirrored rainfall peaks, the correlation was not significantly different (r = 0.06; n = 12; P = 0.67; Fig. 6).



Figure 6: Monthly concentrations (mean \pm SD) of Oestradiol-17 β (A) and progesterone (B) in female *Tachyoryctes splendens* (n = 120) sampled in Tanzania from January to December 2011: * = Months having significant the highest concentrations.

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

98

Discussion

Post-mortem examination of a variety of reproductive parameters in *T. splendens* from Tanzania shows that it clearly synchronises its breeding with periods of precipitation. The reproductive tract morphometrics, gonadal histology and measurement of gonadal steroids revealed two distinct peaks of breeding that mirrored rainfall peaks at the study area. Plural occupancy of burrows generally only occurs either when adult male and female come together to mate or when females are caring for their young (Jarvis, 1973; Flynn 1990; Nowak, 1999). Coincident peaks of rainfall, oestradiol-17 β and the presence of Graafian follicles in February, March, September and October indicate that female *T. splendens* ovulate during the onset of the wet months. Likewise, male *T. splendens* also show peaks in concentration of testosterone, have larger seminiferous tubule diameters and heavier testicular mass during the wet months. This suggests that it is during wet months that adult males and females prepare for mating, the raised testosterone levels coincident with the onset of the rains.

The mating period may therefore reflect increased territoriality and active mate searching as has been reported in other solitary subterranean mammals during breeding (see Bennett & Jarvis, 1988; Bennett *et al.*, 1991; Narins *et al.*, 1992). Furthermore, intra-male competition may be enhanced during this period as males actively seek female mates, as has been reported for the African mole-rat *Bathyergus suillus*, which may fight to death to acquire mates (Bennett & Faulkes, 2000; Hart *et al.*, 2006). As with other subterranean rodents, adult *T. splendens* of both sexes synchronise the maturation of their reproductive cells to increase the chances of conception before the end of wet months so that when young are born food is abundant. This has also been reported for gophers, *Geomys* sp. (Wood, 1949; Villa-Cornejo & Engeman, 1995), the Middle Eastern mole-rat, *Spalax ehrenbergi* (Heth *et al.*, 1987; Rado *et al.*, 1987), African mole-rats,

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

Bathyergus suillus and *Georychus capensis* (Bennett & Jarvis, 1988; Sandwyk & Bennett, 2005; Hart *et al.*, 2006), *Bathyergus janetta* (Herbst *et al.*, 2004) and the tuco-tuco, *Ctenomys talarum* (Fanjul *et al.*, 2006). In such instances, rainfall results in soils becoming softer so that digging can occur and the caching and harvesting of both subterranean (geophytes) and sprouting above-ground vegetation can be utilised by the animals during these periods of resource abundance.

The presence of corpora lutea, higher circulating levels of progesterone and greater ovarian mass through the period when rainfall is high reflects the observations of pregnancies during this time (February-March and September-October). Although the majority of conceptions occurred at the onset and subsequent pregnancies were through the period of heavy rains, interestingly, some pregnancies were also recorded at the end of heavy rains (June and July months). These pregnancies possibly represent a period when an opportunistic chance to mate occurs as a consequence of lower constraints in mate acquisition, as suggested in other studies of solitary mammals (Emlen & Oring, 1977; Schulte-Hostedde *et al.*, 2001; Isaac & Johnson, 2003). The late season pregnancies were validated by observations of a few new born pups at the end of June, early July and January. Although food resources might be more limiting during these months of the dry season (June, July and January) the adult females may cache food within their burrow and female *T. splendens* extend their burrows to increase foraging efficiency particularly when they have pups.

The estimation of 2 litters born per annum per adult female *T. splendens* corresponds well with the findings of Jarvis (1973). Jarvis (1973) documented two conception cycles of 173 days apart and the successful births of 2.1 litters per adult female, whereas in this study there is a similar cycle of 166 days with the birth of an average 2.2 litters per adult female a year. However, post-mortem observations revealed that three pregnant *T. splendens* had twin foetuses, 100

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

although pregnancy with a single foetus was by far the most common condition in pregnant females. Birth of pups during periods of good rainfall ensures the acquisition of quality food resources for lactating females and their young as the soil is softened and burrowing is made more efficient. Since precipitation is a major influence for the re-sprouting, regeneration and an overall increase in plants succession and subsequently increased vegetation cover (Bennie, 1991; Barber, 1995; Pregitzer & King, 2005), the numbers of pup births in *T. Splendens* over the periods of rainfall might be an ultimate factor for timing of their births. This observation is parallel to reports documented for bathyergids, geomyids, ctenomyids, Middle East spalacids and other arboreal small mammals (Vaughan, 1962; Andersen, 1978; Bronson, 1985; Lovegrove & Jarvis, 1986; Bennett & Jarvis, 1988; Ims, 1990; Bennett *et al.*, 1991; Malizia & Busch, 1997; Bennett & Faulkes, 2000; Herbst *et al.* 2004; Camin, 2010; Tassino & Passos, 2010).

Juvenile and/or sub-adult *T. splendens* were recorded throughout the year in this study demonstrating that although litters are most often a single pup, *T. splendens* has a steady recruitment rate, and that predation pressure may be low and competition for key resources such as food and space also low (Jarvis & Sale, 1971; Hickman, 1983; Kokiso & Bekele, 2008). To ensure young are adequately provisioned, female *T. splendens* construct a more complex burrow system (length range = 5.85-13.51 m; fractal dimension range = 1.16-1.29) compared to male burrows (length range = 4.51-8.50 m long; fractal dimension range = 1.14-1.24) (Katandukila *et al.*, submitted). The increased burrow length and fractal dimension ensures efficient foraging, and is similar to observations in females of other solitary subterranean rodents (Bennett & Faulkes, 2000; Herbst *et al.*, 2004; Sandwyk & Bennett, 2005; Hart *et al.*, 2006).

In this study, the dispersal of sub-adult *T. spendens* peaked during rainy season months. This observation implies that the timing of dispersal of sub-adult *T. splendens* from their natal 101

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

burrow systems occurs at the onset of next rains to ensure that the offspring have maximal vegetation and food resources available for independence when setting up their own tunnel system. This breeding strategy and the associated dispersal from natal burrows have been well-documented for other solitary subterranean rodents (e.g., *Georychus capensis*: Jarvis & Bennett, 1991; *Bathyergus* species: Bennett & Faulkes, 2000; Herbst *et al.*, 2004). The dispersal of sub-adults during periods of rain when food is plentiful (Rado *et al.*, 1992; Le Galliard *et al.*, 2012) and the soil is workable (Williams & Cameron, 1984) enables sub-adult *T. splendens* to successfully establish their own independent burrow system (Bennett *et al.*, 1991; Rado *et al.*, 1992; Selås 1997; Herbst *et al.*, 2004; Maher & Burger, 2011).

Breeding seasonally enables animals to time their reproductive events such that young are born when environmental conditions are favourable and they can maximise their reproductive success (Ims, 1990). Photoperiod plays a very important role as a proximate factor in triggering reproductive events in above-ground organisms with developed visual systems, living at higher latitudes (Lofts, 1970, Karsch *et al.*, 1984; Nelson *et al.*, 1998), but its role in the seasonality of breeding in visually regressed subterranean rodents is probably either limited or not important at all. Spalacid mole-rats are known to respond to photoperiod, such as effecting thermoregulation in *S. ehrenbergi* (Haim *et al.* 1983). African mole-rats also entrain their locomotory activity rhythms to different lighting schedules (Oosthuizen *et al.*, 2003; Hart *et al.*, 2004; de Vries *et al.*, 2008), but it is unlikely that it is important in reproduction. Rainfall is probably the most important environmental factor acting on subterranean mammals in that it can be detected underground since it softens the soil (if a sufficient amount falls), and brings about subsequent plant growth and flushes of vegetation (Dennis & Marsh, 1997). All solitary subterranean southern African bathyergid mole-rats studied to date time their breeding events with rainfall.

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

These occur in winter rainfall regions and as a consequence mating occurs in the winter months, with young being born in the spring when food is abundant and the soil easily workable. This also facilitates dispersal and construction of independent burrow systems (Bennett & Jarvis, 1988; Herbst *et al.*, 2004; Hart *et al.*, 2006). Interestingly, the silvery mole-rat, *Heliophobius argenteocinereus* from the tropics differs in that it breeds seasonally, but not synchronously with rainfall patterns (Šumbera *et al.*, 2003). Likewise, *S. ehrenbergi* exhibits seasonal reproduction with breeding occurring in the winter months where they likely cue into rainfall (Heth *et al.*, 1995).

Our findings from the reproductive hormone profiles, histological assessment of gonadal characteristics and field observations have all clearly revealed that *T. splendens* is a seasonal breeder having two periods of heightened reproductive activity within a year, which is consistent with the findings of studies undertaken in Kenyan by Jarvis (1973). *Tachyoryctes splendens* from Tanzania shows peaks of reproductive hormone concentrations, pregnancies, births and sub-adult dispersals concomitant with peaks of precipitation. This suggests that precipitation is the key factor which triggers their seasonal reproductive activity and pregnancy would coincide with the bimodal rainfall patterns characteristic in East Africa, namely the long wet season from February to early June and the shorter dry season in September, October and November.

Acknowledgements

This work was sponsored by the University of Dar es Salaam (UDSM-World Bank Fund {C1B1}), Tanzania. We thank the Tanzania Commission for Science and Technology (COSTECH), Ministry of Natural Resources and Tourism (Tanzania Wildlife Research Institute

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

(*TAWIRI*) and Wildlife Division) and Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries Development (Zoosanitary section) (all in Tanzania) for granting permits to conduct research in Tanzania and to export samples for further analysis at the University of Pretoria in South Africa. NCB acknowledges funding from his South African Department of Science and technology (DST)/National Research Foundation (NRF) SARChI Chair for Mammal Behavioural Ecology and Physiology, University of Pretoria.

References

- Altuna, C.A., Franscoli, G. & Izquierdo, G. (1991). Copulatory pattern of *Ctenomys pearsoni* (Rodentia, Octodontidae) from Balneario Solís, Uruguay. *Mammal.* **55:** 316–318.
- Andersen, D.C. (1978). Observations on reproduction, growth, and behavior of the Northern Pocket Gopher (*Thomomys talpoides*). J. Mammal. **59:** 418–422.
- Barber, S.A. (1995). Soil nutrient bioavailability: A mechanistic approach. Wiley, New York.
- Bennett, N.C., Jarvis, J.U.M. & Davies, K.C. (1988). Daily and seasonal temperatures in the burrows of African rodent moles. *S. Afr. J. Zool.* **23**: 189–196.
- Bennett, N.C. & Faulkes., C.G. (2000). *African Mole-rats: Ecology and Eusociality*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K.
- Bennett, N.C., Faulkes, C. G. & Jarvis, J.U.M. (1999). Socially induced infertility, incest avoidance and the monopoly of reproduction in cooperatively breeding African mole-rats, family Bathyergidae. *Adv. Stud. Behav.* **28**: 75–114.
- Bennett, N.C. & Jarvis, J.U.M. (1988). The reproductive biology of the Cape mole rat, *Georychus capensis* (Rodentia, Bathyergidae). J. Zool. Lond. **214:** 95–106.

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

104

- Bennett, N.C., Jarvis, J.U.M., Aguilar, G. H. & McDaid, E.J. (1991). Growth and development in six species of African mole-rats (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). J. Zool. Lond. 225: 13–26.
- Bennett, N.C., Jarvis, J.U.M., Millar, R.P., Sasano, H. & Ntshinga, K.V. (1994). Reproductive suppression in eusocial *Cryptomys damarensis*: Colonies social-induced infertility in females. J. Zool. Lond. 233: 617–630.
- Bennie, A.T. (1991). Growth and mechanical impedance. In *Plant roots: the hidden half*: 393–414 (*Y. Waisel, A. Eshel & U. Kafkafi*, (eds). New York: Marcel Dekker.
- Bloom, W. & Fawcett, D.W. (1962). A textbook of histology. 8th ed. WB Saunders Co., Philadelphia.
- Borgeest, C., Miller, K.P., Gupta, R., Greenfeld, C., Hrushka, K.S, Hoyer, P., & Flaws, J.A. (2004). Methoxychlor-induced atresia in the mouse involves Bcl-2 family members, but not gonadotropins or estradiol. *Biol. Reprod.* **70**: 1828–1835.
- Bronson, F.H. (1985). Mammalian reproduction: an ecological perspective. *Biol.Reprod.* **32:** 1-26.
- Camin, S.R. (2010). Gestation, maternal behavior, growth and development in the subterranean caviomorph rodent *Ctenomys mendocinus* (Rodentia, Hystricognathi, Ctenomyidae).
 Anim. Biol. 60: 79–95.
- Chard, T. (1987). An introduction to radioimmunoassay and related techniques. Amsterdam Elsevier, The Netherlands.
- De Vries, J.L., Oosthuizen, M.K., Sichilima, A.M. & Bennett, N.C. (2008). Circadian rhythms of locomotor activity in Ansell's mole-rat: are mole-rat's clocks ticking?. *J. Zool. Lond.* 276: 343–349.

- De Bruin, P.R., Viljoen, H., Sichilima, A.M. & Bennett, N.C. (2012). Socially induced infertility in Ansell's mole-rat: are there depressed hormone levels in non-reproductive males and females? *J. Zool. Lond.* **286:** 15–21.
- Dennis, A.J. & Marsh, H. (1997). Seasonal reproduction in musky rat-kangeroos, *Hypsiprymnodon moschatus*: a response to changes in resource availability. *Wildl. Res.* 24: 561–578.
- Drury, R.A.B. Wallington., E.A. (1967). *Carleton's histological technique*. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Eisenberg, J.F. & Maliniak, E. (1973). Breeding and captive maintenance of the Lesser bamboo rat *Cannomys badius*. *Int. Zool. Year Book* **13:** 204–207.
- Emlen, S.T. & Oring, L.W. (1977). Ecology, sexual selection, and the evolution of mating systems. *Science* 197: 215–223.
- Fanjul, M.S., Zenuto, R.R. & Busch, C. (2006). Seasonality of breeding in wild tuco-tucos, *Ctenomys talarum* in relation to climate and food availability. *Act. Theriol.* 51: 283–293.
- Flynn, L. 1990. The natural history of rhizomyid rodents. In: E. Nevo & O. A. Reig (ed.) Evolution of Subterranean Mammals at the Organismal and Molecular Levels. p 155-183. Wiley-Liss, New York.
- Gazit, I., Shanas, U. & Terkel, J. (1996). First successful breeding of the blind mole rat(*Spalax ehrenbergi*) in captivity. *I. J. Zool.* **42:** 3–13.
- Gazit, I., Terkel, A. & Terkel, J. (1998). Breeding and husbandry of the Blind mole rat (*Nannospalax ehrenbergi*) at the Zoology Department, Tel Aviv University. *Intl. Zool. Year Book* 36: 246–255.

- Haim, A., Heth, G., Pratt, H. & Nevo, E. (1983). Photoperiodic effects on thermoregulation in a 'blind' subterranean mammal. *J. Exp. Biol.* **107**: 59–64.
- Hart, L., Bennett, N.C., Malpaux, B., Chimimba, C.T. & Oosthuizen, M.K. (2004). The chronobiology of the Natal mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentus natalensis*. *Physiology & Behavior*. 82: 563–569.
- Hart, L., O'Riain, M.J., Jarvis, J.U.M. & Bennett, N.C. (2006). Is the Cape Dune Mole-Rat, Bathyergus suillus (Rodentia: Bathyergidae), a Seasonal or Aseasonal Breeder? J. Mammal. 87: 1078–1085.
- Herbst, M., Jarvis, J. & Bennett, N. (2004). A field assessment of reproductive seasonality in the threatened wild Namaqua dune mole-rat (*Bathyergus janetta*). J. Zool. Lond. 263: 259– 268.
- Heth, G., Frankenberg, E., Raz, A. & Nevo, E. (1987). Vibrational communication in subterranean mole rats (*Spalax ehrenbergi*). *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 21: 31–33.
- Hickman, G.C. (1983). Burrows, surface movement, and swimming of *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rodentia: Rhizomyidae) during flood conditions in Kenya. *J. Zool. Lond.* **200:** 71–82.
- Ims, R.A. (1990). The ecology and evolution of reproductive synchrony. *Trends of Ecol. Evol.*5: 135–141.
- Isaac, J.L. & Johnson, C.N. (2003). Sexual dimorphism and synchrony of breeding: variation in polygyny potential among populations in the common brushtail possum, *Trichosurus vulpecula*. *Behav. Ecol.* 14: 818–822.
- Jarvis, J.U.M. (1973). The structure of a population of mole-rats, *Tachyoryctes splendens*, (Rodentia:Rhizomyidae). *J. Zool. Lond.* **171:** 1–14.

- Jarvis, J.U.M. & Bennett, N.C. (1991). Ecology and behaviour of the family Bathyergidae. In: J.U. M. Jarvis, R. D. Alexander. P.W. Sherman (ed.) *The biology of the naked mole-rat*. p67-96. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Jarvis, J.U.M. & Sale, J.B. (1971). Burrowing and burrow structure of East African mole-rats *Tachyoryctes*, *Heliophobius* and *Heterocephalus*. J. Zool. Lond. **163**: 451–479.
- Karsch, E.T., Bittman, E.L., Foster, D.L., Legon, S.J. & Robinson, J.E. (1984). Neuroendocrine basis of seasonal reproduction. *Rec. Prog. Hormone Res.* 40: 185–222.
- Kennerly, T.E. Jr (1964). Micro-environmental conditions of the pocket gopher burrow. *Texas J. Sci.* **16**: 395–441.
- Kilimajaro Regional Profile (KRP). (1998). Region socio-economic Profile, Joint publication with Planning Commission Dar es Salaam & Kilimanjaro Region Commissioners' office, Kilimanjaro.
- Kokiso, A. & Bekele, A. (2008). Ecology of Common Mole-Rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* and its Impacts on farmlands at Angecha, Central Ethiopia. *Act. Zool. Sinica* 54: 30–35.
- Le Galliard, J., Remy, A., Ims, R.A. & Lambin, X. (2012). Patterns and processes of dispersal behavior in arvicoline rodents. *Mol. Ecol.* **21:** 505–523.
- Lilliefors, H.W. (1967). On the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test for Normality with Mean and Variance Unknown. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 62: 399–402.
- Lofts, B. (1970). Animal Photoperiodism. Studies in Biology no 25, London: Edward Arnold publishers.
- Lovegrove, B.G. & Jarvis, J.U.M. (1986). Coevolution between mole-rats (Bathyergidae) and the geophyte, *Micranthus* (Iridaceae). *Cimbebasia* **8:** 79–85.

- Maher, C.R. & Burger, R.J. (2011). Intraspecific variation in space use, group size, and mating systems of caviomorph rodents. *J. Mammal.* **92:** 54–64.
- Malizia, A.I. & Busch, C. (1997). Breeding biology of the fossorial rodent *Ctenomys talarum* (Rodentia: Octodontidae). *J. Zool. Lond.* **242:** 463–471.
- Narins, P.M., Reichman, O., Jarvis, J. U.M. & Lewis, E.R. (1992). Seismic signal transmission between burrows of the Cape mole-rat, *Georychus capensis*. J. Comp. Physiol. A: Neur. Sens. Neur.Behav. Physiol. 170: 13–21.
- Nelson, R.J., Demas, G.E. & Klein, S.L. (1998). Photoperiodic mediation of seasonal breeding and immune function in rodents: a multi-factorial approach. *Amer. Zool.* **38:** 226–237.
- Nowak, R. 1999. *Walker's Mammals of the World*. The Hopkins University Press, Baltimore and London.
- Oosthuizen, M.K., Cooper, H.M. & Bennett, N.C. (2003). Circadian rhythms of locomotor activity in solitary and social species of African mole-rats (Family: Bathyergidae). J. Biol. Rhyt. 18 (6): 481–490.
- Pregitzer, K.S. & King, J.S. (2005). 10 Effects of Soil Temperature on Nutrient Uptake. *Ecol. Stud.* **181:** 277–310.
- Rado, R., Levi, N., Hauser, H. & Witcher, J. (1987). Seismic signalling as a means of communication in a subterranean mammal. *Anim. Behav.* 35: 1249–1251.
- Rado, R. & Terkel , J. (1989). A Radio-Tracking System for Subterranean Rodents J. Wildl. Manag. 53: 946–949.
- Rado, R., Terkel, J. & Wollberg, Z. (1998). Seismic communication signals in the blind mole-rat (*Spalax ehrenbergi*): electrophysiological and behavioral evidence for their processing by

the auditory system. J. Comp. Physiol. A: Neur. Sens. Neur. Behav. Physiol. 183: 503– 511.

- Rado, R., Wollberg, Z. & Terkel, J. (1992). Dispersal of young mole rats (*Spalax ehrenbergi*) from the natal burrow. *J. Mammal.* 73: 885–890.
- Roper, T.J., Bennett, N.C., Conradt, L & Molteno, A.J. (2001). Environemntal conditionsin burrows of two species of African mole-rat, *Georychus capensis* and *Cryptomys damarensis*. J. Zool. Lond. 254: 101–107.
- Sandwyk, J.H.D.T. & Bennett, N.C. (2005). Do solitary, seismic signalling Cape mole-rats (*Georychus capensis*) demonstrate spontaneous or induced ovulation?. J. Zool. Lond. 267: 75–80.
- Shanas, U., Heth, G., Nevo, E., Shalgi, R. & Terkel, J. (1995). Reproductive behaviour in the female blind mole rat (*Spalax ehrenbergi*). J. Zool. Lond. **237:** 195–210.
- Schneider, W. (1988). Micro Experimental Laboratory: An integrated system for IBM PC compatibles. *Behav. Res. Meth., Instrs. & Comp.* 20: 206–217.
- Schoeman, S., Bennett, N.C., Van der Merwe, M. & Schoeman, A.S. (2004). Aseasonal reproduction in the Hottentot golden mole, *Amblysomus hottentotus* (Afrosoricida: Chrysochloridae) from KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Afr.Zool.* **39:** 41–46.
- Schulte-Hostedde, A.E., Millar, J.S. & Hickling, G.J. (2001). Sexual dimorphism in body composition of small mammals. *Can. J. Zool.* **79:** 1016–1020.
- Selås, V. (1997). Cyclic Population Fluctuations of Herbivores as an Effect of Cyclic Seed Cropping of Plants: The Mast depression Hypothesis. *Oikos* 80: 257–268.

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Zoology

- Sichilima, A.M., Faulkes, C.G. & Bennett, N.C. (2008). Field evidence for seasonality of reproduction and colony size in the Afrotropical giant mole-rat Fukomys mechowii (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). *Afr. Zool.* **43**: 144–149.
- Sichilima A.M., Bennett, N.C. & Faulkes, C.G. (2011). Field evidence for colony size and aseasonality of breeding and in Ansell's mole-rat, *Fukomys anselli* (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). Afr. Zool. 46: 334–339.
- Spinks, A.C, Bennett, N.C. & Jarvis, J.U.M. (1999). Regulation of reproduction in female common mole-rats (*Cryptomys hottentotus hottentotus*): the effects of breeding season and reproductive status. J. Zool. 248: 161–168.
- Spinks, A.C, Van der Horst, G., & Bennett, N.C. (1997). Influence of breeding season and reproductive status on male reproductive characteristics in the common mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus hottentotus. J. Reprod. Fert.* **109:** 79–86.
- Šumbera, R., Burda, H. & Chitaukali, W.N. (2003). Reproductive biology of a solitary subterranean bathyergid rodent, The Silvery mole-rat (*Heliophobius argenteocinereus*). J. Mammal. 84: 278–287.
- Tassino, B. &. Passos, C.A. (2010). Reproductive biology of Río Negro tuco-tuco, *Ctenomys rionegrensis* (Rodentia: Octodontidae). *Mammal. Biol.* 75: 253–260.
- Taylor, P.J., Jarvis, J.U.M., Crowe, T.M & Davies, K.C. (1985). Age determination in the Cape mole-rat *Georychus capensis*. S. Afr. J. Zool. 20: 261–267.
- Van Rensburg, L.J., Bennett, N., Van der Merwe, M. & Schoeman, A. (2002). Seasonal reproduction in the highveld mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus pretoriae* (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). *Can. J. Zool.* 80: 810–820.

111

- Vaughan, T.A. (1962). Reproduction in the Plains Pocket Gopher in Colorado. J. Mammal 43: 1–13.
- Villa-Cornejo, B. & Engeman, R.M. (1995). Reproductive characteristics of the Hispid pocket gopher (*Orthogeomys hispidus hispidus*) in Veracruz, Mexico. *The S. Natur.* 40: 411– 414.
- Weir, B.J. (1974). Reproductive characteristics of hystricomorph rodents. *Symp Zool. Soc. Lond.*34: 265–301.
- Williams, L.R. & Cameron, G.N. (1984). Demography of Dispersal in Attwater's Pocket Gopher (*Geomys attwateri*). J. Mammal. 65: 67–75.
- Wood, J.E. (1949). Reproductive Pattern of the Pocket Gopher (*Geomys breviceps brazensis*). J. Mammal. 30: 36–44.
- Woodall, P.F. & Skinner, J.D. (1989). Seasonality of reproduction in male rock elephant shrews *Elephantulus myurus. J. Zool. Lond.* 217: 203–212.

Chapter 5: Craniometrics



Submitted to: Journal of Mammalian Biology (status: under review)

Title: Craniometric analysis of ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism in the East

African root rat, Tachyoryctes splendens (Rodentia: Spalacidae) from Tanzania

Authors: Jestina V. Katandukila^{1,2*}, Christopher G. Faulkes³, Nigel C. Bennett^{1,4} Christian T. Chimimba^{1,5}

¹Mammal Research Institute, Department of Zoology & Entomology, University of Pretoria, Private Bag X20, Hatfield, 0028 South Africa

²Department of Zoology & Wildlife Conservation, College of Natural and Applied Sciences, University of Dar es Salaam, P.O.Box 35064, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

³School of Biological and Chemical Sciences, Queen Mary, University of London, Mile End Road, London E1 4NS, United Kingdom

⁴South African Research Chair for Mammal Behavioural Ecology and Physiology, Department of Zoology & Entomology, University of Pretoria, Private Bag X20, Hatfield, 0028 South Africa

⁵DST-NRF Centre of Excellence for Invasion Biology (CIB), Department of Zoology & Entomology, University of Pretoria, Private Bag X20, Hatfield, 0028 South Africa

*Corresponding author

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

Abstract

Ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism in the East African root rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rüppell 1835) from Tanzania, East Africa were examined using craniometric and body mass data. Ontogenetic variation was based on tooth eruption and wear in five relative age classes and revealed significant craniometric variation between them. Sexual dimorphism was evident in all three populations examined and revealed that males are larger in body size than females. The results of craniometric analysis of ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism in *T. splendens* are also reflected in the analysis of body mass data. These results suggest that male *T. splendens* invest energy into growth to facilitate male-male competition and sexual selection during the breeding season. Females however, show conservative growth with most energy being utilized for the excavation of complex burrow systems to increase foraging efficiency and allow for maternal care. Individuals of relative age classes 4 and 5 are reproductively mature and are thus capable of procreation.

Keywords: Tachyoryctes splendens, ageing, craniometrics, ontogeny, sexual dimorphism

Introduction

Ontogenetic refers to growth and development of organism from embryo to adulthood (Alberch et al. 1979; Badyaev 2000). As organism grows its body parts changes both on size and shape, and consequently results into ontogenetic variation from lower to higher age classes (Badyaev 2000). The ontogenetic variation has been assessed between age classes as all individuals within age class assumed to have equal ontogenetic variation (Zelditch 1988). Since it is difficult to

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

examine growth rate from embryonic stage, most of ontogenetic studies were conducted from birth to adult-hood whereas growth ceases (Zelditch 1988; Schultle-Hostedde et al. 2001; Schultle-Hostedde 2007; Chimimba et al. 2010).

Ontogenetic variation between age groups has been however reported to be concealed by sexual dimorphism (Badyaev 2002). The evidence of concealed ontogenetic variation as a result of sexual dimorphism was indicated by divergence of measurements between sexes within particular age class (Schultle-Hostedde et al. 2001). The nature and extent of sexual dimorphism reported be a result of different growth rate between sexes as a consequence of adaptation to reproductive or ecological roles (Badyaev 2000; Schultle-Hostedde et al. 2001). The sex-specific adaptation to attain certain size or shape for mate selection and/or dominance over other individuals of the same sex has been attributed to sexual dimorphism however some genetic traits are shared between sexes within population (Andersson 1994; Schutle-Hostedde et al. 2001; Badyaev 2002). Example: In polygynous mating system, males are larger than females as consequences of male-male competition to acquire more adult female mates which is reproductive potential with females utilize their energy to overcome reproduction costs related to pup caring (Trives 1972; Andersson 1994; Schutle-Hostedde et al. 2001). Ontogenetic characteristics and sexual dimorphism have been studied in number of animals including rodents such as Giant mole-rats (Fukomys mechowii: Chimimba et al. 2010), Cape dune mole-rats (Bathyergus suillus: Hart et al. 2007), social Highveld mole-rats (Cryptomys hottentotus pretoriae: van Rensburg et al., 2004), Tete veld rats (Aethomys ineptus: Abdel-Rahman et al., 2009) and African Nile rat (Arvicanthis niloticus (Abdel-Rahman et al. 2009), Tuco-tuco (Ctenomys sp: Mora et al. 2003).

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

115

Studies of these rodents were based on analyses of craniometric data and body mass and reported the significant ontogenetic variation from sub-adult to adult-hood with presence of sexual dimorphism except but with absence of sexual dimorphism in *Cryptomys hottentotus pretoriae*. Despite ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism have been revealed on several species including subterranean rodent, none has been reported on spalacids including *Tachyoryctes splendens*. Although craniometrics have been analyses in *T. splendens* (Missone 1974; Corbert & Hill 1991; Beolchini & Corti 2004), all studies were focused on investigation of taxonomy of the species rather than assessment of ontogenetic and sexual dimorphism. As a consequence of missing information on literature, the present study assessed ontogenetic variation, nature and extent of sexual dimorphism. This study analysed craniometrics and body mass data based on age classes.

Since chronological age classes were unknown in a population structure of *T. splendens*, the present study also estimated age classes within population based on degree of maxillary molar eruption and wear as the method was used successful on estimation of relative age classes on small mammals given the difficult to determine absolute age class (van Rensburg et al. 2004; Hart et al. 2007). The determination of chronological age classes is a key towards evaluation of ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism. The prediction for the present study was presence of ontogenetic variation between age classes from young age classes to adulthood. The study also hypothesized the presence of sexual dimorphism being prominent from sub-adult individuals (i.e. transitional age class to adulthood) as a consequence of sex-specific adaptation to behavioural roles.

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

Materials and Methods

A total of 215 *T. splendens* (103 males and 112 females) were sampled from three localities in the Kilimanjaro region, Tanzania, East Africa (Figure 1). These include: Marangu (03°16.54' S, 037°32.49' E; 1450 m above sea level (a.s.l.); n = 75), Keni-Aleni (03°13.53' S, 037°35.37' E; 1236 m a.s.l.; n = 70) and Uru-Shimbwe (03°25.32' S, 037°16.21' E; 1415 m a.s.l.; n = 70). All sampled sites are classified as agri-ecological zones with highly fertile volcanic soils supporting a variety of food and cash crops (Kilimanjaro Regional Profile (KRP), 1998). Animal capture and care procedures followed the guidelines of the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of Pretoria (Ethics clearance number ECO47-10) and sampling permits from the Commission of Sciences and Technology Tanzania (COSTECH; Permit number 2011-44-NA-2010-204). Voucher specimen preparation followed standard protocols as described by van Rensburg et al., (2004) and deposited in the reference collection of the Department of Zoology and Wildlife Conservation, University of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

117



Figure 1: Map of the study site in Tanzania (with an insert of Africa: 1 = Uru-Shimbwe; 2 = Keni-Aleni; 3 = Marangu.

Tachyoryctes splendens has highly trophied hypsodont dentition and the dental formula of adult individuals is 1/1, 0/0, 0/0, 3/3 = 16. Based on this dentition, estimation of relative age of classes was determined by the degree of maxillary molar eruption and wear based on one side of the maxillary row as described by van Rensburg et al. (2004) and Hart et al. (2007). Consequently, all individuals were allocated into the following five relative age classes (Figure 2): 1) Age class 1: two erupted anterior maxillary molars; 2) Age class 2: two erupted anterior maxillary molars with the 3rd molar beginning to erupt; 3) Age class 3: two erupted maxillary molars, with

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

worn crowns; and 5) Age class 5: three fully-grown maxillary molars, with extensively worn crowns.



Figure 2: Relative age classes based on maxillary molar eruption and wear in *Tachyoryctes splendens* from Tanzania.

Ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism were assessed using 34 linear cranial measurements (Figure 3) following van Rensburg et al. (2004), Hart et al. (2007) and Chimimba et al. (2010) with slight modification. All linear cranial measurements were recorded to the nearest 0.05 mm using a pair of Mitutoyo digital calipers (Mitutoyo American Corporation, Aurora, Illinois, U.S.A.), while body mass was recorded to the nearest 0.05 g using a Pesola spring balance (Pesola dynamometer-5 kg/10 lbs, Switzerland).

119



Figure 3: Linear cranial measurements used for craniometric analysis. Measurement abbreviations: 1) APL = Length of foramen articular facet; 2) ATP = Length of mandibular foramen-articular facet; 3) AWF = Ventral width from left to right of anterior frontal bone (at the anterior part of the 1st molar); 4) BCW = Brain case breadth; 5) CPL = Length of articular facet to edge of the 3rd molar; 6) DOC = Distance between right and left occipital condyle; 7) FL = Frontal bone length (sagittal border length of frontal bone); 8) FW = Frontal bone width; 9) GLS = Length from incisor to condyle (including incisor); 10) IOB = Least breadth of interorbital

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

120

constriction; 11) ITC = Length from incisor to condyle (excluding incisor); 12 IW = Interparietal bone width; 13) JLI = Lower incisor length; 14) KDW = Distance between left and right paroccipital process; 15 LR = Distance between left and right anterolateral corner of frontal bone; 16) MDL = Length of mandible from anterior to posterior part (excluding incisor); 17) MLT = Length of mandible from anterior to posterior part (including incisor); 18) MOT = Length of hard palate from posterior of incisive fossa to posterior nasal spine; 19) MRH = Height of mandible-ramus; 20) NA = Nasal width; 21) NAS = Nasal width at the middle; 22) NL = Nasal bone length; 23) PAC = Width of hard palate at point of constriction; 24) PBL = Length of premaxillarbone; 25) PL = Parietal bone length (sagittal border length of parietal bone); 26) PWF = Ventral width of posterior part of frontal bone (after 3^{rd} molar); 27) UJI = Upper incisor length: 28) UTR = Crown length of maxillary teeth row; 29) VAL = Length of incisive fossa; 30) VBL = Length between vomer and condyle before foramen magnum; 31) WI = Width of upper incisor; 32) WLI = Width of lower incisor; 33) ZMB = Breadth between zygomatic processes of squamosals; and 34) ZYW = Widthbetween outer margins of zygomatic arches.

Data analyses

Craniometric and body mass data from all populations of *T. splendens* were initially tested for normality and homogeneity of variances and subsequently subjected to a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA; Zar, 1999) to test for ontogenetic variation, sexual dimorphism and the interaction between them. Where significant differences were detected, Student-Newman-Keuls

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

(SNK) *post hoc* test of ranked means following ANOVA assumptions (Sokal and Rohlf, 1981) was used to partition non-significant subsets of relative age classes (P > 0.05). The sum of squares (SSQ) from the derived two-way ANOVA table were used to partition potential sources of variation (Wonnacort & Wonnacort, 1972) with reference to relative age, sex, the interaction between them and error (= residual). The %SSQ was computed by dividing the SSQ associated with each source of variation by the total SSQ. All univariate analyses were based on algorithms in the *Statistical Package for the Social Sciences* (*SPSS*; Schneider, 1988) version 20 (IBM® SPSS® Statistics 20; Chicago, Illinois, USA).

Given the equivocal results of *post hoc* analysis of the univariate analyses between age classes, multivariate analyses were used to further evaluate the source of equivocal results of ontogenetic variation since analysis of sexes does not fit assumptions of post hoc. Consequently, the craniometric data of all three populations of T. splendens were also subjected to multivariate analyses using principal components analysis (PCA) of standardized variables and Unweighted Pair-Group Method of Arithmetic Averages (UPGMA) cluster analysis. The PCA was based on correlation coefficients among variables and UPGMA cluster analysis was based on Euclidean distances and correlation coefficients among groups (Sneath and Sokal, 1973. The distinct groups of sexes within age classes and overlap of sexes between age classes revealed on multivariate analyses subsequently resulted into analyses of data with sexes separately. All multivariate analyses based algorithms **STATISTICA** 10 were on in version (http://www.statsoft.com).

Results

Univariate analyses

122

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

As exemplified by the Marangu population which had the largest representative sample size (n = 75) and all the five relative age classes, both sexes showed an orderly increase in cranial dimensions with increasing age and males were larger in body size than females (Table 1).

Table 1: Standard descriptive statistics of cranial measurements (mm) of *Tachyoryctes splendens* from Marangu, Tanzania. SD = standard deviation; CV = coefficient of variation; f = female, m = male; sample size is indicated in parentheses. Cranial variables are defined and illustrated in Figure 3.

		Cranial measurements										
Age class	Statistics	APL	ATP	AWF	BCW	CPL	DOC	FL	FW	GLS	IOB	ITC
1f (2)	Mean	5.57	2.14	7.77	13.78	6.99	5.21	6.98	8.94	30.62	4.99	28.44
	SD	0.45	0.52	0.42	0.54	0.08	0.07	0.19	0.08	0.01	0.80	0.72
	CV	0.21	0.27	0.18	0.29	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.01	0.15	0.64	0.52
2f (8)	Mean	7.61	3.87	9.19	17.15	8.22	6.51	8.40	11.46	37.61	5.70	34.53
	SD	0.53	0.49	0.48	0.57	0.40	0.66	0.79	0.94	0.66	0.57	0.90
	CV	0.28	0.24	0.23	0.33	0.16	0.43	0.63	0.87	0.44	0.32	0.82
3f (8)	Mean	8.77	5.19	11.37	19.92	10.65	7.08	10.95	13.98	42.79	6.94	38.85
	SD	0.98	1.09	0.46	0.90	0.40	0.98	0.40	1.65	0.14	0.72	1.46
	CV	0.97	1.19	0.22	0.81	0.16	0.97	0.16	2.72	0.02	0.52	2.12
4f (18)	Mean	10.26	7.93	14.05	24.56	12.37	8.66	12.80	15.99	46.87	11.12	42.77
	SD	0.67	0.31	0.64	0.71	0.74	0.72	0.83	1.03	0.37	0.31	0.75
	CV	0.45	0.10	0.41	0.51	0.55	0.52	0.70	1.06	0.14	0.10	0.57
5f (2)	Mean	11.50	9.60	15.43	26.74	13.15	9.99	14.74	18.01	49.41	12.77	47.76
	SD	0.53	0.84	1.05	0.60	0.99	0.93	0.73	1.02	0.61	0.42	0.71
	CV	0.03	0.01	5.75	0.53	0.88	0.11	0.18	1.92	0.28	0.03	0.61

Females (continued)

			Cranial measurements											
Age class	Statistics	IW	JLI	KDW	LR	MDL	MLT	MOT	MRH	NA	NAS	NL		
1f (2)	Mean	10.64	10.09	7.84	7.91	20.19	30.35	5.99	9.98	5.69	7.32	5.74		
	SD	0.06	0.17	0.14	0.06	0.04	0.11	0.28	0.23	0.59	0.07	1.01		
	CV	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.04	0.01	0.01	0.08	0.05	0.35	0.01	1.02		
2f (8)	Mean	15.43	11.56	10.76	9.43	23.72	33.35	8.57	13.06	7.63	8.71	8.78		
	SD	0.64	0.48	0.93	0.60	0.95	0.68	0.60	0.60	0.63	0.58	0.98		
	CV	0.40	0.23	0.86	0.36	0.89	0.46	0.35	0.36	0.40	0.34	0.97		
3f (8)	Mean	23.20	14.22	14.94	11.68	27.72	37.23	10.19	14.42	9.63	11.01	12.91		
	SD	0.94	0.58	0.65	1.01	1.37	1.40	1.18	0.76	1.16	0.93	0.80		
	CV	0.88	0.34	0.42	1.02	1.87	1.95	1.39	0.58	1.34	0.87	0.64		
4f (18)	Mean	25.59	16.91	18.10	14.57	30.64	40.79	12.86	16.00	11.94	12.52	16.03		
	SD	0.57	0.86	0.33	0.55	1.36	1.10	0.97	0.83	0.68	0.78	0.79		
	CV	0.32	0.73	0.11	0.30	1.86	1.20	0.94	0.69	0.47	0.61	0.63		
5f (2)	Mean	27.52	18.76	19.04	16.12	38.37	51.94	13.98	17.25	13.11	14.79	18.92		
	SD	0.68	0.77	0.15	1.06	0.99	1.47	0.91	1.23	0.70	0.45	0.48		
	CV	1.28	1.11	0.30	0.25	1.22	3.56	0.20	0.30	0.57	0.01	0.91		

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

124

Females (continued)

Age			Cranial measurements											
class	Statistics	PAC	PBL	PL	PWF	UJI	UTR	VAL	VBL	WI	WLI	ZMB	ZYW	
1f (2)	Mean	1.64	5.56	8.54	8.92	5.84	5.08	2.03	6.66	1.97	1.61	19.04	24.07	
	SD	0.07	0.04	0.56	0.20	0.11	0.07	0.01	0.25	0.03	0.32	1.29	0.72	
	CV	0.01	0.20	0.31	0.50	0.01	0.01	0.40	0.07	0.30	0.10	1.66	0.52	
2f (8)	Mean	2.27	8.18	11.15	12.17	6.75	7.25	2.58	9.80	2.28	2.12	22.26	28.06	
	SD	0.47	0.84	0.60	0.51	0.54	0.68	0.28	1.35	0.11	0.09	0.94	1.27	
	CV	0.22	0.70	0.36	0.26	0.29	0.46	0.08	1.83	0.01	0.01	0.88	1.61	
3f (8)	Mean	3.33	11.15	15.10	14.72	10.58	9.08	3.17	13.43	3.08	2.34	26.23	32.64	
	SD	0.42	0.70	0.59	0.51	0.84	0.41	0.49	0.86	0.15	0.17	0.49	0.86	
	CV	0.17	0.49	0.35	0.26	0.70	0.16	0.24	0.75	0.02	0.03	0.24	0.73	
4f (18)	Mean	4.73	13.22	17.55	16.45	12.08	10.09	4.23	16.06	4.04	3.07	29.32	36.76	
	SD	0.26	0.64	1.28	0.93	0.41	0.57	0.64	0.79	0.15	0.21	0.64	1.27	
	CV	0.07	0.41	1.63	0.86	0.17	0.33	0.42	0.62	0.02	0.04	0.41	1.62	
5f (2)	Mean	4.95	14.18	19.09	17.62	13.93	11.04	5.05	18.67	4.13	3.23	31.98	39.12	
	SD	0.58	1.18	0.84	0.80	0.98	0.84	0.61	1.36	0.10	0.23	1.44	0.61	
	CV	0.01	2.08	0.11	0.14	0.11	0.25	0.05	4.96	0.30	0.04	1.14	0.86	

			Cranial measurements											
Age class	Statistics	APL	ATP	AWF	BCW	CPL	DOC	FL	FW	GLS	IOB	ITC		
	Mean	6.25	2.86	7.83	13.38	6.81	5.48	6.98	9.66	30.96	5.15	28.43		
1m (3)	SD	0.31	0.23	0.57	0.55	0.83	0.50	0.27	0.70	0.11	0.14	1.21		
	CV	0.09	0.05	0.33	0.30	0.70	0.25	0.07	0.48	0.01	0.02	1.47		
2m (4)	Mean	9.55	6.44	12.02	20.80	10.51	7.43	9.93	15.22	44.02	7.31	40.74		
	SD	0.12	1.02	0.57	0.43	0.22	1.23	1.13	0.47	0.30	0.14	0.40		
	CV	0.01	1.04	0.32	0.19	0.05	1.50	1.27	0.22	0.09	0.02	0.16		
	Mean	12.18	8.38	15.10	23.14	13.75	8.94	13.79	17.10	49.40	10.25	46.09		
3m (15)	SD	0.64	0.62	0.71	0.52	0.91	1.40	0.20	0.99	0.70	0.29	0.36		
	CV	0.40	0.39	0.51	0.27	0.82	1.97	0.04	0.98	0.49	0.09	0.13		
	Mean	13.72	10.44	16.07	27.27	14.59	10.83	15.86	18.75	56.48	12.78	52.05		
4m (14)	SD	0.17	0.11	2.40	0.73	0.94	0.33	0.42	1.39	0.53	0.17	0.78		
	CV	0.28	0.71	1.11	0.36	0.99	0.86	0.53	1.05	0.38	0.18	0.51		
5m (1)	Mean	13.98	12.13	17.93	28.75	15.33	12.44	16.94	20.38	58.26	14.68	53.48		

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

Males (continued)

			Cranial measurements												
Age class	Statistics	IW	JLI	KDW	LR	MDL	MLT	MOT	MRH	NA	NAS	NL			
1m (3)	Mean	10.33	10.19	8.28	8.23	20.26	30.50	6.88	10.58	6.78	7.83	6.09			
	SD	0.08	0.79	0.98	0.78	0.55	0.21	0.64	0.23	0.56	0.82	0.52			
	CV	0.01	0.62	0.96	0.61	0.30	0.04	0.40	0.05	0.31	0.67	0.27			
2m (4)	Mean	23.79	13.06	13.67	11.36	32.07	42.52	10.76	15.04	9.95	10.30	10.80			
	SD	0.22	0.11	0.93	1.56	0.25	0.22	1.48	0.50	1.03	0.97	0.38			
	CV	0.05	0.01	0.87	2.44	0.06	0.05	2.20	0.25	1.06	0.94	0.14			
	Mean	26.79	16.78	17.99	14.23	37.63	46.38	12.67	16.89	12.37	13.18	15.76			
3m (15)	SD	0.61	0.57	0.45	1.12	1.41	3.46	1.22	0.33	0.30	0.28	0.60			
	CV	0.38	0.32	0.21	1.25	2.89	6.13	1.50	0.37	0.09	0.08	0.37			
	Mean	29.47	20.23	20.04	17.24	40.68	49.77	14.69	18.14	13.90	15.49	19.70			
4m (14)	SD	1.13	1.05	0.02	0.50	1.10	1.89	0.06	0.55	0.76	0.12	0.95			
	CV	0.46	0.59	0.02	1.13	0.99	2.17	0.83	1.52	0.49	0.21	0.23			
5m (1)	Mean	31.30	21.16	21.33	18.84	44.10	55.28	15.65	19.29	16.18	16.96	21.55			

Males (continued)

Age							Cranial mea	asurements					
class	Statistics	PAC	PBL	PL	PWF	UJI	UTR	VAL	VBL	WI	WLI	ZMB	ZYW
1m (3)	Mean	1.68	5.44	9.05	9.48	6.03	5.09	2.13	6.59	2.18	1.63	20.02	25.84
	SD	0.19	0.15	0.31	0.45	0.06	0.19	0.08	0.36	0.29	0.07	0.73	0.56
	CV	0.04	0.02	0.10	0.20	0.20	0.04	0.01	0.13	0.09	0.01	0.53	0.32
2m (4)	Mean	2.32	10.41	13.75	13.84	10.68	8.43	3.40	14.09	3.07	2.91	23.99	32.31
	SD	0.20	1.82	0.35	0.74	0.22	0.39	0.12	1.23	0.08	0.13	1.85	1.59
	CV	0.04	3.32	0.13	0.55	0.05	0.16	0.02	1.51	0.01	0.02	3.42	2.53
	Mean	4.92	13.77	17.87	17.24	13.19	11.42	5.52	16.79	4.59	3.99	30.93	36.14
3m (15)	SD	0.46	0.80	0.48	1.14	0.41	0.61	0.49	1.29	0.15	0.21	0.93	0.57
	CV	0.21	0.65	0.23	1.31	0.17	0.37	0.24	1.67	0.02	0.04	0.87	0.33
	Mean	6.19	15.21	20.98	18.85	15.64	12.29	6.63	19.94	5.76	4.83	34.49	39.63
4m (14)	SD	0.09	1.44	0.33	0.37	0.33	0.50	0.22	2.23	0.04	0.20	1.07	0.93
	CV	0.34	1.39	0.70	0.65	0.97	0.70	0.38	1.85	0.01	0.05	2.07	0.37
5m (1)	Mean	6.63	16.77	21.17	20.20	16.31	13.20	7.61	20.97	5.94	4.86	37.09	42.68

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

© University of Pretoria

126

As exemplified by the Marangu population, the ANOVA results of the three populations showed that although most measurements varied significantly with relative age classes, sex and the interaction between the two, the largest *F*-values were associated with age, followed by sex, the residual component and the interaction between relative age and sex (Table 2). Variance partitioning in the three populations using %SSQ showed that ontogenetic variation contributed more to the potential source of variation followed by sex, the residual component and the interaction between age and sex [Age: Marangu - Mean %SSQ = 53.22% (range = 33.96-73.97%); Keni-Aleni – Mean %SSQ = 53.23% (range = 34.04–74.04%); Uru-Shimbwe – Mean SSQ = 53.19% (range = 33.98–73.99); Sex: Marangu – Mean SSQ = 18.34% (range = 2.84– 38.41%); Keni-Aleni – Mean %SSQ = 18.37% (range = 2.87–38.39%); Uru-Shimbwe = 18.37% (range = 2.85-38.38); Sex/Age interaction: Marangu – Mean %SSQ = 11.27% (range = 1.77-29.89%; Keni-Aleni – Mean %SSQ = 11.28% (range = 1.79–29.89%); Uru-Shimbwe = 11.30% (range = 1.80–29.92)%]; and Error component (= residual): Marangu – Mean %SSQ = 17.17% (range = 3.94–36.01%; Keni-Aleni – Mean %SSQ = 17.12% (range = 3.98–36.01%); Uru-Shimbwe = 17.13% (range = 3.95-35.99%). The %SSQ of the residual component in all three populations suggests that, apart from age variation, sexual dimorphism and the interaction between the two, there are also other factors that may be influencing the nature and extent of ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism in *T. splendens* from Tanzania.

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

Table 2: Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and percent sum of squares (%SSQ) of relative age classes (1-5) based on the degree of maxillary molar eruption and wear in male and female *Tachyoryctes splendens* from Marangu, Tanzania. * = P < 0.05; ** = P < 0.01; ***= P < 0.001. Cranial measurements are defined and illustrated in Fig. 3.

		<i>F</i> -values			%SS	SQ	
measurements	Age (A)	Sexes (S)	A x S	А	S	A x S	Error
APL	37.90***	16.06***	1.99	52.91	28.44	3.35	15.31
ATP	46.11***	9.41**	15.26***	50.97	15.94	20.59	12.50
AWF	75.01***	36.04***	6.09**	59.89	16.45	8.79	14.87
BCW	118.78***	60.13***	37.69***	52.45	20.03	15.74	11.79
CPL	39.97***	11.89**	15.95***	44.62	15.41	24.03	15.94
DOC	17.96***	7.29**	2.10	43.04	22.29	1.77	32.90
FL	91.14***	2.27	5.58**	60.56	7.99	19.85	11.60
FW	33.94***	11.34**	3.36*	58.52	10.55	5.92	25.01
GLS	130.85***	37.45***	19.14***	65.18	24.50	6.26	4.06
IOB	82.17***	22.99***	55.03***	33.96	21.51	29.89	14.64
ITC	171.95***	69.96***	11.90***	50.83	38.38	3.27	7.52
IW	121.02***	38.12***	22.17***	69.96	15.24	8.68	6.13
JLI	54.19***	19.89***	2.29	53.08	19.06	3.58	24.28
KDW	149.19***	48.06***	8.95***	73.97	14.28	5.23	6.52
LR	53.71***	10.06**	8.06***	49.11	12.60	10.50	27.80
MDL	97.85***	35.93***	11.48***	54.98	26.85	7.27	10.90
MLT	70.81***	26.24***	3.81*	51.58	34.89	9.51	4.02
МОТ	42.58***	19.54***	0.97	48.94	13.81	7.31	29.94
MRH	21.85***	9.16**	5.06**	49.34	13.84	10.97	25.85
NA	86.13***	16.01***	6.31***	55.83	25.13	7.81	11.24
NAS	84.03***	42.96***	1.31	65.97	17.71	3.15	13.17
NL	90.95***	64.30***	10.27***	42.67	37.28	16.12	3.94
PAC	38.05***	14.25***	1.38	41.91	23.36	10.82	23.91
PBL	58.90***	13.02***	6.98***	61.12	10.91	8.34	19.63
PL	87.41***	10.93**	3.93*	71.69	4.35	2.44	21.52
PWF	139.16***	31.53***	4.13**	67.51	13.11	5.84	13.55
UJI	84.83***	7.37**	7.03***	66.26	9.50	8.56	15.69
UTR	49.11***	1.85	15.37***	47.03	6.86	26.40	19.71
VAL	42.94***	2.60	18.97***	42.99	2.86	27.79	26.37
VBL	56.59***	36.11***	5.01**	41.62	28.06	9.58	20.75
WI	20.13***	2.12	15.04***	39.99	3.12	20.88	36.01
WLI	87.14***	4.56*	5.13**	47.38	9.34	19.12	24.16
ZMB	118.04***	23.96***	12.04***	49.10	36.71	6.35	7.84
ZYW	88.12***	19.86***	6.07**	44.51	23.34	7.44	24.71
	Mean		53.22	18.34	11.27	17.17	

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology
As exemplified by the Marangu population, the SNK tests are equivocal. These tests showed five major patterns (Table 3). The first pattern involved 33 out of 34 measurements that showed the separation of relative age class 1 from other relative age classes except for one measurement (IOB) which showed an overlap of relative age classes 1 and 2. The second pattern involved 16 out of the 34 measurements that grouped relative age classes 2 and 3 in the same non-significant subset. The third pattern involved 25 out of 34 measurements that grouped relative age classes 3 and 4 into the same non-significant subset. The fourth pattern involved 27 out of 34 measurements that showed overlaps of relative age classes 4 and 5. The fifth pattern involved seven out of 34 measurements that showed all relative age classes to be significantly different from each other.

Table 3: Student-Newman-Keuls (SNK) *post hoc* tests for cranial measurements (mm) of age classes 1-5 of *Tachyoryctes splendens* from Marangu, Tanzania. Results are presented as mean \pm 1 standard deviation. S = all means are significantly different; underlined = non-significant subsets of relative age classes (*P* > 0.05). The sample size is shown in parentheses. Cranial measurements are defined and illustrated in Figure 3.

Cranial							
measurements	1 (5)	2 (12)	3 (23)	4 (32)	5 (3)		
APL	4.63 ± 0.32	8.72 ± 1.37	10.60 ± 2.41	12.03 ± 2.44	12.74 ± 1.68		
ATP	1.97 ± 0.27	5.30 ± 1.82	<u>6.91 ± 2.26</u>	9.28 ± 1.77	10.88 ± 1.78		
AWF	6.76 ± 0.38	10.75 ± 2.00	13.36 ± 2.64	15.06 ± 1.43	16.69 ± 1.76		
BCW	12.68 ± 0.28	19.12 ± 2.58	21.66 ± 2.28	25.94 ± 1.91	27.76 ± 1.42		
CPL	4.74 ± 0.38	9.51 ± 1.62	12.33 ± 2.19	13.53 ± 1.57	14.26 ± 1.54		
DOC	4.30 ± 0.26	7.11 ± 0.65	8.14 ± 1.32	9.88 ± 1.53	11.23 ± 1.73		
FL	6.73 ± 0.35	9.31 ± 1.08	12.50 ± 2.01	14.46 ± 2.16	15.85 ± 1.55		
FW	8.60 ± 0.08	13.48 ± 2.66	15.63 ± 2.20	17.43 ± 1.95	19.21 ± 1.67		
GLS	30.29 ± 0.24	40.84 ± 4.53	$\begin{array}{c} 45.15 \pm 4.68 \\ S \end{array}$	49.15 ± 4.59	52.16 ± 4.23		

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

© University of Pretoria

129

Cranial							
measurements	1 (5)	2 (12)	3 (23)	4 (32)	5 (3)		
IOB	4.02 ± 0.19	6.65 ± 1.14	8.73 ± 2.34	11.96 ± 1.17	13.73 ± 1.35		
ITC	26.83 ± 0.44	37.68 ± 4.39	42.51 ± 4.12	45.48 ± 5.56	49.95 ± 4.04		
IW	10.89 ± 0.35	19.78 ± 3.86	25.13 ± 2.54	26.58 ± 2.74	29.41 ± 2.67		
JLI	9.98 ± 0.44	12.48 ± 1.06	15.64 ± 1.81	18.67 ± 2.35	19.96 ± 1.69		
KDW	7.41 ± 0.39	12.37 ± 2.06	16.60 ± 2.16	19.10 ± 1.37	20.19 ± 1.62		
LR	7.27 ± 0.22	10.56 ± 1.36	13.06 ± 1.81	16.06 ± 1.89	17.48 ± 1.92		
MDL	19.48 ± 0.40	27.94 ± 5.90	32.71 ± 6.01 S	35.73 ± 6.10	41.56 ± 4.15		
MLT	30.28 ± 0.32	37.98 ± 6.48	41.85 ± 6.47	45.28 ± 5.35	49.91 ± 2.36		
MOT	6.02 ± 0.37	9.83 ± 1.55	11.47 ± 1.76	13.82 ± 1.29	14.82 ± 1.18		
MRH	9.89 ± 0.41	14.22 ± 1.40	15.79 ± 1.75	17.16 ± 1.51	18.28 ± 1.44		
NA	4.99 ± 0.42	8.96±1.64	11.14 ± 1.94	13.00 ± 1.38	14.65 ± 2.17		
NAS	7.28 ± 0.36	9.66 ± 1.12	12.10 ± 1.54	14.02 ± 2.10	15.87 ± 1.53		
NL	4.97 ± 0.32	9.96±1.43	14.47 ± 2.02	17.96 ± 2.59	20.25 ± 1.86		
PAC	1.36 ± 0.31	2.59 ± 0.39	3.17 ± 1.13	4.43 ± 1.03	5.01 ± 1.19		
PBL	5.20 ± 0.34	9.46 ± 1.58	12.59 ± 1.85	14.20 ± 1.40	15.51 ± 1.83		
PL	8.68 ± 0.47	12.59 ± 1.84	16.61 ± 1.96	19.42 ± 2.42	20.16 ± 1.47		
PWF	8.72 ± 0.42	13.15 ± 1.18	16.11 ± 1.78	17.66 ± 1.70	18.94 ± 1.82		
UJI	5.68 ± 0.47	8.86 ± 2.78	12.01 ± 1.85	14.00 ± 2.52	15.15 ± 1.68		
UTR	5.21 ± 0.11	7.83 ± 0.83	9.27 ± 1.66	10.24 ± 1.55	10.49 ± 1.51		
VAL	1.96 ± 0.25	2.99 ± 0.58	3.36 ± 1.66	4.41 ± 1.69	4.63 ± 1.81		
VBL	5.93 ± 0.37	12.11 ± 3.03	15.24 ± 2.38	18.15 ± 2.74	19.85 ± 1.62		
WI	2.08 ± 0.15	2.88 ± 0.77	3.34 ± 1.40	3.91 ± 1.21	4.15 ± 1.28		
WLI	1.50 ± 0.13	2.57 ± 0.56	3.13 ± 1.17	3.44 ± 1.24	3.80 ± 1.15		
ZMB	17.76 ± 0.37	23.27 ± 1.22	28.71 ± 3.33 S	32.03 ± 3.65	35.07 ± 3.61		
ZYW	23.52 ± 0.32	30.33 ± 3.01	34.52 ± 2.48 S	38.40 ± 2.03	41.43 ± 2.51		

Table 3 (continued)

As exemplified by the Marangu population (Figure 4), a plot of the first two principal components of the PCA confirmed the unequivocal separation of the sexes within relative age classes and the partial separation of relative age classes. Similar to the SNK tests, the PCA revealed the separation of relative age class 1 from all other age classes with overlaps of age classes 2 and 3, 3 and 4 and 4 and 5. This suggests that although there are age class differences within all three populations of *T. splendens*, the relative age groupings are confounded by sexual dimorphism.



Figure 4: The first two principal components from a principal components analysis (PCA) of cranial measurements from male and female *Tachyoryctes splendens* of age classes 1-5 from Marangu, Tanzania.

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

The equivocal placement of relative age class groupings in the PCA and UPGMA cluster analysis necessitated separate PCA and cluster analyses of the sexes from the three populations of *T. splendens*. Both the PCA (Figure 5) and cluster analysis (Figure 6) of the three populations of females (A1, A2 & A3) and males (B1, B2 & B3) revealed a separation of all the relative age classes 1–5 that reflect increasing body size from relative age classes 1–5. All these results are also reflected in subsequent separate ANOVAs, SNKs and %SSQs of the sexes (not illustrated).



Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology



Figure 5: The first two principal components from a principal components analysis (PCA) of cranial measurements of female (A1-3) and male (B1-3) *Tachyoryctes splendens* of age classes 1-5 from Marangu (A1: males & B1: females), Keni-Aleni (A2: males & B2: females) and Uru-Shimbwe (A3: males & B3: females), Tanzania.



Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology



Figure 6: A Euclidean distance phenogram from an Un-weighted Pair-group Method using Arithmetic Averages (UPGMA) cluster analysis of cranial measurements of male (M) and female (F) *Tachyoryctes splendens* of age classes 1-5 (Sub- clusters a–e) from Marangu (A1: females & B1: males), Keni-Aleni (A2: females & B2: males) and Uru-Shimbwe (A3: females & B3: males), Tanzania.

The first principal components axis (PCA I) from the PCA explained > 88% of the total variance while PCA II explained < 5% of the total variance in all males and females of the three populations (Table 4). Most cranial measurements on PCA I in all males and females of the three populations loaded relatively highly than those on PCA II which collectively only has seven cranial measurements (APL, CPL, DOC, PAC, UTR, VAL & WI) loading relatively highly in all the analysis of males and females from the three populations. These relatively high loadings on PCA I suggest that cranial size rather than shape is an important component in age variation in *T*. *splendens* from Tanzania.

Table 4: Relative loadings of cranial measurements of the first two principal components axes (I and II) from a principal components analysis (PCA) of *Tachyoryctes splendens* from Marangu (age classes 1–5), Keni-Aleni and Uru-Shimbwe (age classes 2-5), Tanzania. Marangu: A1 = males & B1 = females; Keni-Aleni: A2 = males & B2 = females; and Uru-Shimbwe: A3 = males & B3 = females. Cranial measurements are defined and illustrated in Figure 3.

		Ma	rangu			Keni-	Aleni		Uru-Shimbwe				
	PCA I	PCA II	PCA I	PCA II	PCA I	PCA II	PCA I	PCA II	PCA I	PCA	PCA I	PCA II	
Cranial measurements	(A1)	(A1)	(B1)	(B1)	(A2)	(A2)	(B2)	(B2)	(A3)	II (A3)	(B3)	(B3)	
APL	0.86	0.12	0.86	0.29	0.87	0.12	0.92	0.26	0.86	-0.19	0.96	0.25	
ATP	0.93	-0.20	0.84	0.03	0.94	-0.20	0.92	0.15	0.96	0.14	0.97	0.10	
AWF	0.96	0.14	0.92	0.02	0.97	0.14	0.95	-0.06	0.90	0.09	0.93	-0.06	
BCW	0.92	-0.13	0.96	-0.07	0.93	-0.13	0.86	-0.05	0.99	-0.02	0.97	-0.13	
CPL	0.95	-0.06	0.81	0.32	0.96	-0.06	0.87	0.31	0.86	0.02	0.94	-0.34	
DOC	0.77	0.28	0.78	0.11	0.78	0.28	0.96	-0.05	0.87	-0.29	0.96	0.11	
FL	0.93	-0.05	0.94	-0.07	0.94	-0.05	0.97	-0.13	0.92	0.02	0.77	-0.04	
FW	0.89	0.08	0.88	-0.09	0.90	0.08	0.94	0.12	0.97	0.04	0.96	0.07	
GLS	0.98	-0.02	0.96	0.12	0.99	-0.02	0.86	-0.01	0.96	0.02	0.93	-0.02	
IOB	0.91	-0.13	0.77	-0.13	0.92	-0.13	0.78	0.09	0.93	-0.15	0.96	0.01	
ITC	0.97	-0.03	0.98	-0.10	0.98	0.03	0.92	-0.02	0.96	0.01	0.91	0.12	
IW	0.97	0.06	0.96	0.09	0.98	0.06	0.84	-0.06	0.93	0.18	0.96	0.06	
JLI	0.89	0.13	0.86	0.12	0.90	0.10	0.88	0.03	0.86	0.10	0.94	-0.02	
KDW	0.97	0.08	0.97	0.06	0.98	0.08	0.96	0.16	0.87	0.03	0.96	-0.06 0.14 0.03 -0.06 0.12 0.18	
LR	0.95	0.08	0.82	-0.02 -0.14 -0.10	0.96	0.08	0.86	-0.07	0.90 0.85 0.78 0.93 0.93	0.01 0.01 0.12 0.16 -0.06	0.96 0.87 0.97 0.88 0.91		
MDL	0.90		0.95		0.91 0.85	-0.13 0.11	0.86	0.12					
MLT	0.84	0.14	0.94 0.85				0.92	0.14 -0.02 0.16					
MOT	0.90	-0.06		0.17	0.91	-0.05	0.92						
MRH	0.92	0.14	0.83	0.08	0.93	0.14	0.85						
NA	0.95	-0.01	0.90	0.06	0.96	-0.01	0.86	0.14	0.94	-0.02	0.95	-0.06	
NAS	0.92	0.04	0.91	-0.24	0.93	0.04	0.75	0.06	0.91	0.05	0.93	-0.01	
NL	0.96	-0.04	0.96	0.06	0.97	0.00	0.87	-0.01	0.95	0.03	0.82	0.08	
PAC	0.85	0.19	0.77	-0.33	0.86	0.02	0.96	-0.35	0.86	0.18	0.99	0.33	
PBL	0.96	-0.02	0.92	0.07	0.97	-0.02	0.92	0.07	0.93	-0.02	0.92	-0.10	
PL	0.91	0.91	-0.06	0.97	-0.10	0.92	-0.05	0.86	-0.09	0.90	0.01	0.88	-0.05
PWF	0.93	0.06	0.87	0.10	0.94	0.06	0.93	0.03	0.88	0.12	0.96	-0.03	
UJI	0.93	0.18	0.88	0.04	0.94	0.18	0.91	0.04	0.92	0.02	0.91	0.18	
UTR	0.80	0.30	0.75	-0.13	0.81	0.35	0.96	0.03	0.91	0.30	0.96	-0.13	
VAL	0.86	0.16	0.78	0.31	0.87	0.16	0.96	0.31	0.97	0.02	0.95	-0.29	
VBL	0.95	0.03	0.92	0.15	0.96	0.03	0.88	0.16	0.98	0.06	0.95	0.01	
WI	0.87	-0.34	0.82	0.01	0.88	-0.33	0.89	0.01	0.90	-0.34	0.95	0.18	
WLI	0.90	0.23	0.78	0.15	0.91	0.06	0.86	0.10	0.92	0.14	0.88	0.16	
ZMB	0.96	-0.02	0.93	0.06	0.97	-0.02	0.83	-0.04	0.98	0.06	0.82	-0.02	
ZYW	0.92	0.17	0.95	0.14	0.93	0.17	0.95	-0.03	0.93	-0.13	0.88	0.17	
% of variance explained	91.43	4.52	88.23	3.08	92.42	3.19	89.52	4.44	91.47	2.15	92.57	2.63	

137

The general trend of age variation and sexual dimorphism in populations of *T. splendens* shown by the preceding analyses was also evident in the analysis of body mass (Figure 7). The ANOVA of body mass showed significant variation in all three populations of *T. splendens* [Age: Marangu – $F_{(4,65)} = 31.21$; n = 75; P < 0.001; Keni-Aleni – $F_{(3,62)} = 26.44$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(3,62)} = 25.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Sex: Marangu – $F_{(1,65)} = 15.14$; n = 75; P < 0.001; Keni-Aleni – $F_{(1,62)} = 15.08$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 75; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 75; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; n = 70; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; P < 0.001; Uru-Shimbwe – $F_{(1,62)} = 14.91$; P < 0.001;

70; P < 0.001. The SNK tests of the pooled data and sexes separately of the relative age classes with reference to body mass revealed the same results reflected by the analysis of craniometric ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism.





Figure 7: Body mass (mean ± SD) between males (black bars) and females (white bars) of *Tachyoryctes splendens* of age classes 1-5 from Marangu (A), Keni-Aleni (B) and Uru-Shimbwe (C), Tanzania. Statistical significance: * = P < 0.05; ** = P < 0.01.

Discussion

Based on the dental formula of adult *T. splendens*, the present study revealed five relative age classes in populations from Tanzania. Individuals of relative age classes 1 and 2 were sampled from maternal burrows suggesting that they are juveniles since the species is solitary except during pup caring, whereas of relative age class 3 were sampled from simple independent burrows adjacent to maternal burrows indicating that they are sub-adults. Individuals of relative age classes 4 and 5 were sampled from complex independent burrow systems suggesting that

139

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

they are adults as they possess fully-developed reproductive organs (Katandukila et al., 2013). Univariate analyses of craniometric data in the present study revealed craniometrics ontogenetic variation with age classes however it was difficult to determine trend of variation across age classes as a result of overlap between age classes except age class 1.

The multivariate analyses were however shown that sexual dimorphism was a source of concealed ontogenetic variation. Upon analyses of sexes separately, the clear ontogenetic variation between age classes was noted with measurements increasing on orderly pattern from lower to higher age classes indicate that growth increases with increasing age. The increased ontogenetic variation from age class 2 in *T. splendens* indicate that growth pattern which favours adult-hood ecological selection and survival is prominent form young age before dispersal with age class 2 being the preparatory to dispersal. The *T. splendens* disperse at age class 3 when individual starts to carry on adult-hood tasks including burrow construction, independent foraging and defense (Katandukila et al. submitted). The significant ontogenetic variation at age class 3 and 4 than age class 5 imply that mean growth variation is more obvious on mid age classes than the oldest and youngest age classes as reported on other rodents (Zelditch 1988; Hart et al. 2007; Chimimba et al. 2010).

The craniometric ontogenetic variation was also reported in Damaraland mole rats (*Cryptomys damarensis*; Bennett et al., 1990), Namaqua dune mole rats (*Bathyergus jannetta*; Jarvis and Bennett, 1991), Pocket gophers (*Geomys* sp.; Mauk et al., 1999), Talarum tuco tucos (*Ctenomys talarum*; Zenuto, 1999), Highveld mole-rats (*Cryptomys hottentotus pretoriae*; van Rensburg et al., 2004), Cape dune mole rats (*Bathyergus suillus*; Hart et al., 2007) and giant mole-rats (*Fukomys mechowii*; Chimimba et al., 2010). Similar to the present study, ontogenetic

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

140

variation the aforementioned subterranean rodents was reported between age classes with higher age classes possess the greatest measurements.

The cranial size of male T. splendens implies more utilization of energy for growth to attain large skeletal to support more muscles as adaptation to reproductive and ecological roles. As the species is solitary, males have to fight for adult female mates to foster reproductive success. The successful adaptation of large body size in males T. splendens intimate that the species has polygynandry mating strategy as this mating system has been reported to be characterized by larger males and smaller females as a consequence of both sexual selection and intense male-male competition (Bennett and Faulkes, 2000; Schutle-Hostedde et al., 2001; Schutle-Hostedde, 2007). Tachyoryctes splendens is aggressive and xenophobic to conspecifics of both sexes but the intense fights between adult males was observed prior to reproduction season. The increased male-male fights before onset of breeding seasons has been also reported in bathyergids whereas more aggressive interactions noted to occur before and during the reproductive phase (Bennett and Faulkes, 2000). Male-male aggression in T. splendens was evident in the wild where some males were found with wounds inflicted around their necks prior to becoming reproductively active. The larger-sized males rather than small body-sized males were observed to have their burrows in close proximity to those of adult females. Sampling of fewer small-sized males in the present study suggests that smaller-sized males were forced to live far from adult females and large-sized males to avoid injury from male-male aggressive interactions. Male T. splendens possesses more fatty deposits around the neck region than females, suggesting that these fatty deposits may act as a cushion to avoid extensive injuries during male-male aggressive interactions as suggested by studies of Cape dune mole rats

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

(*Bathyergus suillus*; Hart et al., 2007). Although all mature individuals of solitary species have an equal opportunity to mate, the body size of adult male *T. splendens* may have a reproductive advantage such that males strive to attain a larger body size in order to be competent in searching for and guarding female mates.

The smaller body size of female *T. splendens* imply limited growth as adaptation to conserve energy to overcome reproduction related costs including construction of burrow system which explores the earth thorough for nutrients acquisition for maintenance of burrow to accommodate lactating female and pups for space and foraging; burrow maintenance is also energy demanding activity. The investment of energy for reproduction was evidenced on burrow architecture of *T. splendens* whereas female constructs more complex and reticulated burrow systems with more long foraging tunnels than males (Katandukila et al., submitted). The foraging efficiency of females *T. splendens* would expect to have large sizes than males but in contrast they are smaller-sized than males intimate that reproduction selectivity among females is less based on large size rather other criteria which is still unknown. The lower female-female fight than male-male was noted prior to reproduction seasons indicate the absence of female-female combat to attain more male mates rather normal fight as *T. splendens* is generally aggressive and xenophobic.

As revealed on craniometric results, males are heavier than females except perhaps for individuals of age class 1 where there was no significant difference in the body mass in both sexes, although this may not be conclusive given the few individuals of this age class available for study and only from the Marangu population. The presence of sexual dimorphism in body mass and craniometric data in all populations studied suggests that body mass may also be an

142

appropriate indicator of sexual dimorphism in *T. splendens* from Tanzania. The suitability of body mass as an indicator of sexual dimorphism has also been demonstrated in Talarum tuco tucos (*Ctenomys talarum*; Zenuto, 1999), Damaraland mole-rats (*Fukomys damarensis*; Bennett and Faulkes, 2000), deer mice (*Peromyscus maniculatus*; Shuttle-Hostedde et al., 2001), bushy-tailed wood rats (*Neotoma cinerea*; Shuttle-Hostedde et al., 2001), southern red-backed voles (*Myodes gapperi*; Shuttle-Hostedde et al., 2001), Cape dune mole rats (*B. suillus*; Hart et al., 2007) and giant mole-rats (*F. mechowii*; Chimimba et al., 2010). Analyses of craniometrics and body mass is therefore signify that size attributed to nature and extent of sexual dimorphism rather than shape implying that sexual-size dimorphism is apparent in *T. splendens* as adaptation to ecological role. Sexual-size dimorphism was also documented on blind mole-rats (*Spalax*: Corti et al., 1996) reported to have sexual-size dimorphism on mandibular metrics.

Analyses of craniometrics and body mass within and between relative age classes (1-5) support our prediction of presence of ontogenetic variation between age classes. The sexual dimorphism was apparent as predicted with nature of dimorphism be attributed by size rather than shape. In contrast to other subterranean rodent showing sexual dimorphism at sub-adult (transitional age to adulthood), *T. splendens* shows sexual dimorphism from young age class (relative age class 2).

Acknowledgements

This research was sponsored by the University of Dar es Salaam (UDSM-World Bank Fund {C1B1}), Tanzania. We thank the Tanzania Commission for Science and Technology (COSTECH) for granting permits to conduct research in Tanzania. We gratefully acknowledge

143

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

financial support from the South African Research Chair of Mammal Behavioural Ecology and Physiology from the DST-NRF to NCB. We also acknowledge Antoinette Buys of the Microscopy section, University of Pretoria for photography.

References

- Abdel-Rahman, E.H., Taylor, P.J., Contrafatto, G., Lamb, J.M., Bloomer, P., Chimimba, C.T., 2009. Geometric craniometric analysis of sexual dimorphism and ontogenetic variation:
 A case study based on two geographically disparate species, *Aethomys ineptus* from southern Africa and *Arvicanthis niloticus* from Sudan (Rodentia: Muridae). Mammal. Biol. 74, 361–373.
- Andersen, D.C., 1978. Observations on reproduction, growth, and behavior of the Northern Pocket gopher(*Thomomys talpoides*). J. Mammal. 59, 418–422.
- Bennett, N.C., 1989. The social structure and reproductive biology of the common mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus hottentotus* and remarks on the trends in reproduction and sociality in the family Bathyergidae. J. Zool.(Lond.) 219, 45–59.
- Bennett, N.C., Faulkes., C.G., 2000. African Mole-rats: Ecology and Eusociality. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K.
- Bennett, N.C., Faulkes, C.G. Hart, L., Jarvis, J.U., 2009. *Bathyergus suillus* (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). *Mammal. sp.* 828, 1–7.
- Bennett, N.C., Jarvis, J.U., 1988. The social structure and reproductive biology of colonies of the mole-rat, *Cryptomys damarensis* (Rodentia, Bathyergidae). J. Mammal. 69, 293–302.

- Bennett, N.C., Jarvis, J.U.M., Wallace, D.B., 1990. The relative age structure and body masses of complete wild-captured colonies of two social mole-rats, the common mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus hottentotus* and the Damaraland mole-rat, *Cryptomys damarensis*.
 J. Zool. (Lond.) 220, 469–485.
- Chimimba, C.T., Dippenaar, N.J., 1994. Non-geographic variations in *Aethomys chrysophilus* (De Winton, 1897) and *A. namaquensis* (A. Smith, 1834) (Rodentia: Muridae) from Southern Africa. S. Afr. J. Zool. 29, 107–117.
- Chimimba, C.T., Sichilima, A.M., Faulkes, C.G., Bennett, N.C., 2010. Ontogenetic variation and craniometric sexual dimorphism in the social giant mole-rat, *Fukomys mechowii* (Rodentia: Bathyergidae), from Zambia. Afr. Zool. 45, 160–176.
- Daly, J.C., Patton, J.L., 1986. Growth, Reproduction, and Sexual Dimorphism in *Thomomys bottae* Pocket Gophers. J. Mammal. 67, 256–265.
- Delany, M. J., 1975. The rodents of Uganda. British Museum (Natural History) London.
- Faulkes, C.G., Mgode, G.F., Le Comber, S.C., Bennett, N.C., 2010. Cladogenesis and endemism in Tanzanian mole-rats, genus *Fukomys*:(Rodentia Bathyergidae): a role for tectonics?
 Biol. J. Linn. Soc. 100, 337–352.
- Geary, M.P., Pringle, P.J., Rodeck, C.H., Hindmarsh, P.C., 2003. Sexual dimorphism in the growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor axis at birth. J. Clin. Endocr. and Metabol. 88, 3708–3714.
- Gilbert, F.F., Stolt, S.L., 1970. Variability in aging Maine white-tailed deer by tooth-wear characteristics. J. Wildl. Manag. 34, 532–535.

- Hart, L., Chimimba, C.T., Jarvis, J.U., O'Riain, J., Bennett, N.C., 2007. Craniometric sexual dimorphism and age variation in the South African Cape dune mole-rat (*Bathyergus suillus*). J. Mammal. 88, 657–666.
- Hench, J.E., Kirkland, G.L., Setzer, H.W., Douglass, L.W., 1984. Age classification for the gray squirrel based on eruption, replacement, and wear of molariform teeth. J. Wildl. Manag. 48, 1409–1414.
- Herbst, M., Bennett, N., 2006. Burrow architecture and burrowing dynamics of the endangered Namaqua dune mole rat (*Bathyergus janetta*)(Rodentia: Bathyergidae). J. Zool.(Lond.) 270, 420–428.
- Hutchison, J.B., Beyer, C. Hutchison, R.E., Wozniak, A., 1995. Sexual dimorphism in the developmental regulation of brain aromatase. J. Ster. Biochem. and Molec. Biol. 53, 307–313.
- Isaac, J.L., 2005. Potential causes and life-history consequences of sexual size dimorphism in mammals. Mammal Rev. 35, 101–115.
- Jarvis, J.U.M., 1973. The structure of a population of mole-rats, *Tachyoryctes splendens*, (Rodentia:Rhizomyidae). J. Zool. (Lond.). 171, 1–14.
- Jarvis, J.U.M., Bennett, N.C., 1991. Ecology and behaviour of the family Bathyergidae. In: Jarvis, J.U.M., Alexander, R. D., Sherman, P.W. (Eds.), The biology og the naked molerat. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ. pp 67–96.
- Jarvis, J.U.M., Sale, J.B., 1971. Burrowing and burrow patterns of East African mole-rats *Tachyoryctes*, *Heliophobius* and *Heterocephalus*. J. Zool. (Lond.) 163, 451–479.

- Katandukila, J.V., Faulkes, C.G., Chimimba, C.T., Bennett, N.C., 2013. Reproduction in the East African root rat (*Tachyoryctes splendens*; Rodentia: Spalacidae) from Tanzania: the importance of rainfall. J. Zool. (Lond.) 291, 258–268.
- Keiss, R.E., 1969. Comparison of eruption-wear patterns and cementum annuli as age criteria in elk. J. Wildl. Manag. 33, 175–180.
- Kilimanjaro Region Profile (KRP)., 1998. Region socio-economic profile. Joint publication with the Planning Commission Dar es Salaam & Region Commissioners' office Kilimanjaro.
- Kokiso, A., Bekele, A., 2008. Ecology of Common Mole-Rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* and its Impacts on farmlands at Angecha, Central Ethiopia. Acta Zool. Sin. 54, 30–35.
- Krupa, J.J., Geluso, K.N., 2000. Matching the color of excavated soil: cryptic coloration in the plains pocket gopher (*Geomys bursarius*). J. Mammal. 81, 86–96.
- Lavelle, C., 1969. The effect of age on the eruption rate of the incisor teeth of the rat (*Rattus norvegicus*). J. Anat. 104, 109–115.
- Leamy, L., 1983. Variance partitioning and effects of sex and age on morphometric traits in random bred house mice. J. Mammal. 64, 55–61.
- Main, M.B., Coblentz, B.E., 1996. Sexual segregation in Rocky Mountain mule deer. J. Wildl. Manag. 60, 497–507.
- Mauk, C.L., Houck, M.A., Bradley, R.D., 1999. Morphometric analysis of seven species of pocket gophers (*Geomys*). J. Mammal. 80, 499–511.
- Medina, A.I., Martí, D.A., Bidau, C.J., 2007. Subterranean rodents of the genus *Ctenomys* (Caviomorpha, Ctenomyidae) follow the converse to Bergmann's rule. J. Biogeo. 34, 1439–1454.

- Moors, P.J., 1980. Sexual dimorphism in the body size of Mustelids (Carnivora): The roles of food habits and breeding systems. Oikos 34, 147–158.
- Özkan, Z.E., 2007. Macro-anatomical investigations on the skeletons of mole-rat (*Spalax leucodon* Nordmann) III. Skeleton axiale. Veterinar. Arh. 77, 281–289.
- Pérez-Barbería, F., Gordon, I., 1999. Body size dimorphism and sexual segregation in polygynous ungulates: an experimental test with Soay sheep. Oecol. 120, 258–267.
- Ralls, K., 1977. Sexual dimorphism in mammals: avian models and unanswered questions. American Natur. 111, 917–938.
- Rios, E., Álvarez-Castañeda, S.T., 2007. Environmental responses to altitudinal gradients and subspecific validity in pocket gophers (*Thomomys bottae*) from Baja California Sur, Mexico. J. Mammal. 88, 926–934.
- Schulte-Hostedde, A.I., 2007. Sexual size dimorphism in rodents. In: Wolff, J. O., Sherman, P.W. (Eds.), Rodent Societies: An Ecological & Evolutionary Perspective. University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London. pp115–128.
- Schulte-Hostedde, A.E., Millar, J.S., Hickling, G.J., 2001. Sexual dimorphism in body composition of small mammals. Canad. J. Zool. 79, 1016–1020.
- Smith, A.T., Xie, Y., Hoffmann, R.S., Lunde, D., MacKinnon, J., Wilson, D.E., Wozencraft, W.C., 2010. A guide to the mammals of China. Princeton University Press.
- Smuts, G., Anderson, J., Austin, J., 1978. Age determination of the African lion (*Panthera leo*).J. Zool. (Lond.) 185, 115–146.

Sokal, R.L., Rohlf, F.J., 1981. Biometry, 2nd edn. W.H. Freeman, San Francisco, Calfonia.

148

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

- Šumbera, R., Burda, H., Chitaukali, W.N., 2003. Reproduction of a solitary subterranean bathyergids rodent, the Silvery mole-rat (*Heliophobius argenteocinereus*). J. Mammal. 84, 278–287.
- Taylor, P.J., Jarvis, J.U.M., Crowe, T.M., Davies, K.C., 1985. Age determination in the Cape mole-rat *Georychus capensis*. S. Afr. J. Zool. 20, 261–267.
- Témeles, E.J., 1985. Sexual size dimorphism of bird-eating hawks: the effect of prey vulnerability. Amer. Natur. 125, 485–499.
- Thomas, H., Bateman, P., Scantlebury, M., Bennett, N., 2012. Season but not sex influences burrow length and complexity in the non-sexually dimorphic solitary Cape mole-rat (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). J. Zool. (Lond.) 288, 214–221.
- Van Rensburg, L.J., Chimimba, C.T., Van der Merwe, M., Schoeman, A.S., Bennett, N.C., 2004.
 Relative age and reproductive status in *Cryptomys hottentotus pretoriae* (Rodentia: Bathyergidae) from South Africa. J. Mammal. 85, 1225–1232.
- Wallace, E., Bennett, N., 1998. The colony structure and social organization of the giant Zambian mole-rat, *Cryptomys mechowi*. J. Zool. (Lond.) 244, 51–61.
- Weckerly, F.W., 1998. Sexual-size dimorphism: influence of mass and mating systems in the most dimorphic mammals. J. Mammal. 79, 33–52.
- Yu, H.T., Lin, Y.S., 1999. Age, reproduction, and demography of the spiny rat (Muridae: *Niviventer coxingi*) in subtropical central Taiwan. Zool. Stud. Taip. 38, 153–163.
- Zalewski, A., 2007. Does size dimorphism reduce competition between sexes? The diet of male and female pine martens at local and wider geographical scales. Acta Theriol. 52, 237–250.
- Zar, G.H., 1999. Biostatistical methods. Prentice-Hall, New Jersey.

149

Citations and references list followed guidelines of the Journal of Mammalian Biology

- Zenuto, R.R., 1999. Sexual size dimorphism, testes size and mating system in two populations of *Ctenomys talarum* (Rodentia: Octodontidae). J. Natur. Hist. 33, 305–314.
- Zuri, I., Terkel, J., 2001. Reversed palatal perforation by upper incisors in ageing blind mole-rats (*Spalax ehrenbergi*). J. Anat. 199, 591–598.

Chapter 6: Population genetics

Molecular genetics of East African root rats from Tanzania

Abstract

The East African root rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* is native to eastern and central Africa. The taxonomy of the genus at the specific level is uncertain due to various opinions on nomenclature based on type locality, morphometrics and morphological attributes. The present study set out to investigate the phylogenetics and phylogeographical characteristics of East African root rats using sequence analyses of mitochondrial markers including cytochrome b (cyt b) and D-loop (control region). The study used samples from across Tanzania where root rats are common in the rich soils where there is diversity of plants, mainly agricultural areas. Cyt b analysis revealed a 1.68% genetic distance between populations of East African root rats across the sampling distribution, suggesting that all populations belong to single species. The high similarity of East African root rat populations from Tanzania and Kenya implies the taxonomy of Tachyoryctes splendens (Rüppell 1835) similar to the findings from geometric morphometrics and craniometric studies. The big-headed East African root rat, Tachyoryctes macrocephalus which is endemic to Ethiopia was not included in the present study; therefore the taxonomy of T. macrocephalus is retained as suggested in previous studies (i.e. morphology, geometric morphometrics, craniometrics and type locality). Although East African root rats showed high genetic similarity at cyt b, differences were revealed at D-loop and a more extensive phylogenetic study was carried out using data from this locus. The greatest differences at D-loop were observed within and among geographically neighbouring populations, while the same haplotypes were shared across the sampling range. The most likely explanation for these patterns is historical processes rather than recent gene flow, although stochastic and sampling effects

cannot be ruled out. The retention of more ancestral haplotypes across the sampling range indicates a recent radiation within the species and adds support to taxonomic studies which suggest *Tachyoryctes splendens* should be considered the nominate and only true species over its currently recognized geographical range.

Key words: Cytochrome *b*, D-loop, East African root rats, haplotype, PCR, *Tachyoryctes splendens*, Tanzania

Introduction

The systematics of rodent taxa at both the generic and specific level has been debated for several decades since previous taxonomy has been based on plesiomorphic traits and confused by homoplasies (Carleton & Musser 1989) most of which are poorly supported as some of the shared characters are influenced by biotic and abiotic factors such as predation, food specialization and competition of space rather than shared ancestry (Delany 1975; Carleton & Musser, 1984; Thaler 1986; Lawrence, 1991; DeWalt *et al.* 1993; Nowak, 1999).

With the development of molecular techniques we have been fortunate to critically review the taxonomy of many rodent taxa using molecular techniques employing mitochondrial genes to assess the phylogenetic relationship between species and indeed to reconstruct phylogeographic structure of some families (Honeycutt & Williams 1982; Lee & Baker 1987; D'Erchia *et al.* 1996; Conroy & Cook 2000; Adkins *et al.* 2001, 2003). Apart from its importance for species-specific relationships, mitochondrial analyses have also revealed genetic diversity within individual species (Mora *et al.* 2007). The taxonomy and genetic diversity based on analyses of mitochondrial genes of several rodent taxa have been used successfully for several

taxonomic groups including Pocket gophers (*Cratogeomys* and *Pappogeomys*: DeWalt *et al.* 1993; *Thomomys*: Smith 1998), African grass rats (*Arvicanthis*: Ducroz *et al.* 1998;), Tuco-tucos (*Ctenomys*: D'Elia *et al.* 1999; Wlasiuk *et al.* 2003; Mora *et al.* 2007, 2013;), blind mole rats (*Spalax*: Nevo *et al.* 1999; Reyes *et al.* 2003), African mole rats (*Heliophobius* and *Heterocephalus*: Faulkes *et al.* 1997, 2004, 2011; *Fukomys*: Van Daele *et al.* 2007; Faulkes *et al.* 2010), Coruros (*Spalacopus cyanus*: Opazo *et al.* 2008), and Zokors (*Myospalax* and *Eospalax*: Su *et al.* 2013). Despite the broad analysis of phylogenetics and population genetics within rodent taxa in subterranean rodents, little has been done to investigate the population genetics of root rats.

The East African root rats are solitary subterranean rodent moles belonging to the genus *Tachyoryctes* (Bekele 1986; Baskevich *et al.* 1993; Musser & Carleton 1993). Root rats occur in rich soils that support a diversity of food resources which they feed upon including underground storage organs and aerial parts of a variety of plants (Jarvis & Sale 1971; Kokiso & Bekele 2008). The genus *Tachyoryctes* has been previously classified variously into 14 species (Allen 1939; Ellerman 1941) and 11 species (Musser & Carleton 1993) with both taxonomies based mainly on morphological characteristics. A subsequent study based on geometric morphometrics suggested the presence of just two species, with the other species identified earlier synonymized into *T. splendens* with the exception of *T. macrocephalus* (Beolchini & Cotri 2004). The recognition of two species within the genus was supported by craniometric analyses (Misonne 1974; Corbert & Hill 1991).

A recent taxonomy of the genus *Tachyoryctes* based on geography and ecological characteristics across the distributional range recognised 13 species (Musser & Carleton 2005). These species include *T. ankoliae*, *T. annectens*, *T. audax*, *T. daemon*, *T. ibeanus*, *T.*

macrocephalus T. naivashae, T. rex, T. ruandae, T. ruddi, T. spalacinus, T. splendens and T. storey. Musser & Carleton (2005) however suggested that T. naivashae and T. ruddi may be synonymous with T. daemon while T. splendens, T. ibeanus and T. ruandae were also thought to be synonymous because of their similarities in morphology and habitat characteristics. Given the inconclusive taxonomy of the genus, the present study employed molecular techniques for the first time to investigate the status of the species within a genus Tachyoryctes with more emphasize on phylogenetic and phylogeographic history within Tanzania. The analyses included data from mitochondrial gene loci such as Cytochrome b (cyt b) and control region (D-Loop). The cyt b has been successfully used to reveal systematic techniques such as morphology and morphometrics (Patton & Smith 1994; Lessa & Cook 1998; Smith 1998; Faulkes *et al.* 2011; Su *et al.* 2013). The D-Loop has been widely shown to be useful on identifying phylogeographic history and population genetics (Larriza *et al.* 2002; Reyes *et al.* 2003; Mora *et al.* 2013).

The study was conducted in Tanzania since all previously 'species' described earlier by Musser & Carleton (2005) are reported to occur in this country with the exception of *T. macrocephalus* which is endemic to Ethiopia (Musser & Carleton 1993, 2005; Beolchin & Corti 2004). We predict that samples from areas across the distributional range for this study should represent the various species occurring in Tanzania. The null hypothesis was that 1) more than one species of *Tachyoryctes* would occur in Tanzania and 2) there would be phylogenetic diversity across the geographical distribution of the genus. The present study should add knowledge to the existing information on the taxonomy of the genus particularly for previously synonymized. The present study also investigated the status of potentially cryptic species (Bekele 1986; Baskevich *et al.* 1993; Beolchin & Corti 2004).

Materials and Methods

Tachyoryctes were sampled from various localities in Tanzania. The study sites included Arusha (03°18 ' 44-45" S, 036°46' 46-47"E; 1461-1530 metres above sea level (m a.s.l.)), Kagera (02°20'08-09" S, 031°25'34-35" E; 1264-1291 m a.s.l.), Kigoma (04°35'21-22" S, 030°05'35-36" E; 1649-1665 m a.s.l.), Kilimanjaro (03°13-25'32-55" S, 037°16-35'21-50" E; 1235-1451 m a.s.l.) and Manyara (04°14'43-44" S, 036°54'06-07" E; 1237-1242 m a.s.l.).

In the field, heart tissues were obtained from the specimens and preserved in alcohol (> 96 % ethanol) and then subsequently stored at -20 ° C. In the laboratory (School of Biological and Chemical Sciences, The Queen mary University of London, London-UK) , the DNA was extracted from the tissue digested by 30ml 10x TNE; 30ml 1M Tris pH 8; 270ml dH₂O; 8ml 25%SDS; proteinase K 10mg/ml (NBL) incubated overnight in a hot-block at 55° C. Procedures for DNA extraction followed protocols described by Müllenbach *et al.* (1989). Some DNA was also extracted using column extraction method using QIAamp Tissue DNA extraction kit (Qiagen, Germany) following the manufacturer's guidelines. The extracted DNA was subsequently eluted by 100µl double distilled H₂O (ddH₂O) and then stored in a freezer (-20 ° C) until needed.

The Polymerization Chain Reactions (PCRs) used to amplify cytochrome b (*cyt b*) were H15915 and L14724, and a species-specific primer MRL1TS (5'-GCCTCTTCCTCCACATTGGTCGA-3'), for D-loop, universal primers PheH, DLL and ThrL were used, as described for mole-rats in Faulkes *et al.* (1997). The PCRs used NEB taq (New England Biolabs) with thermopol Buffer with 2 mM Mg⁺⁺ (when diluted) and KAPA taq (Kapa Biosystems, UK) following manufacturer's protocols. High quality PCR products were purified

using the QIAquick DNA purification kit (Qiagen) following the manufacturer's guidelines. Standard procedures for Sanger sequencing were carried out by by Eurofins MWG Operon (Anzinger str. 7 85560 Ebersberg, Germany).

Data analysis

Haplotypes found within East African root rat populations were identified following manual alignment of sequences from mitochondrial cyt *b* and the D-loop loci using MEGA version 5 (Tamura *et al.* 2004, 2011). Gaps within sequences were treated as insertion/deletion mutations (Faulkes *et al.* 2011). The estimate of evolutionary divergence between haplotypes was evaluated using Maximum Composite Likelihood (ML) models (Tamura & Kumar 2002; Tamura *et al.* 2004, 2011). Cyt *b* genetic differences were far fewer than at the D-Loop, and consequently the latter was used for phylogenetic analysis. These analyses included comparison of molecular diversity within and between regions as well as construction of phylogeographical relationships. All analyses of D-Loop locus involved the 23 distinct haplotypes identified. The phylogeographic relationships of haplotypes were inferred by the Neighbour-joining method (Tamura *et al.* 2004) and median spanning network (Bandelt *et al.* 1999) with genetic distances evaluated using uncorrected P-distance (Tamura & Nei 1993).

Results

Analysis of Cyt *b* sequences (n = 26) revealed 17-19 haplotypes with 3-9 haplotypes from each location sampled. Genetic distances between populations within Tanzania were low, with uncorrected P distances = 0.09-4.62% (mean = 1.68%). Between Tanzanian and the single

published Kenyan *Tachyoryctes* sequence (Jansa *et al.* 1999) values were similar to within the Tanzanian comparisons, with uncorrected P = 0.35-4.04% (mean = 1.89%).

The D-loop (n = 59) sequences revealed 23 haplotypes with 8-14 from each location sampled (Table 1). Genetic distances at the D-loop among populations of *T. splendens* in Tanzania were greater than at cyt-*b*: uncorrected P distance = 0.11-9.86% (mean = 7.41%; Table 2). Thus there were approximately 3x more mutations. Therefore the D-loop sequences were used for phylogenetic analysis as there was more phylogenetic information within the data. The neighbor-joining phylogram (NJ) and median spanning network (MSN) showed 3 distinct groups supported by bootstrap analysis on the neighbor-joining tree (Figure 1). Both phylogenetic relationship analyses (i.e. NJ and MSN) showed that some haplotypes were restricted to a particular region whereas some were shared between geographical locations (Figure 2). The highest sequence differences among haplotypes were found within and between neighbouring regions. For example, Arusha, and Kilimanjaro are the closest regions but share only one haplotype.

Table 1: Number of haplotypes and individuals bearing such haplotype in various regions of Tanzania; h = haplotype number, n = total individuals having such haplotype, nr = number of individuals having such haplotype within a region; AR = Arusha, KA = Kagera, KG = Kigoma, KL = Kilimanjaro, MA = Manyara.

h	п	nr
		2 KG
		4 MA
1	9	3 KL
2	8	1 KG

Table 1 (Continued)

	1 MA
	4 KL
	2 KA
	3 MA
5	2 KL
4	4 AR
	1 MA
	1 KL
	1 AR
4	1 KA
4	4 KG
	1 MA
3	2 KA
	1 KG
	1 MA
3	1 AR
2	2 KL
2	2 AR
2	2 KG
2	2 KA
1	1 KG
1	1 MA
1	1 AR
1	1 KL
1	1 AR
1	1 KA
1	1 KG
	$ \begin{array}{c} 5\\ 4\\ 4\\ 4\\ 3\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\$

Table 2: Genetic distances among 23 haplotypes (uncorrected P-distances) at the mitochondrial D-Loop region within *T. splendens* populations

from Tanzania.

		haplotype number (n)																				
	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23
1	0.010																					
2	0.016	0.015																				
3	0.004	0.008	0.016																			
4	0.086	0.089	0.082	0.089																		
5	0.077	0.080	0.077	0.080	0.054																	
6	0.007	0.010	0.014	0.009	0.087	0.080																
7	0.088	0.091	0.086	0.091	0.050	0.022	0.089															
8	0.083	0.086	0.079	0.086	0.002	0.052	0.084	0.050														
9	0.009	0.001	0.014	0.007	0.088	0.078	0.009	0.090	0.085													
10	0.088	0.091	0.089	0.091	0.062	0.025	0.092	0.024	0.060	0.090												
11	0.087	0.090	0.087	0.090	0.051	0.022	0.088	0.004	0.050	0.089	0.022											
12	0.027	0.028	0.034	0.027	0.092	0.087	0.032	0.099	0.089	0.027	0.097	0.097										
13	0.014	0.003	0.018	0.011	0.091	0.081	0.014	0.090	0.088	0.004	0.093	0.089	0.032									
14	0.011	0.001	0.016	0.009	0.091	0.081	0.011	0.090	0.088	0.002	0.093	0.089	0.029	0.002								
15	0.003	0.011	0.017	0.003	0.088	0.079	0.008	0.090	0.085	0.010	0.090	0.089	0.028	0.015	0.012							
16	0.006	0.009	0.012	0.008	0.088	0.082	0.001	0.090	0.085	0.008	0.090	0.089	0.030	0.012	0.010	0.007						
17	0.006	0.009	0.012	0.008	0.085	0.078	0.001	0.087	0.082	0.008	0.090	0.086	0.030	0.012	0.010	0.007	0.002					
18	0.082	0.085	0.077	0.085	0.003	0.053	0.082	0.052	0.001	0.083	0.061	0.052	0.087	0.086	0.086	0.083	0.084	0.080				
19	0.082	0.085	0.077	0.085	0.003	0.050	0.082	0.049	0.001	0.083	0.058	0.049	0.087	0.086	0.086	0.083	0.084	0.080	0.002			
20	0.092	0.095	0.089	0.095	0.037	0.032	0.092	0.011	0.037	0.094	0.034	0.016	0.102	0.094	0.094	0.094	0.094	0.091	0.038	0.036		
21	0.087	0.090	0.087	0.090	0.051	0.022	0.088	0.004	0.050	0.089	0.022	0.000	0.097	0.089	0.089	0.089	0.089	0.086	0.052	0.049	0.016	
22	0.080	0.083	0.080	0.083	0.057	0.002	0.083	0.024	0.054	0.081	0.025	0.024	0.090	0.084	0.084	0.082	0.085	0.081	0.056	0.053	0.034	0.024



Figure 1: Phylogram showing 23 haplotypes (n = 59 samples) from mitochondrial D-Loop region within a populations of *T. splendens* from Tanzania; A = Neighbour-Joining tree, B = Median spanning network: 1-3 = clades: numbers on joining lines = bootstrap values.



Figure 2: Phylogram showing occurrence of various haplotypes from the Mitochondrial D-Loop region across geographical distribution range of *T. splendens* in Tanzania.

Discussion

The populations of Tanzanian East African root rats revealed low sequence differences using Cyt b sequence analysis, although haplotype diversity was relatively high. Although geographically separate (Figure 2) all populations studied to date have revealed small genetic distances suggesting that there is a single species across its geographical range within Tanzania. Given that Tanzania possesses all 12 previously identified species (Musser & Carleton 2005), this molecular study provides strong support for synonymising the 12 Tachyoryctes species into a single species namely *Tachyoryctes splendens*. The suggestion of synonymizing species of East African root rats into a single species is also supported by the low percentage of genetic distance between the Kenyan and Tanzanian populations as the Kenyan root rats reported to be the Tachyoryctes splendens (Jansa et al. 1999). My study did not include any data from the bigheaded root rat, T. macrocephalus so the degree of genetic differentiation between this species and T. splendens remains unknown. My findings lend support to studies involving geometric morphometrics and craniometrics (Missone1974; Corbert & Hill 1991; Beolchini & Corti 2004) but contrast with the systematic diversity of the genus based on classical morphology (Allen 1939; Ellerman 1941) and morphological and geographical characteristics (Musser & Carleton 2005).

The validity of allocating populations into monophyletic group as a result of the level of genetic distance of cyt *b* has been also reported on Tuco tucos (D'Elía *et al.* 1999) African molerats (Van Daele *et al.* 2007; Faulkes *et al.* 2004, 2011), Pocket gophers (DeWalt *et al.* 1993; Sudman *et al.* 2006) and Zokors (Su *et al.* 2013). These studies reported that high genetic distances at cyt *b* sequences reveal cryptic clade/species (Van Daele *et al.* 2007; Faulkes *et al.* 2011). The analyses of cyt *b* sequences and low genetic distances in this study do not support the

contention that the specimens in the populations of *Tachyoryctes* represent more than one species, despite the presence of genetic diversity.

The D-loop sequence analysis revealed some distinct genetic structure among populations (some haplotypes were restricted to particular locations; Figure 1 & 2), but there were also haplotypes shared among the populations across the sampling range with absence of species haplotype within distributional range. Moreover, some of the greatest genetic differences occurred both within and among closely neighbouring populations. The most likely explanation for these patterns is historical processes rather than recent gene flow, although stochastic and sampling effects cannot be ruled out. Although there was haplotype sharing between populations there was no haplotype shared by all populations.

These patterns differ markedly from studies on a member of the family Bathyergidae, that of Silvery mole-rat, *Heliophobius* (also found in Tanzania) which exhibits high variation of cyt *b* haplotypes among populations with deep and ancient divergences between populations (Faulkes *et al.* 2011). In this case study, *Heliophobius* was previously thought to have been represented by a single species, *Heliophobous argenteocinereus*, but recent molecular genetic studies have revealed a number of cryptic species occurring in East Africa (Faulkes *et al.* 2004, 2011). Conversely, the shallow genetic branches on the phylogenetic tree for *Tachyoryctes* suggest a recent divergence but argue against hidden species diversity. Although both genera (i.e. *Tachyoryctes* and *Heliophobius*) are solitary and occupy agricultural areas in Tanzania, their niches do not overlap, even though they occur in one geographical region (Beolchini & Corti 2004; Faulkes *et al.* 2011). For example, *Heliophobius* and *Tachyoryctes* occur in the Kigoma region but the former is restricted at Ujiji district whereas the latter occurs at Kasulu district. The

reason for niche separation between root rats and mole-rats is still not apparent despite them sharing similar ecological characteristics.

The results found from the molecular characteristics of cyt *b* locus within and among populations of *Tachyoryctes* in the present study suggest that *Tachyoryctes* is represented by a single species within Tanzania. The sharing of haplotypes between regions including those that are geographically very distant may suggest the recent genetic radiation within the genus and the retention of ancestral haplotypes across the current species range.

Acknowledgements

This work was sponsored by the University of Dar es Salaam (UDSM-World Bank Fund {C1B1}), Tanzania. We thank the Tanzania Commission for Science and Technology (COSTECH), Tanzania Wildlife Research Institute (TAWIRI: Ministry of Natural Resources and Tourism) and Zoosanitary section (Ministry of livestock and Fisheries) (all in Tanzania) for granting permits to conduct research in Tanzania and to export samples for further analysis at the University of Pretoria in South Africa. NCB acknowledges funding from his South African Department of Science and technology (DST)/National Research Foundation (NRF) SARChI Chair for Mammal Behavioural Ecology and Physiology, University of Pretoria. We are grateful to the University of Pretoria Research and Innovation Department for funding. Queen Mary, University of London is acknowledged for providing laboratory facilities and expertise for the genetic analysis.

References

- ADKINS, R. M., GELKE, E. L., ROWE, D. & HONEYCUTT, R. L. 2001. Molecular phylogeny and divergence time estimates for major rodent groups: evidence from multiple genes. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **18**: 777–791.
- ADKINS, R. M., WALTON, A. H. & HONEYCUTT, R. L. 2003. Higher-level systematics of rodents and divergence time estimates based on two congruent nuclear genes. *Molecular Phylogenetic and Evolution*, **26**: 409–420.
- ALLEN, G. 1939. A checklist of African mammals. *Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology* 83: 1–763.
- BANDELT, J., FORSTER, F. & RÖHL, A. 1999. Median-Joining Networks for inferring intraspecific phylogenies. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **16:** 37–48.
- BASKEVICH, M. I., ORLOV, V. N., BEKELE, A. & MEBRATE A. 1993. Notes on the karyotype of *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rüppell 1835) (Rodentia Rhizomyidae) from Ethiopia. *Tropical Zoology* 6: 81–88.
- BEKELE, A. 1986. The status of some mole-rats of the genus *Tachyoryctes* (Rodentia: Rhizomyidae) based upon craniometric studies. *Revue de Zoologie Africaine* **99:** 411-417.
- BEOLCHINI, F. & CORTI, M. 2004. The taxonomy of the genus *Tachyoryctes:* A geometric morphometric approach. *Italy Journal of Zoology* **71:** 35–43.
- CARLETON, M.D. & MUSSER, G.G. 1984. Muroid rodents. In: Anderson, S., Jones Jr., J.K. (Eds.), *Orders and Families of Recent Mammals of the World*. John Wiley and Sons, New York, pp. 289–379.
- CARLETON, M.D. & MUSSER, G.G., 1989. Systematic studies of Oryzomyine rodents (Muridae, Sigmodontinae): a synopsis of *Microryzomys. Bulletin of American Museum Natural History* **119**: 1–83.
- CONROY, C. J. & COOK, J. A. 2000. Molecular systematics of a holarctic rodent (Microtus: Muridae). *Journal of Mammalogy* **81:** 344–359.
- CORBERT, G. & HILL, J. 1991. A world list of mammalian species. British Museum (Natural History), London.
- DELANY, M.J. 1975. The Rodents of Uganda. Kettering Northamptonshire: The George Press.
- D'ELÍA, G., LESSA, E. P. & COOK, J. A. 1999. Molecular phylogeny of tuco-tucos, genus *Ctenomys* (Rodentia: Octodontidae): evaluation of the mendocinus species group and the evolution of asymmetric sperm. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution* **6**: 19–38.
- D'ERCHIA, A.M., GISSI, C., PESOLE, G., SACCONE, C. & ARNASON, U. 1996. The guinea-pig is not a rodent. *Nature* **381**: 597–599.
- DEWALT, T. S., SUDMAN, P.D., HAFNER, M.S. & DAVIS, S.K. 1993. Phylogenetic relationships of pocket gophers (*Cratogeomys and Pappogeomys*) based on mitochondrial DNA cytochrome *b* sequences. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 2: 193–204.
- DUCROZ, J. F., VOLOBOUEV, V. & GRANJON, L. 1998. A Molecular Perspective on the Systematics and Evolution of the Genus Arvicanthis (Rodentia, Muridae): Inferences from Complete Cytochrome b Gene Sequences. *Molecular phylogenetics and evolution* 10: 104–117.
- ELLERMAN, J.R. 1941. *The Families and Genera of Living Rodents*, vol. II. British Museum (Natural History), London.
- FAULKES, C.G., ABBOTT, D.H., O'BRIEN, H.P., LAU, L., ROY, M., WAYNE, R.K. & BRUFORD, M.W. 1997. Micro- and macro-geographic genetic structure of colonies of naked mole-rats, *Heterocephalus glaber*. *Molecular Ecology* 6: 615–628.

- FAULKES, C.F., BENNETT, N.C., COTTERILL, F.P.D., STANLEY, W., MGODE, G.F. & VERHEYEN, E. 2011. Phylogeography and cryptic diversity of the solitary-dwelling silvery mole-rat, genus *Heliophobius* (family: Bathyergidae). *Journal of Zoology* 285: 324–338.
- FAULKES, C.G., MGODE, G.F., LE COMBER, S.C. & BENNETT, N.C. 2010. Cladogenesis and endemism in Tanzanian mole-rats, genus *Fukomys* (Rodentia: Bathyergidae): a role for tectonics?. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **100**: 337–352.
- FAULKES, C.G., VERHEYEN, E., VERHEYEN, W., JARVIS, J.U.M. & BENNETT, N.C. 2004. Phylogeographic patterns of speciation and genetic divergence in African mole-rats (Family: Bathyergidae). *Molecular Ecology* 13: 613–629.
- HONEYCUTT, R. L. & WILLIAMS, S. L. 1982. Genic differentiation in Pocket gophers of the genus *Pappogeomys*, with comments on intergeneric relationships in the subfamily Geomyinae. *Journal of Mammalogy* 63: 208–217.
- JANSA, S.A., GOODMAN, S.M. & TUCKER, P.K. 1999. Molecular Phylogeny and Biogeography of the Native Rodents of Madagascar (Muridae: Nesomyinae): A Test of the Single-Origin Hypothesis. *Cladistics* 15: 253–270.
- JARVIS, J.U.M. & SALE, J.B. 1971. Burrowing and burrow structure of East African mole-rats *Tachyoryctes*, *Heliophobius* and *Heterocephalus*. *Journal of Zoology* **163**: 451–479.
- KOKISO, A. & BEKELE, A. 2008. Ecology of Common Mole-Rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* and its impacts on farmlands at Angecha, Central Ethiopia. *Acta Zoologica Sinica* **54(1):** 30–35.
- LARIZZA, A., PESOLE, G., REYES, A., SBISÀ, E. & SACCONE, C. 2002. Lineage specificity of the evolutionary dynamics of the mtDNA D-Loop region in rodents. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* **54**:145–155.

- LAWRENCE, M.A. 1991. A fossil Myospalax occiput (Rodentia: Muridae) from Shanxi, China, with observations on zokor relationships. *Bulletin of American Museum Natural History* 206: 261–286.
- LEE, H. K. & BAKER, R. J. 1987. Cladistical analysis of chromosomal evolution in pocket gophers of the Cratogeomys castanops complex (Rodentia: Geomyidae). Texas Technical University Press. USA.
- LESSA, E.P. & COOK, J.A. 1998. The molecular phylogenetics of tuco-tucos (genus *Ctenomys*, Rodentia: Octodontidae) suggests an early burst of speciation. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **9**: 88–99.
- MISONNE, X. 1974. Order Rodentia. In: *The mammals of Africa; An identification manual*, (eds) J. Meester & H. W. H. W. Setzer, pp. 1–39. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.
- MORA, M. S., CUTRERA, A. P., LESSA, E. P., VASSALLO, A. I., D'ANATRO, A. & MAPELLI, F. J. 2013. Phylogeography and population genetic structure of the Talas tucotuco (*Ctenomys talarum*): integrating demographic and habitat histories. *Journal of Mammalogy* 94: 459–476.
- MORA, M. S., LESSA, E. P., CUTRERA, A. P., KITTLEIN, M. J. & VASSALLO, A. I. 2007.
 Phylogeographic structure in the subterranean tuco-tuco, *Ctenomys talarum* (Rodentia: Ctenomyidae): contrasting the demographic consequences of regional and habitat-specific histories. *Molecular Ecology* 16: 3453–3465.
- MULLENBACH, R., LAGODA, P.J.L. & WELTER, C. 1989. An efficient salt-chloroform extraction of DNA from blood and tissues. *Trends in Genetics* **5**: 391–391.

- MUSSER, G. & CARLETON, M. 1993. Family Muridae. In. Mammal Species of the World, (eds) D. E. Wilson & D. M. Reeder, pp. 501–753. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.
- MUSSER, G. & CARLETON, M. 2005. Superfamily Muroidea. Mammal Species of the World; a taxonomic and geographic reference, (eds) D. E. Wilson & D. M. Reeder, pp 894–1531 Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.
- NEVO, E., BEILES, A. & SPRADLING, T. 1999. Molecular evolution of cytochrome b of subterranean mole rats, *Spalax ehrenbergi* superspecies, in Israel. *Journal of molecular evolution*, **49**: 215–226.
- NOWAK, R.M. 1999. *Walker's Mammals of the World*. Vol. 2. Baltimore and London: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- OPAZO, J.C., BUGUEÑO, M.P. CARTER, M.J., PALMA, R.E. & BOZINOVIC, F. 2008. Phylogeography of the subterranean rodent *Spalacopus cyanus* (caviomorpha, octodontidae). *Journal of Mammalogy* 89: 837–844.
- PATTON, J.L. & SMITH, M.F. 1994. Paraphyly, polyphyl and the nature of species boundaries in pocket gophers (genus *Thomomys*). *Systematics and Biology* **43:**11–26.
- REYES, A., NEVO, E. & SACCONE, C. 2003. DNA sequence variation in the mitochondrial control region of subterranean mole rats, *Spalax ehrenbergi* superspecies, in Israel. *Molecular biology and evolution*, **20:** 622–632.
- SMITH, M.F. 1998. Phylogenetic relationships and geographic structure in pocket gophers in the genus *Thomomys*. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **9**:1–14.
- SU, J., JI, W., WANG, J., GLEESON, D. M., ZHOU, J., HUA, L. & WEI, Y. 2013. Phylogenetic relationships of extant zokors (Myospalacinae)(Rodentia, Spalacidae) inferred

from mitochondrial DNA sequences. *Mitochondrial DNA* doi:10.3109/19401736.2013.784747.

- SUDMAN, P.D., WICKLIFFE, J.K., HORNER, P., SMOLEN, M.J., BICKHAM, J.W. & BRADLEY, R.D. 2006. Molecular systematics of pocket gophers of the genus *Geomys*. *Journal of Mammalogy* 87: 668–676.
- TAMURA, K. & KUMAR, S. 2002. Evolutionary distance estimation under heterogeneous substitution pattern among lineages. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **19**:1727–1736.
- TAMURA, K. & NEI, M. 1993. Estimation of the number of nucleotide substitutions in the control region of mitochondrial DNA in humans and chimpanzees. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **10**:512–526.
- TAMURA, K., NEI, M. & KUMAR, S. 2004. Prospects for inferring very large phylogenies by using the neighbor-joining method. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (USA)* **101:**11030–11035.
- TAMURA, K., PETERSON, D., PETERSON, N., STECHER, G., NEI, M. & KUMAR, S. 2011.
 MEGA5: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis using Maximum Likelihood,
 Evolutionary Distance, and Maximum Parsimony Methods. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 28: 2731–2739.
- THALER, L. 1986. Origin and evolution of mice: an appraisal of fossil evidence and morphological traits. In *The Wild Mouse in Immunology* **127**: 3–11.
- VAN DAELE, P. A., VERHEYEN, E., BRUNAIN, M., & ADRIAENS, D. 2007. Cytochrome b sequence analysis reveals differential molecular evolution in African mole-rats of the chromosomally hyperdiverse genus *Fukomys* (Bathyergidae, Rodentia) from the Zambezian region. *Molecular phylogenetics and evolution*, **45**: 142–157.

WLASIUK, G., GARZA, J.C. & LESSA, E. P. 2003. Genetic and geographic differentiation in the Río Negro tuco-tuco (*Ctenomys rionegrensis*): inferring the roles of migration and drift from multiple genetic markers. *Evolution* 57: 913–926.

Chapter 7: Synthesis

The East African root rat, Tachyorytes splendens from Tanzania is a solitary, subterranean rodent that occurs in a reticulated burrow system consisting of foraging tunnels, bolt holes and a multifunctional nest which comprises a sleeping area, food store and latrine, similar to reports in previous studies of T. splendens in Kenya and Ethiopia (Jarvis & Sale, 1971; Hickman, 1983; Kokiso & Bekele, 2008). In addition to the common burrow plan, this study revealed variation of fractal dimension with seasons and sexes of the occupants, whereas wet season showed greater fractal dimension and females' possess greater fractal dimension in both the wet and dry seasons. The preference to construct closed burrows system and place food resources in a food store in T. splendens is similar to bathyergids (Bennett & Faulkes, 2000) suggesting that the species has convergent habitat and dietary preferences with other herbivorous subterranean rodents. Although the root rat inhabits a closed burrow system of a similar common plan to that of Asian spalacids, T. splendens has a different burrow architecture from that of bathyergids, ctenomyids and geomyids (Šumbera et al., 2003, 2004; Cutrera et al., 2006; Thomas et al., 2012) in that T. splendens has a multi-functional nest chamber encompassing a sleeping area, food store and latrine whereas bathyergids and geomyids possess distinct latrine chamber.

Tachyoryctes splendens excavates more burrows during the wet season than the dry season due to friable soils and abundant food sources. The female *T. splendens* exhibit higher burrow excavation with greater fractal dimension across all seasons. In most other solitary subterranean rodents, males are reported to have burrow systems with greater fractal dimension as a result of a mate searching strategy prior to onset of reproductive activity. The presence of invertebrates and abandoned nests has also reported in the burrows of other rodent moles, including other spalacids and bathyergids (Šumbera *et al.*, 2003; Thomas *et al.*, 2009) suggesting

evolutionary convergence. Despite the fact that, *T. splendens*, *Fukomys* sp. and *Heliophobius* sp. occupy similar niches in Tanzania, there is no niche overlap reported.

Sexual dimorphism is found in T. splendens with males having a larger body size than females. The sexual dimorphism was revealed from analyses of measurements of the cranium and body mass of distinct age classes as determined by tooth wear and eruption patterns (relative age class 1-5). The analyses, however, revealed that nature of sexual dimorphism was attributed by size rather than shape divergence. Sexual dimorphism was prominent from age class 2 indicating that growth rates vary between the sexes from a very young stage (relative age class 2) and becomes more announced in adults. The larger size of males suggests they invest their energy in growth to attain large body size which has potential reproductive and ecological roles. The smaller size of females despite their greater foraging effort reflects that larger-body size is less important for reproductive competition among females. The ontogenetic variation and sizesexual dimorphism of T. splendens suggests that the species is polygynous and thus similar to other solitary subterranean rodents, as this mating system is characterized by larger-sized males that reflect reproductive competence for ecological potential (Schutle-Hostedde et al., 2001; Schutle-Hostedde, 2007). Unlike other subterranean rodents, Tachyoryctes splendens showed sexual dimorphism at a young age class, whereas most subterranean rodent species reported to be sexual dimorphic from sub-adult stage which is a transitional age group to adulthood (Chimimba et al., 2010). Further study on growth traits with relation to absolute age classes in a controlled environment is recommended to establish sex-specific growth curves which may provide further explanation of observed ontogenetic variation and sexual dimorphism.

Tachyoryctes splendens is a seasonal breeder having two breeding cycles per year that co-localise with the rainfall peaks. The greater number of pregnancies and higher concentration

of steroid hormones, maturation of gonadal cells indicates that high reproductive activity commences near the onset of wet seasons. The increased births at the latter end of wet seasons suggest that young are born when food is abundant following vegetative growth. The increased reproductive activity during the wet season supports the previous reports (Rensburg *et al.*, 2002) that reproductive activity is more pronounced when there is abundant food resources that enable enough energy to be available to overcome the reproductive costs such as courtship display, gestation and care of pup(s). However, in most solitary male subterranean rodents there is increased a courtship display, with males T. splendens using cues such as seismic signaling to communicate to females. The onset of reproduction during the wet season can be corralted with the role of increased burrow extension of T. splendens during wet seasons. However, some pregnancies and births were observed during onset of the dry season, possibly as a result of constraint of mate acquisition in subterranean niche. The extended reproduction activities (i.e. pregnancies and births) during the dry seasons may explain the higher fractal dimension observed in females burrows in both the dry and wet seasons to ensure energy acquisition for maintenance of burrow which can accommodate reproducing females and pup(s) for space and provisioning.

The reproductive seasonality is reported in most solitary subterranean rodents with onset of reproductive activity synchronized with food abundance (Bennett & Jarvis, 1988). The majority of social species, however, are aseasonal breeders given the co-operative care of pups and group foraging which ensures provisioning for breeding and non-breeding individuals with exception of the common mole-rat, (*Cryptomys hottentotus hottentotus*: Spinks *et al.*, 1997) and the highveld mole-rats (*Cryptomys hottentotus Pretoriae*: Rensburg *et al.*, 2002) which show a distinctly seasonal pattern of reproduction. Days between breeding cycles suggested in the

present study (i.e. 166 days apart) are supporting study by Jarvis (1973). An investigation of the pattern of ovulation is recommended to assess if it is a spontaneous of induced ovulator. As this study reported bimodal breeding patterns mirrored by rainfall patterns at the study area, it is highly recommended to investigate if reproduction is one per annum in regions that are characterized by unimodal rainfall pattern such as Kigoma and Kagera.

Activity patterns of captive *T. splendens* demonstrated nocturnal activity which was entrained by light indicating that the species is capable of perceiving light and using it as a zeitgeber to entrain the endogeneous clock. The species continued to express a nocturnal activity pattern during constant darkness of a similar duration and time period as that under the light dark cycle suggesting that the species is adapted to a subterranean habitat where light is limited, although it forage above-ground on some occasions. The locomotory activity of *T. splendens* under various light regimes is similar to reports of other subterranean rodents (Oosthuizen *et al.*, 2003). Further study on captive animals to unravel the activity patterns with respect to sex and ontogenetic variation is recommended to enlighten locomotory pattern preference with sex and age.

Molecular data undertaken on populations of *Tachyoryctes* in the present study suggests that a single species is found across the sampling range. Although the study covered wide range of occurrence of root rats, the small genetic distance of the cyt *b* (cytochrome *b* gene data) marker between the Tanzanian and Kenyan sequences (Jansa *et al.*, 1999) implies that a single species of root rat occurs in Tanzania and Kenya. These results support synominising the proposed 12 species into a single nominal species, *T. splendens* as suggested by previous study of the genus based on traditional (Missone, 1974; Corbert & Hill, 1991) and geometric morphometrics (Beolchini & Corti, 2004). There is, however, a need for further molecular

studies that broaden the sampling area to include a wide range of localities of root rats that may reveal cryptic species. Molecular analyses of the present study also revealed the absence of genetic structure in some, but not all mitochondrial d-loop (control region) haplotypes; several haplotypes were shared among populations across the sampling range. In addition, some of the most divergent haplotypes were found within rather than between geographically isolated populations. These data are best explained by ancestral processes (e.g., the retention of ancestral lineages among more derived lineages), rather than by contemporary patterns of dispersal and gene flow, although stochastic effects due to sampling and other factors cannot be fully ruled out at this stage. Thus the conservation of the species across its distributional range is recommended.

References

- BENNETT, N.C. & FAULKES, C.G. 2000. *African Mole-Rats: Ecology and Eusociality*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- BENNETT, N.C. & JARVIS, J.U. 1988. The social structure and reproductive biology of colonies of the mole-rat, *Cryptomys damarensis* (Rodentia, Bathyergidae). *Journal of Mammalogy* 69: 293–302.
- BEOLCHINI, F. & CORTI, M. 2004. The taxonomy of the genus *Tachyoryctes*: A geometric morphometric approach. *Italian Journal of Zoology (London)* **71**: 35–43.
- CHIMIMBA, C.T., SICHILIMA, A.M., FAULKES, C.G. & BENNETT, N.C. 2010. Ontogenetic variation and craniometric sexual dimorphism in the social giant mole-rat, *Fukomys mechowii* (Rodentia: Bathyergidae), from Zambia. *African Zoology* **45**: 160–176.

- CORBERT, G. & HILL, J. 1991. A world list of mammalian species. British Museum (Natural History), London.
- CUTRERA, A. P., ANTINUCHI, C.D., MORA, M. S. & VASSALLO, A.I. 2006. Home-range and activity patterns of the South American subterranean rodent *Ctenomys talarum*. *Journal of Mammal.* 87: 1183–1191.
- HICKMAN, C.G. 1983. Burrows, surface movement, and swimming of *Tachyoryctes splendens* (Rodentia: Rhizomyidae) during flood conditions in Kenya. *Journal of Zoology (London)*200: 71–82.
- JANSA, S.A., GOODMAN, S.M. & TUCKER, P.K. 1999. Molecular Phylogeny and Biogeography of the native rodents of Madagascar (Muridae: Nesomyinae): A test of the Single-Origin hypothesis. *Cladistics* 15: 253–270.
- JARVIS, J.U.M. 1973. Activity patterns in the mole-rats *Tachyoryctes splendens* and *Heliophobius argenteocinereus*. *Zoologica africana* **8:** 101–119.
- JARVIS, J.U.M. & SALE, J.B. 1971. Burrowing and burrow patterns of East African mole-rats Tachyoryctes, Heliophobius and Heterocephalus. Journal of Zoology (London) 163: 451–479.
- KOKISO, A. & BEKELE, A. 2008. Ecology of Common Mole-Rat, *Tachyoryctes splendens* and its Impacts on farmlands at Angecha, Central Ethiopia. *Acta Zoologica Sinica* **54:** 30–35.
- MISONNE, X. 1974. Order Rodentia. In: *The mammals of Africa; An identification manual*, (eds) J. Meester & H. W. H. W. Setzer, pp. 1-39. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.

- OOSTHUIZEN, M.K., COOPER, H.M. & BENNETT, N.C. 2003. Circadian rhythms of locomotor activity in solitary and social species of African mole-rats (family: Bathyergidae). *Journal of biological rhythms* **18:** 481–490.
- OOSTHUIZEN, M.K., COOPER, H.M. & BENNETT, N.C. 2003. Circadian rhythms of locomotor activity in solitary and social species of African mole-rats (family: Bathyergidae). *Journal of biological rhythms* **18:** 481–490.
- SCHULTE-HOSTEDDE, A.I., 2007. Sexual size dimorphism in rodents. In: Wolff, J. O., Sherman, P.W. (Eds.), Rodent Societies: An Ecological & Evolutionary Perspective. University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London. pp115–128.
- SCHULTE-HOSTEDDE, A.E., MILLAR, J.S. & HICKLING, G.J. 2001. Sexual dimorphism in body composition of small mammals. Canadian Journal of Zoology **79:** 1016–1020.
- SPINKS, A.C, VAN DER HORST, G. & BENNETT, N.C. 1997. Influence of breeding season and reproductive status on male reproductive characteristics in the common mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus hottentotus. J. Reprod. Fert.* **109:** 79–86.
- SUMBERA, R., BURDA, H., CHITAUKALI, W.N. & KUBOVA, J. 2003. Silvery mole-rats (*Heliophobius argenteocinereus*, Bathyergidae) change their burrow architecture seasonally. *Naturwissenschaften* **90:** 370–373.
- ŠUMBERA, R., CHITAUKALI, N.W., ELICHOVÁ, M., KUBOVÁ, J. & BURDA, H. 2004. Microclimatic stability in burrows of an Afrotropical solitary bathyergid rodent, the Silvery mole-rat (*Heliophobius argenteocinereus*). *Journal of Zoology (London)* 263: 409–416.

- THOMAS, H.G., BATEMAN, P.W., LE COMBER, S.C., BENNETT, N.C., ELWOOD, R.W. & SCANTLEBURY, M. 2009. Burrow architecture and digging activity in the Cape dune mole rat. *Journal of Zoology* **279:** 277–284.
- THOMAS, H.G., BATEMAN, P.W., SCANTLEBURY, M. & BENNETT, N.C. 2012. Season but not sex influences burrow length and complexity in the non-sexually dimorphic solitary Cape mole-rat (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). *Journal of Zoology (London)* 288: 214– 221.
- VAN RENSBURG, L.J., BENNETT, N., VAN DER MERWE, M. & SCHOEMAN, A. 2002.
 Seasonal reproduction in the highveld mole-rat, *Cryptomys hottentotus pretoriae* (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 80: 810–820.